
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

A G E N D A

Meeting: Wednesday, 8th July, 2020 at 2.00 pm.

VIRTUAL MEETING - Link to view Live Stream via YouTube 

This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in physical location 
following guidelines set out in Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.

Note: The Council will be live streaming the meeting on to the Barrow Borough Council 
YouTube Chanel and can be watched live via the below link.

The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt 
items.

To view the meeting online click this link

PART ONE 

1.  Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members  

2.  Presentation by Colin Cox, Director of Public Health  

3.  Urgent Items

To note any items which the Chairman considers to be of an urgent 
nature. 

4.  Delegations

To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting.

5.  Admission of Public and Press

To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda.

6.  Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBYFa9sjxuGwCW5BQwu9mlw/live


Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting).

Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.  

7.  Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 3rd June, 2020.

5 - 18

8.  Public Participation

Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting 
should apply to do so by no later than 5pm two working days before 
the meeting. Information on how to make the application can be 
obtained by viewing the Council’s website www.barrowbc.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Democratic Services Manager at 
(jwhuck@barrowvc.gov.uk) or by telephone on (07825206525).

(1) Questions and Representations
To receive any questions or representations which have been 
received from members of the public

(2) Deputations and Petitions
To receive any deputations or petitions which have been 
received from members of the public.

9.  Terms of Reference

To note the revised Terms of Reference for the Executive Committee.

19 - 22

FOR DECISION 

(D) 10.  Growing Forward - Our Response to Coronavirus 
 

23 - 42

(D) 11.  COVID-19 Discretionary Business Support Grants 
 

43 - 54

(D) 12.  COVID 19 Hardship Fund 2020-2021 
 

55 - 62

(D) 13.  Catering & Cleaning Contract Forum & Dock Museum 63 - 68

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/
mailto:jwhuck@barrowvc.gov.uk


 
(D) 14.  Planning Performance Agreements 

 
69 - 72

(D) 15.  Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy Review 
 

73 - 160

(D) 16.  Right of Succession Policy Review 
 

161 - 190

NOTE (D) – Delegated
(R) – For Referral to Council

Membership of Committee

Councillors Barlow
Biggins
Blezard
Brook (Chairman)
H. Edwards
Hamilton
Maddox
W. McClure
Morgan
Pemberton
L. Roberts (Vice-Chair)
Ronson

For queries regarding this agenda, please contact:
Jon Huck
Democratic Services Manager
Telephone: 07825206525
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk

Published: Tuesday 30th June, 2020



This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Meeting: Wednesday 3rd June, 2020
at 2.00 pm. (Virtual Meeting)

PRESENT:- Councillors Brook (Chairman), Roberts (Vice-Chairman), Barlow, Biggins, 
Blezard, H. Edwards, Hamilton, McClure, McLeavy, Maddox, Morgan and Pemberton.

Officers Present:- Sam Plum (Chief Executive), Sue Roberts (Director of Resources), 
Steph Cordon (Director of People and Place), Debbie Storr (Temporary Senior Legal 
Officer), Janice Sharp (Assistant Director - Housing) (Items 1-7 only), Caroline 
Wagstaff (Operations Manager - Housing) (Items 1-7 only), Sabine Skae (Collections 
& Exhibitions Manager - Dock Museum) (Items 1-7 and the Urgent Item only), Jon 
Huck (Democratic Services Manager and Monitoring Officer), Paula Westwood 
(Democratic Services Officer - Member Support) and Sandra Kemsley (Democratic 
Services Officer).

Also Present:- David Haughian, Programme Manager, Cumbria County Council (Items 
1-8 only).

1 – Attendance of Substitute Member

Councillor McLeavy had attended as a substitute Member.

2 – The Local Government Act, 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act, 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006 – Urgent Item

RESOLVED:- That by reason of the special circumstances outlined below the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the following item of business not specified on the 
agenda should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Item Reason

Heritage Lottery Fund Grant – Shipyard To enable the deadline of 10th June
Town Fund (Minute No. 11) to be met to accept the grant and                  

provide all necessary information.

3 – Admission of the Press and Public

It was noted that the Urgent Item – Heritage Lottery Grant – Shipyard Town Fund 
(Minute No. 109) circulated to Members as a Part Two report would now be a Part 
One item as announcement of grant award had been made public on the morning of 
3rd June, 2020 and was now in the public domain.

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



4 – Declarations of Interest

Councillor Biggins declared an interest in the Urgent Item – Heritage Lottery Fund 
Grant – Shipyard Town Fund (Minute No. 11) as he was an employee at BAE Systems.

5 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 4th March, 2020 were agreed as a correct record.

6 – Housing Management Forum: Recommendations

The recommendations of the Housing Management Forum held on 9th March, 2020 
were submitted for consideration.

N.B. The Minutes are reproduced as Appendix 1 to the Minutes of this meeting.

RESOLVED:- That the recommendations of the Housing Management Forum be 
agreed, as follows:-

Review of Policy Statement: Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour in the Council 
Housing Stock

1. To note the information contained in the report; and

2. To agree to adopt the reviewed Policy Statement. 

7 – Marina Village Remediation

David Haughian, Programme Manager, Cumbria County Council attended the meeting 
and presented the Marina Village Remediation Report.

The report sought approval to progress key work streams on the Marina Village 
remediation project and to note the award of Multi-disciplinary consultancy services to 
Capita Property and Infrastructure Ltd. These work streams included ecological 
surveys and translocation works, erection of security fencing, ground water monitoring, 
site investigation work and other works that facilitate the site redevelopment and 
submission of a planning application

Marina Village was a key housing development site in Barrow-in-Furness. The Council 
sought to secure high quality housing development at what would be an attractive 
waterfront location. 

It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Pemberton, and

RESOLVED:- To unanimously agree:- 

Page 6

Agenda Item 7



1. To note the award of contract for Multi-Disciplinary support services for the 
Marina Village Project to Capita Property and Infrastructure Ltd as detailed within 
the report;

2. To authorise the Director for People and Place, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources and the Chair of Executive Committee, to procure and award 
contracts for the work packages identified under 3.5 of the report to support the 
Marina Village Project, subject to budget availability; and

3. To authorise the Director of People and Place, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources, and Chair of Executive Committee to submit business cases and 
enter into grant funding agreements to support the delivery of the Marina Village 
Project, unless there is a direct financial commitment which would be subject to 
Executive Committee approval.

8 – COVID-19 Council Tax Hardship

The Director of Resources informed the Committee that the Council had received a 
£798,140 new grant funding to support economically vulnerable people and 
households in the Borough.  The expectation was that the majority of the hardship 
fund would be used to provide council tax relief, alongside existing local council tax 
support schemes.  Government expected all recipients of working age local council 
tax support to receive a further reduction in their annual council tax bill of £150 or less 
if the net liability were less.  Cumbria-wide the relief had been doubled to £300.

It was moved by Councillor Barlow and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and

RESOLVED:- To unanimously agree:- 

1. To endorse the £300 award to all recipients of working age local council tax 
support during the financial year 2020-2021, or less if a lower award reduces the 
bill to nil;

2. To note the Council Tax Discretionary Relief Scheme; and

3. To note that the COVID-19 council tax hardship scheme was cash limited.

9 – COVID-19 Financial Management

The Director of Resources informed the Committee that the Council had incurred 
additional costs as a result of COVID-19 and had experienced significant income 
losses.  Government had provided COVID-19 emergency funding of £55,116 in March 
2020 and £659,212 in May 2020.  The emergency funding received so far was 
anticipated to be fully used by June 2020.  All local authorities continued to submit 
financial information to Government on a monthly basis.  A number of financial 
decisions had been taken regarding Leisure Centre Operation, furloughed staff from 
the Leisure Centre, Forum and Dock Museum and procurement.

It was moved by Councillor Barlow and seconded by Councillor Morgan, and

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



RESOLVED:- To unanimously agree:- 

1. To note the emergency funding that had been received from Government and 
that further funding would be sought through the local authority monthly 
submissions;

2. To endorse support for the Leisure Centre and delegate the agreement of a 
management fee to the Chief Executive and Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Executive Committee;

3. To note that The Sport, Leisure and Culture Consultancy had been retained to 
provide support for the management fee project;

4. To endorse the agreement to top-up the basic pay of the specified contractors’ 
staff furloughed from the Leisure Centre, Forum and Dock Museum; and

5. To note the procurement delays which were approved under existing delegation.

10 – CVS People in The Lead

The Director of Resources reminded the Committee that Cumbria CVS (Council for 
Voluntary Service) had been successful in supporting community leaders and funding 
bids in the Borough over a three year period, supported in part by a financial 
contribution from the Council.  CVS had approached the Council to continue the 
project which provided training, support and a lead role in identifying new external 
funding that could be brought into the Borough.  CVS had requested a financial 
contribution of £15,000 over the lifetime of the project; £5,000 per year for three years.

RESOLVED:- To agree to provide £5,000 per year for three years to support the 
Cumbria CVS “People in the Lead” project which levers new external funding into the 
Borough, funded from reserves.

REFERRED ITEMS

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

11 – Heritage Lottery Fund Grant – Shipyard Town Project

The Collections & Exhibitions Manager (Dock Museum) reported that The Dock 
Museum had been successful in a bid for National Lottery Heritage funds (NLHF).  The 
project was entitled Shipyard Town and the Museum had bid successfully for £816,700 
from NLHF.  The total project costs were just under £1 million and match funding was 
in place from BAE Systems, the Sir John Fisher Foundation (and due to be from the 
Furness Maritime Trust).

Page 8

Agenda Item 7



Shipyard Town was a two-year project that would include the creation of a new 
permanent shipbuilding gallery, the building of a research room, an upgrading the 
museum’s entrance and the introduction of a fun family-friendly “Squeeze in a Sub” 
learning zone.

A formal letter offering the grant and detailing the conditions of the offer had been 
received on 13th May, 2020. There was a timescale of 28 days from the date of the 
Permission to Start letter from the National Lottery Heritage Fund for acceptance of 
the Shipyard Town grant and conditions of grant.  The deadline was 10th June to 
accept the grant and provide all necessary information to them which was why this 
report was brought as an urgent item to this Committee to enable the deadline to be 
met. An extension had been sought to enable full Council decision on 16th June, 2020.

RESOLVED: - To unanimously agree to recommend the Council:-

1. To agree that the grant of £816,700 from NLHF be accepted having regard to the 
conditions of grant and grant offer letter at Appendix 1 of the report, and 
delegated authority be given to the Director of People and Place to accept the 
grant on behalf of the Council; 

2. To agree that the Director of People and Place, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources, be authorised to enter into an agreement with NLHF for them to 
provide the funding grant in respect of the Shipyard Town project;

3. To agree that the Council commits £25,000 to the project for future management 
and maintenance costs; this is programmed as £10,000 from recurring revenue 
and £15,000 set aside in the major projects reserve;

4. To agree that the Director of People and Place, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources be authorised to procure and appoint the necessary resources 
required to implement and deliver the project within the approved budget and 
council procedures; and

5. To agree that in order to meet the requirements in Appendix 2 (2) of the report, 
within 28 days of the date of Permission to Start, an application be made to the 
Land Registry for a restriction to be entered as detailed in paragraph 7.2.2 of the 
report. 

The meeting closed at 3.39 pm.

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING MANAGEMENT FORUM

Meeting: Monday 9th March, 2020
at 2.00 p.m. (Committee Room No. 4)

PRESENT:- Councillors Hamilton (Chairman), Blezard, Burley, Gawne, W. McClure, 
and McEwan.

Tenant Representative:- Mrs M. Anderson.

Officers Present:- Janice Sharp (Assistant Director - Housing) and Paula Westwood 
(Democratic Services Officer - Member Support). 

38 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Brook and Robson and 
from Tenant Representative Allan McIntosh.

39 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 16th January, 2020 were taken as read and 
confirmed.

40 – Review of Policy Statement: Tackling Anti-Social Behaviour in the Council 
        Housing Stock

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted a report providing Members with 
information on the review of the Housing Service Policy Statement – Tackling Anti-
Social Behaviour in the Council Housing Stock.  She advised that tackling anti-social 
behaviour was a key priority for the Council and its customers.  As a responsible 
landlord, the Council recognised the impact on customers and communities if left 
unchallenged.  The Policy Statement was reviewed every three years.

It was widely accepted that failing to tackle anti-social behaviour and nuisance 
promptly had the potential to undermine not just physical regeneration of areas, but 
community cohesion.  Residents do not wish to live in an area of crime, graffiti, 
environmental damage (fly-tipping) or noise nuisance.  It was therefore in both 
parties’ interest that complaints are dealt with speedily and that a seamless service is 
provided to Residents who have historically complained about their case being 
referred to a variety of agencies with no real ownership of the case.

It had been noted that the Council had adopted a victim-centered approach to 
tackling anti-social behaviour and would assess the harm and risk to those suffering 
from such behaviour.  Notwithstanding that, customers were expected to take 
responsibility for minor personal disputes with their neighbours, where there were no 
known vulnerabilities; the Council would provide information and advice to customers 
in those circumstances.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



The Council is committed to creating better lives for the people of the Borough.  The 
Housing Service aims to achieve that with the vision and values ‘To focus on our 
Community and provide excellent service for all our customers and colleagues’.

A copy of the revised Policy Statement had been appended to the report.  The Policy 
Statement puts Residents at the heart of all that the Council does, being transparent 
about where it stands on anti-social behaviour and what it would do to tackle such 
behaviour.

RECOMMENDED:- (i) To note the information; and

(ii) To agree to adopt the reviewed Policy Statement.

41 – Performance Information Report

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted information relating to the Housing 
Performance Indicators for 2019/2020 in comparison with previous years.  The 
information is attached at Appendix 1 to these Minutes.  

RESOLVED:- To note the information.

42 – Planned Investment and Planned Maintenance Expenditure 2019/20

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted information relating to the Planned 
Investment and Planned Maintenance Programme for 2019/2020.  The information is 
attached at Appendix 2 to these Minutes.

RESOLVED:-  To note the information.

The meeting closed at 2:19 p.m.

Page 12

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



HOUSING PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

Arrears & Collection- Dwellings (exc. Dispersed) Actual 
2017/18

Apr-Mar 
2018/19

Apr-June       
2019/20

Apr-Sept 
2019/20

Apr-Dec 
2019/20

Apr-Mar 
2019/20

£ Rent & Service Charges due (Excluding empty properties) £10,913,680 £10,638,866 £2,654,947 £5,542,007 £8,210,045  

£ Rent loss due to empty dwellings (voids)   £47,424 £91,651 £120,517  

£ Current Arrears £473,551 £477,382 £526,760 £521,512 £570,848.68  

£ Former Arrears £300,205 £279,954 £306,171 £336,599 £363,162.42  

£ Write Offs (Gross) £71,297 £142,675 £0 £0 £0  

No. tenants evicted for rent arrears 19 14 2 5 6  

Universal Credit       

Total arrears for UC claimants Unable to provide until Quarter 2 £232,224 £295,696  

Total number of UC claimants    398 441  

Number of UC claimants in arrears    363 415  

Average account balance for UC Claimants    626.29 DB £670.51 DB  

Arrears & Collection - Other Properties       

£ Rent arrears Dispersed  (Homeless) £2,586 £2,381 £2,091 £3,887 £1,781.06  

£ Rent arrears Garages £7,789 £3,860 £5,686 £5,097.17 £6,516.18  

£ Rent Arrears Shops £6,337 £3,565 £8,099 £3,852 £6,243.13  

£ rent loss due to empty Garages  £1,536 £340 £766 £967  

£ rent loss due to empty Shops  £0 £0 £0 £0  

Voids & Lettings (General Needs)       

Total Dwellings 2579 2557 2555 2551 2546  

Total number of re-lets 255 207 60 132 185  

%  of re-lets accepted on first offer 63.1% 57.4% 58.3% 64.8% 60.7%  

Number of re-lets that underwent Major Works 84 73 19 42 53  

Average re-let time in days (all re-lets) 54 61 65 62 60  

Number of units vacant and available for letting at period end 7 5 9 awaiting info awaiting info  

Number of units vacant but unavailable for letting at period end 28 43 38 awaiting info awaiting info  

No.Tenancies terminated 189 223 55 117 168  

Dwelling void at end of reporting period  48 46 35 30  

Tenancy Turnover % 7.3% 8.7% 2.2% 4.6% 6.6%  

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 2



Major Works & Cyclical Maintenance Actual 
2017/18

Apr-Mar 
2018/19

Apr-June       
2019/20

Apr-Sept 
2019/20

Apr-Dec 
2019/20

Apr-Mar 
2019/20

Percentage of dwellings with  a gas safety certificate renewed by 
anniversary  100% 100% 100% 100%  

Percentage of homes that fail to meet the Decent Homes Standard   0% 0% 0%  

Homelessness FROM APRIL 2018       

Average days in temporary (dispersed) accommodation 58.8 61 61 50 61  

Average days in B&B accommodation 5.81 6.6 18 14 11  

Number of triage assessments 528 137 300 412  

Number of Homeless Prevention cases opened 146 29 67 82  

Number of Homeless Relief cases opened 142 45 108 147  

Number that failed to attend appointments 73 27 55 73  

Number of Successful Prevention cases 95 26 58 83  

Number of Successful Relief cases 77 40 88 128  

Number cases closed without successful outcome 34 20 29 41  

Number of decisions made that main housing duty is not owed 16 4 7 10  

Number owed the main housing duty (final duty)

Unable to 
provide 

until 
2018/19

6 0 0 2  

Employees       

Average permanent employee headcount 43 50 49 49   

Number of leavers 9 6 2 2 5  

Ave. working days lost / sickness absence 11.3 14.1 21.3 19 19  

Customer Complaints       

The number of Stage 1 complaints upheld in the year 3 5 1 1 1  

Direct Debit Payers       

Total number of direct debit payers (includes full and partial)    949 1029  

Water Charge Collection       

Number of rent agreements where a water support tariff or help to pay 
scheme is in place 552 801 875 891 897  

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 2



Housing Register Actual 
2017/18

Apr-Mar 
2018/19

Apr-June       
2019/20

Apr-Sept 
2019/20

Apr-Dec 
2019/20

Apr-Mar 
2019/20

Cumbria Choice Register- Total number of applications that are Active or 
Under Review Active for the period shown 1127 1419 1430 1365 1340  

Cumbria Choice Register- Total number of new applications submitted in 
the period shown 865 835 165 335 608  

Housing Stock       

Houses 1205 1188 1185 1180 1175  

Flats 1218 1213 1214 1215 1215  

Bungalows 156 156 156 156 156  

General Needs Dwellings 2579 2557 2555 2551 2546  

Dispersed 13 17 18 17 16  

Homeless (Cold Weather Provision) 0 0 0 0 0  

New Lives Project 2 2 0 0 0  

Adelphi Court 12 12 12 12 12  

Total Dwelling Stock 2606 2588 2585 2580 2574  

Community Centres 5 4 4 4 4  

Leaseholds 215 219 219 219 220  

Garages 504 504 504 504 504  

Shops 19 19 19 19 19  

TOTAL PROPERTIES 3349 3334 3331 3326 3321  

RTB & Land Values       

£ Houses £779,460 £741,265 £164,980 £394,580 £603,350  

£ Flats £47,700 £88,000 £0 £0 £22,500  

£ Bungalows £0 £0 £0 £0 £0  

£ Land £0 £0 £0 £0 £0  

TOTAL £827,160 £829,265 £164,980 £394,580 £625,850  

Sold 2018/19 Sold YTD

17 13

4 1

0 0

0 0

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SCHEME

PROCUREMENT 

TYPE

AVAILABLE 

BUDGET

EXPENDITUR

E TO DATE

ESTIMATED                 

START DATE

ESTIMATED 

COMPLETION 

DATE CONTRACTOR

Leasholders 

affected?

GREENGATE ESTATE RE-ROOFING 

WORKS

Procure Plus 

Holdings £900,000  £       156,347 
1.4.2019 31.3.2020 DLP Roofing           No

WINDOW & DOOR REPLACEMENTS                           

VARIOUS HOUSING AREAS

Procure Plus 

Holdings £500,000  £       503,582 
1.4.2019 31.3.2020

RICHMOND 

JOINERY
No

WALNEY RENDER & DAMP 

PROOFING WORKS

Procure Plus 

Holdings £320,000  £       136,629 
1.4.2019 31.3.2020 DLP Roofing           Yes

LOWER HINDPOOL RE-ROOFING 

WORKS (HOUSES)

Procure Plus 

Holdings £217,500  £                -   
1.9.2019 31.3.2020 DLP Roofing           No

LOWER HINDPOOL RE-ROOFING 

WORKS (FLATS)

Procure Plus 

Holdings £208,000  £       137,231 
1.4.2019 31.3.2020 DLP Roofing           Yes

COMMUNAL ENTRANCE LIGHTING
Procure Plus 

Holdings £40,000  £         14,411 1.11.2019 31.3.2020 K WILSON Yes

COMMUNAL ENTRANCE PAINTING 
Procure Plus 

Holdings £10,000  £                -   1.1.2020 31.3.2020
GEORGE 

JONES
Yes

EWAN CLOSE REPLACEMENT 

DOORS
Procure Plus 

Holdings £96,000  £                -   1.10.2019 31.3.2020 SSS GROUP Yes

REWIRES
Procure Plus 

Holdings £306,000  £       285,548 1.4.2019 31.3.2020 K WILSON No

HEATING 
Procure Plus 

Holdings £420,000  £       436,702 1.4.2019 31.3.2020 AFM GAS Ltd No

PAINTING
Procure Plus 

Holdings £180,000  £         90,662 17.8.2019 31.3.2020 G JONES Yes

HOUSING MAINTENANCE COMMITMENTS 2019-20

EXPENDITUR

E TO DATE

Weekly 

Available

Tenant Demand Repairs 817,422£    23,872£       

Voids 664,616£    10,365£       

Gas Servicing 247,318£    5,992£         

Decoration Vouchers 16,078£      577£            

Environmental Impmts 21,286£      96£              

Disabled Adaptations 127,338£    1,923£         

Electrical Testing 69,693£      1,558£         

Door Entry Maintenance 29,465£      481£            Gas - Building/Replacement

 

Funding Available 

Gross Comm. as a % funds 

available

311,572£                               

86%

127%

426%

123%

1,241,357£                            

538,997£                               

66%

118%

81,000£                                 

100,000£                               

79%

54%

25,000£                                 

30,000£                                 

5,000£                                   

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Terms of Reference

Executive Committee

Membership Terms of Reference Delegation of Functions

12 members of 
the authority

 To formulate, co-ordinate and implement 
corporate policies and strategies and 
make decisions relating to such matters 
to the extent that they are not reserved to 
full Council

 To recommend to Council amendments 
to the Policy Framework and policies and 
strategies therein

 To oversee policy implementation and 
consider reports relating to performance 
of services under the remit of the 
committee

 To consult on, recommend and monitor 
the Annual budgets.

 To consider and approve the 
Discretionary Income Policy.

 To take any necessary decisions 
regarding the delivery of Council services 
and the discharge of Council functions, 
within the agreed policy and budgetary 
framework set by the Council, including:-
o The formation of partnerships and 

agencies
o Award of contracts in excess of 

£100,000 (which includes any 
extension periods)

o To authorise the acquisition or 
disposal of any land, property and 
other assets held by the Council 
with a value in excess of £20K 
providing that any proposal for the 
transfer of housing land which 
requires the consent of the 
Secretary of State shall be 
referred to full Council with 
recommendations.

See Delegations to Officers 
as set out in Part 3(2) of the 
Constitution

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



o Agreement of leases in excess of 25 
years

 To take into account any relevant 
findings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and to refer relevant matters 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

 To approve recommendations regarding 
Clearance Areas/Compulsory Purchase 
Orders and renewal areas provided 
within budget provision.

 To establish a Housing Management 
Forum to advise on all matters pertaining 
to the management of Council housing 
and to operate under the following 
protocol:-
o The Executive Committee shall 

agree any such recommendations 
or refer back for further 
consideration

o On any resubmission, the 
decision of the Executive 
Committee will be final.

 To establish standing and ad-hoc forums 
to consider and make recommendations 
on significant policy issues.  Such forums 
which shall operate as working parties to 
be politically proportionate and to involve 
lay members where considered 
appropriate.

 To make interim and Final Management 
Orders under Part 4 of Chapter 1 of the 
Housing Act 2004.

 To make Closing Orders and Demolition 
Orders under Part 1 Chapter 4 of the 
Housing Act 2004.

 To agree to act as Accountable Body 
where the project is between £50,000 
and £500,000 and satisfies the 
requirements of the Financial 
Regulations. Where the project exceeds 
£500,000 to make recommendations to 
full Council on any accountable body 
proposal.

Page 20

Agenda Item 9



 To appoint representatives to outside 
bodies for those appointments 
delegated through the AGM

 To approve recommendations regarding 
changes to the establishment and 
fundamental changes to Conditions of 
Service of employees of the Council 
which are outside policy/budget where 
not delegated to Officers and where 
within 1% of net revenue budget.  Any 
changes over this limit to be 
recommended to full Council.

 To consider appeals in accordance with 
approved HR policies and procedures

 To deal with the discharge of duties 
under the Officer Employment Procedure 
Rules

Delegated to Appeals Panel 
of 4 Members drawn from 
the Committee 

Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules - Panel of 4 
Members dawn from the 
Committee

Where dealing with 
disciplinary action relating to 
a relevant officer that panel 
to include 2 independent 
Members as prescribed

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
8 July 2020

Growing Forward 
Barrow Borough Council response to Coronavirus

 
Report from:  Chief Executive

Report Author: Chief Executive

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1      This report sets out the initial impact and Council response to the Coronavirus Covid 

19 pandemic.  It goes on to outline how the Council will work with our residents, 
partners and businesses to take the Borough forward to achieve our vision of being 
a great place to live, work and visit. As a compassionate Council are committed to 
putting our residents at the centre of all we do.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1It is recommended that Executive Committee:- 

1. Record its thanks for all the front line and support service staff that have 
continued to provide vital services across the borough;

2.     Records its thanks for the work of organisations, staff and volunteers 
across the Borough, including voluntary and community groups, who have 
enabled a strong coordinated response and ensured vulnerable residents 
receive the support they need;

3.     Notes the significant work undertaken to continue to provide essential 
services throughout the Coronavirus emergency 

4.     Notes the work undertaken to support our people, our place and our 
prosperity during the emergency

5.     Notes the proposed focus of our Council Plan Priorities in the next twelve 
months to respond to the ongoing social and economic impact of 
coronavirus, alongside the environmental impact of the climate emergency

6.     Review the governance arrangements to ensure the Council Grows 
Forward in a way that tackles inequalities and puts our residents at the 
heart of all we do.

7.     Note that additional resources will be needed to fully deliver some 
elements of our Plan.

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



2

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 Responding to the immediate emergency:

The response to Covid-19 is being co-ordinated on a county wide basis by the 
Cumbria Local Resilience Forum (CLRF). The CLRF is a statutory body set up under 
the Civil Contingencies Act and comprises Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government, Emergency Services, Local Authorities, NHS, Public Health, 
Utility Providers and other agencies. Teleconference meetings are held multiple 
times a week between all agencies at strategic and tactical levels. Strategic 
meetings were initially chaired by the Director of Public Health. A Major Incident was 
declared in Cumbria on 4th March and the Police took over the Chair.  The Military 
were also deployed to support the national emergency.

As we move towards recovery, governance and coordination transfers to the 
Strategic Recovery Coordinating Group chaired by Cumbria County Council Chief 
Executive Officer and the Health Protection Board under the Director of Public 
Health. Sub groups consider the impact on relevant sectors such as economic, 
education, business continuity, death management, community resilience, 
homelessness  and the care system.

3.1.1. Our Council:
As lockdown measures were introduced across the country, the Council adjusted to 
significant disruption to staffing levels across a range of services.  Our Business 
Continuity plans were implemented to ensure that essential services continued to 
be delivered to our residents.  A number of measures were quickly introduced to 
ensure the safety of staff, Members and customers, whilst maintaining service 
delivery:

 Venues closed to public access;
 Customer services delivered by telephone and email/online;
 Town Hall office hours temporarily extended to 7am to 7pm;
 Working from home introduced and rolled out for essential workers;
 Zoom video conferencing rolled out;
 New temporary responsibilities taken on by staff to deliver COVID-19 grant 

programmes;
 Temporary roles such as volunteering and customer support taken on by staff;
 Help and support around health and wellbeing increased;
 Shift-working offered to minimise the number of staff in offices together, and;
 Sanitisation and social distancing established within the Town Hall and other 

Council offices such as the cemetery.

Throughout lockdown the Council’s support services and Revenues and Benefits 
Service have continued to operate from the Council’s premises and have been 
balancing the pressures of business as usual with the delivery of the Government’s 
COVID-19 support measures – business grants, reliefs and hardship

Whilst the initial response was implemented, further measures were developed and 
have been introduced:
 Virtual public meetings have been introduced (see paragraph below);

Page 24

Agenda Item 10



3

 Working from home introduced for non-essential workers;
 Teleworking introduced to increase telephone customer services capacity;
 Guidance produced for Managers as staff working arrangements are non-

standard;
 Full review of social distancing in operational buildings, and
 Flexible/agile working offered to maximise service delivery and performance. 

Throughout this period, increased communications through press releases and our 
own social media channels and website ensured we kept our residents and 
businesses as up to date as we could with both local and national decisions, 
changes and advice.

Legislation has been implemented to enable local authorities to operate their 
decision making remotely and virtual public meetings have been introduced.  The 
Council has enabled this by using Zoom.  The proper officer will give the requisite 
notice to the public of the time of meetings, and agendas, together with the details 
of how to access the meeting, or join if they are a participant.  Members are notified 
of a remote meeting by email and all agenda papers are made available on the 
authority’s website and via the agenda software. Meetings are streamed on 
YouTube to support increased democratic engagement.

3.1.2 Our People:

Our teams have adapted their delivery during lockdown to support our more 
vulnerable residents

Community Response and Resilience:
As part of the county-wide Community Local Resilience Forum structure the 
Borough Council co-chairs the Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum (BCLRF) 
where a diverse mix of organisations from the public, third, community and faith 
sectors came together to plan and direct the local support structures for those 
shielding or self-isolating at the start of lockdown.  As part of this structure a number 
of these organisations established food and medication delivery services in the 
wards that they operated from, including the establishment of a Borough-wide 
support helpline set up by two third sector organisations.  After two weeks of 
operation the third sector organisations running the support line asked the Borough 
Council to take over the management of it, which a group of redeployed council staff 
did successfully.

Whilst the public sector and community were building support structures locally, the 
County Council established a county-wide helpline to deliver central government’s 
support for those either shielding or at high risk.  This helpline was dedicated to the 
most vulnerable cohort who were unable to leave their houses for 12 weeks and 
was delivered from the County Council call centre in Carlisle, with all Barrow 
Borough residents referred into a “virtual hub” co-ordinated by the County Council’s 
Area Team.  After a few weeks the local helpline and its Borough Council team were 
merged with the county-wide helpline creating a more co-ordinated approach to 
assisting residents who needed food, medication or other support from local service 
providers.

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



4

To further refine the support structure the BCLRF have established a more 
formalised structure for delivering the support, identifying and assigning food 
distribution points for all Council wards, with named leads to ensure there is equality 
of access for residents and a more equitable share of resource across the Borough.  
The BCLRF co-ordinated a collaborative bid to the Cumbria Community Foundation 
Covid-19 fund which provided over £75,000 to support the organisations that are 
providing a wide range of support to residents from May to July 2020.

Recovery Centre:
In early April Furness Academy was identified as the preferred location for use as a 
‘step down centre’ to maintain intensive care bed capacity at Furness General 
Hospital. Patients who were recovering from Covid-19 but not yet well enough to 
return to the community would be transferred from FGH to the step down centre.  

The design, construction, assembly and furnishings to transform Furness Academy 
into an NHS facility with 89 patient compartments, a patient break out area, staff 
facilities and independent power generation was completed in just over two weeks 
thanks to a huge collaborative effort and close partnership working between NHS, 
Furness Academy, BAE and Barrow BC. 

The centre remained ready for use throughout the initial spike in cases and, 
fortunately, was not required. The same partners dismantled the facility at the end 
of May and it was put into storage in a Barrow BC facility where it remains ready to 
be reassembled if required for a second spike.

Excess Deaths
In preparation for the reasonable worst case scenario in excess deaths the 
crematorium increased capacity by 50% and worked closely with the NHS, 
Registrar, Coroner and local undertakers to monitor potential impacts. Staff from 
other departments were trained as cremator operatives and administrators in order 
to safeguard business continuity and provide the best possible service in incredibly 
difficult times.

3.1.3 Our Place:

Our teams responsible for delivering the Council’s Place related services have 
adapted their delivery during the lockdown.

Public Protection Services and Waste Management:
 The service has focused on ensuring that essential services to keep the public safe 

and protected have continued.  Various licensing processes have been moved to 
online and this has worked successfully.  

 Food Hygiene inspections regulations have meant that inspections have not taken 
place due to Covid 19.  New alternative methods of enforcement are being 
developed nationally by the Food Standards Agency which will ensure a focus on 
the higher risk premises to the public which are those whose scores are less than 
three

Page 26

Agenda Item 10



5

 Covid-secure business enforcement is an additional remit of the commercial team 
and they are likely to be responsible for policing the new social distancing measures 
within licenced premises.

 Members of  team have been authorised under the Coronavirus business restriction 
regulations and have engaged with those businesses required to close.   One 
prohibition notice has been issued with other businesses listening to the advice and 
being compliant.  

 There has been a 40% increase in noise and nuisance complaints however 75% of 
complaints were responded to within 3 days and 94% within 10 days.

 Environmental Health Officer’s have been called to lead local outbreak control 
teams. This work has now started in earnest, since schools returned a few weeks 
ago.

 Fly tipping has increased 200% during the first 3 months of lockdown, due to more 
people being at home, suspension of bulky collections, Household Waste Recycling 
Centre has been closed and more proactive reporting by the Streetcare team.

 In response to increased fly tipping, additional waste collection was undertaken by 
our contractor. This resulted in an estimated additional 126 tonnes of refuse 
removed from our streets which significantly reduced the risk of arson.

 The waste collection and street cleansing contract was originally rationalised by 
suspending green waste and special collections due to members of our contractor 
team self isolating at the start of the lockdown.  The suspensions were put in place 
to protect the residual and recycling waste collections which have continued without 
major disruption, throughout the pandemic.  All services are operating as they were 
pre-Covid.

Homelessness:
 The Homeless Team adapted their service to respond to the immediate crisis 

during the pandemic. We have accommodated 20 households in temporary 
accommodation during this period

 We have assisted 17 homeless households directly into secure accommodation 
negating the need to provide emergency accommodation 

 We have introduced a weekly ‘welfare check’ on all our clients in temporary 
accommodation to ensure they are well and are able to access appropriate 
services should they need them

 The Lead Senior Advice officer has been attending ‘virtual’ MBCCG South 
Cumbria Homeless Health and Wellbeing Group which was formed in response 
to the MCHLG’s directive to ensure all homeless households were assisted in a 
co-ordinated approach, this has included considerations around immediate 
COVID-19 illness, GP registration, Dental Health, Eye Care, etc. 

 Links with Health monthly Multi Disciplinary Team meetings to discuss 
vulnerable clients, clients in temporary accommodation to ensure ‘wrap round 
care’ and support is in place.

Ensuring the provision of emergency accommodation, in particular the access to 
hotel and B & B to increase bed spaces to deal with the extra demand due to the 
Governments directive to ensure rough sleepers or imminent homeless households 
were accommodated.  This was considered and contingency plans were put in place 
with the retention of bed spaces in a local hotel (which was usually used by 
contractors) compliant with COVID-19 regulations

Page 27

Agenda Item 10



6

Access to Private Rented accommodation.  We were able to implement an 
agreement with some of our private sector landlords that the Council would cover 
move in costs for homeless households as soon as access to finance was available.

To ensure contact could be made with households in temporary accommodation a 
quantity of mobile phones were purchased and given to families.
 
Housing Maintenance:
Our Mobile Caretaking Unit have adapted the service to respond to immediate crisis 
during the pandemic carrying out the following tasks:
 Assisting with the set up of the ‘recovery centre’ at the Academy
 Setting up emergency temporary accommodation to meet demand of vulnerable 

homelessness clients at short notice
 Delivering food boxes to clients in temporary accommodation
 Collecting and delivering furniture to set up emergency accommodation and 

support move on of families into secure accommodation.
 Moving vulnerable families during lockdown while removal companies were 

closed 
 Estate tidies across the borough to ensure our estates remain green clean 

attractive neighbourhoods for residents

Gas servicing has also had challenges with access to properties due to residents 
shielding or self isolating.  We have had a dedicated Officer liaising with residents 
and our contractor over the phone to ensure we are meeting our legal responsibility 
whilst adhering to health and safety measures and challenges due to Covid 19.

Our Allocations Team have been homeworking through Covid-19 but also coming 
into the office to ensure new tenants can sign up safely for properties.  The service 
has had to adapt the ways of working for example, we have arranged for customers 
to have ‘virtual property viewings’ rather than having accompanied viewings at the 
property.  

The Dock Museum and Forum

Both council run venues closed in March 2020 to the public until we are allowed to 
re-open. Staff at both venues have undertaken essential repairs and maintenance.  
They have also shown incredible commitment and have been re-deployed into other 
essential services to keep them running effectively.  This has ranged from training 
to be a cremation operative; helping out at the community hubs and setting up the 
recovery centre at Furness Academy.  

One Forum theatre technician said “I don’t care where I go I just want to help”.  This 
sums up how our staff responded brilliantly and why we are so proud of them.

Parks &Gardens/Life Leisure:
Barrow Park has been kept open 24 hours a day, seven days a week to allow 
residents to get their daily exercise to support a healthy lifestyle.  Similarly grounds 

Page 28

Agenda Item 10



7

maintenance, grass cutting and general maintenance of green areas across the 
Borough carried on as normal, in order to provide clean and safe areas to exercise.

In Barrow Park, just before lockdown a series of eye catching new things were 
installed.  These included a bug hotel, mud man sculpture and a redesigned wildlife 
area with spider and wasp sculptures in the trees.  These have proved to be a really 
popular attraction and people using the park for their daily exercise have 
commented on how much they enjoy them.  

Life Leisure staff have provided free online workouts to keep people active during 
lockdown.

All play areas and skate parks were closed during lockdown to reduce the risk of 
infection.  Staff are now preparing to open these areas as lockdown measures 
continue to ease.

Building Control 
We have continued to provide an essential service to ensure that dangerous 
structures could be made safe for the public.  Their normal service was adapted to 
ensure Covid 19 safe working practices were followed.  

Planning Development Management 
Dealing with planning applications and enforcement continued at a slightly reduced 
level.  Its performance was impacted by a range of factors including lower levels of 
staffing and Covid 19 restrictions on site inspections and placing of site notices.  The 
service is now back at business as usual.  

3.1.4 Our Prosperity:

In order to protect our businesses and residents from the potentially devastating 
economic impact of the virus, a number of COVID-19 financial support measures 
have been delegated by Government to local authorities. These are:
 Expanded Retail Discount - Business Rate Relief
 Small Business Grants
 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants
 Discretionary Business Grants
 Hardship Fund:

o Council Tax Relief
o Local Welfare Support

Over 420 businesses have had their business rate bills reduced to zero by the 
expanded retail discount with a total value of £9.4m for 2020-2021.

Once all the Business Grants are awarded, over 1,000 organisations will have 
benefitted with a total value just under £11m.  A further £0.7m will have been 
distributed to small businesses outside the scope of the £11m grants fund.

Council tax relief has been awarded to over 830 households so far and the hardship 
fund is open to applications until the 31 March 2021.  Support to communities 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



8

through local welfare support is planned to commence in August 2020 and will run 
until March 2021.  The Hardship Fund totals £0.8m.

The Council has also offered different instalment plans for council tax payments and 
continues to offer discretionary housing payments.  Welfare support providers within 
the Borough are aware of the support that is available to residents.

Through funded urban regeneration programmes, the Council owns properties that 
generate a significant rental income which supports the General Fund revenue 
budget.  These properties are primarily office accommodation and industrial units 
which have a low void rate and a low turnover of tenants.  In order to support these 
businesses through the COVID-19 lockdown period, the Council has agreed to 
consider rent deferrals (rent holidays) with payments caught up within a reasonable 
timeframe. Our indoor Market Hall was closed to the public, but traders that offered 
essential services were able to access their stalls to enable them to fulfil deliveries 
and online orders.  At the request of traders in the meat hall, we piloted a social 
distancing model which supported them to open this area up to the public.  The 
market staff like the Forum and the Dock Museum have done some essential repairs 
and maintenance, plus some great cosmetic tidying up to the appearance of the 
market to attract more shoppers and traders.  

The Council has some significant contracts for services interrupted by COVID-19.  
In accordance with the Government’s procurement policy notes, the Council has 
arrangements in place to ensure service continuity during and after COVID-19.

Throughout the pandemic the Council has continued to work with a range of partners 
including the private sector, Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership, Local Resilience 
Forum Business and Economic Recovery Group, the Barrow BID and the Chamber 
of Commerce to support our businesses and help them prepare for reopening.

We have also continued to work with a range of partners and the wider community 
to develop our Future High Street bid and Town Deal to ensure additional funding 
is secured to help to transform our town and borough.

3.2 Growing forward:
In many ways Coronavirus has had a devastating impact on our Borough.  Whilst 
we have a better understanding of why, it is still the case that infection levels were 
high here, and over 60 of our residents have sadly lost their lives.  We cannot forget 
this, and we need to understand it further so that we can protect our residents from 
future risk.

We know many families and businesses have been impacted by the lockdown, and 
some will take a long time to recover, if at all.  The full impact on our residents and 
our economy will not be known for some time and we will need to act now to mitigate 
against the worst affects.

Despite all this, the response by many individuals, neighbours, community groups, 
organisations and businesses has been phenomenal.  The pride and love 
demonstrated by so many people to look out for neighbours, communities and local 

Page 30

Agenda Item 10



9

businesses has been humbling.  Many people have gone above and beyond.  Many 
businesses have demonstrated huge entrepreneurial and community spirit.  

We already knew that our Borough had its challenges as well as its strengths.  This 
worldwide pandemic has shone a spotlight on both.  As we look towards a brighter 
future for our Borough we know we need to continue to build on the strengths we 
have demonstrated over the past 4 months.  We need to harness the 
neighbourliness that has led people to support each other in new ways, we need to 
provide opportunities to get outside for fresh, clean air and exercise that benefits 
our health and well being, we need to look after our more vulnerable families, 
children and older residents in new and different ways, we need to support our local 
businesses and help them to grow and thrive in the months ahead.  Above all we 
need to provide as many opportunities as possible for all of our people to flourish 
and live happy, healthy lives with access to good work which enables them to have 
a good life.

Much of this will be achieved through delivering our Council Plan, which was agreed 
in January.  We may want to refocus and reprioritise in light of recent events.  We 
have a once in a generation opportunity to use the current crisis to our advantage 
by really focusing on what is important to us, and making sure we put all our 
collective effort into our vision of making our Borough a great place to live, work and 
visit. As a compassionate Council we are committed to put our residents at the heart 
of all we do.

3.2.1 Our Council: 

Prior to COVID-19 a planned review of the Council as an organisation was in 
development following the successful commencement of the values and behaviours 
framework engagement programme.

There are aspects of the organisation to review, consider and develop against a 
backdrop of statutory duties, non-statutory service provision and customer 
expectations.

The Council’s resources are limited and the Council has a duty to set a balanced 
budget whilst fulfilling statutory duties and desiring to provide non-statutory services 
to its residents, businesses and visitors.

An organisational development plan is being assessed with support from the Local 
Government Association that will create a realistic and prioritised programme of 
work that will address a number of desired changes.  This work will include the 
completion of the values and behaviours rollout, the organisational structure, 
options for permanent flexible and agile working arrangements, resilient and modern 
IT and systems, service planning and performance management, customer 
focussed services and an improved customer journey including customer feedback.

Internal communication needs to be strengthened prior to the commencement of 
any organisational change – this is paramount to success.

Page 31

Agenda Item 10



10

The programme will be planned realistically and have clear objectives so that 
achievement and effectiveness can be measured.  The temporary measures 
implemented due to COVID-19 will be reviewed and incorporated as a permanent 
feature of the Council’s framework where appropriate.  The resources required to 
deliver the programme will be assessed during its development.

As an organisation the Council must deliver the agreed Council Plan and coordinate 
resources to achieve those strategic goals, deliver its statutory duties, and perform 
operationally through Service Plans.

3.2.2 Our People:

The reaction to the immediate emergency highlighted how responsive the Borough’s 
community and third sector are, their ability to respond and support residents who 
suffer long standing vulnerabilities was both impressive and vital.  The success of 
the BCLRF co-ordinated response structure was based on different organisations 
serving different geographic, demographic or sectoral (mental health, self-harm, 
carer-support, addiction-support) areas.  This has proven that community, third 
sector and public-sector support is deep rooted and established within our 
Borough’s community, and that it has helped residents survive the immediate 
emergency. As secondary impacts of the outbreak begin to manifest, there will be a 
need to refocus planning on newly vulnerable residents who are not in existing 
groups. BCLRF partners have experience of both identifying and supporting this 
new demand.  Whilst doing so, there will be a need to sustain support to the 
aforementioned “traditional” vulnerable groups, supporting the community groups 
and third sector organisations that serve them, in what is likely to be a hugely 
challenging financial environment for the public, private, community and voluntary 
sectors.
In planning growing forward as a community it is vital to view the challenges with a 
reference to the impacts of the Covid-19 outbreak, which are being collected and 
analysed through the county LRF Multi-Agency Information Cell’s working group, 
and merge them with the priorities in the Council Plan, establishing a recovery and 
rebuilding plan that serves the Borough’s residents and visitors, to continue to move 
through the ongoing emergency and into recovery.

More of our residents living well for longer:
The outbreak has brought into sharp focus that the pre-Covid-19 “normal” was 
failing too many of our residents and health and financial inequalities have put large 
numbers of our residents at greater risk of either the virus itself or the secondary 
impacts of lockdown and economic downturn.  Therefore it is important to:
 Reset the Health and Wellbeing Partnership, establishing an action plan to 

identify ways in which health inequalities can be tackled effectively and 
collaboratively;

 Utilise the LRF Health Protection Board and local outbreak control system to 
inform our health and wellbeing priorities whilst being reactive to any local 
outbreaks within the Borough, supporting residents and communities in their 
resilience;

 Establish a process, such as a  Poverty Truth Commission, to identify and 
remediate financial inequalities with particular reference to the existing 

Page 32

Agenda Item 10



11

vulnerable residents and the potential for a large cohort of newly vulnerable 
residents, due to secondary impacts of the outbreak.

More of our residents are making healthy lifestyle choices
A number of positive impacts of the lockdown have been:
 Renewed and increased interest in daily outdoor exercise and a reconnect with 

Barrow’s beautiful places. 
 An improvement in air quality due to reduced vehicle journeys.
 A new and renewed interest in and demand for good quality, affordable, local 

food.
It is vital to link health and financial inequality with resident’s access to healthy 
lifestyle choices.  As part of the Growing Forward planning there are numerous 
opportunities to improve our residents’ access to active travel, our incredible outdoor 
environment and public spaces.  This also fits well with our recently agreed Climate 
Emergency Policy and Plan.  Both will encourage less reliance on private vehicles 
which both supports our net zero carbon ambition and has a positive impact on air 
quality, which in itself increases population health.  

Our communities are strong, confident and actively engaged in shaping their future
Whilst the community response to the emergency has been both effective and 
impressive, there are significant challenges, predominantly from Covid-19 
secondary impacts, to maintaining the deep community links that have been 
fostered during the national crisis.  In order to do this there is a genuine local 
commitment across public, third and community sector leadership to reset the 
relationships to ensure more effective partnership planning and delivery, with true 
and effective community ownership of decision making, commissioning and service 
delivery.  
Through the partnerships that have been cemented during the emergency response 
there has been a collective recognition that all organisations must be empowered 
to make decisions that are in the best interests of local residents and communities 
without being held back by sectoral silos.  
We will work with and through the BCLRF to develop and agree a set of shared 
values and behaviours and a shared vision and priorities.  This will ensure 
community-led decision making that uses shared data and intelligence to focus 
collective resources on the best course of actions to enable our residents to thrive.  

People will feel safe where they live
The pandemic has led to many people feeling far from safe.  This has led to 
increases in the need for a range of services including mental health, safeguarding, 
domestic abuse and support for our most vulnerable residents.  Tensions have 
sometimes run high, with increases in anti social behaviour, fly tipping, littering, and 
arson all on the increase.  Events internationally, nationally and locally have spilled 
over into demonstrations, protests and crime.
We need to ensure our residents are as safe as they can be, and work with them 
and partners to build back trust and cohesion within and between communities and 
agencies.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 10



12

We will work with the South Cumbria Community Safety Partnership to develop and 
plan to address these issues.  We will also look to increase our internal resource to 
support community safety activity.
We are also aware of increased concerns around safeguarding and ensuring our 
children, young people and vulnerable adults are supported and protected.  We 
know that many of our children received free school meals and that holiday hunger 
is an issue for some families.  Anecdotal evidence suggests that this could be 
exacerbated by the social and economic impacts of Covid-19.  
We will aim to work through the BCLRF with partners, schools and families to 
develop a support programme for children and families over the summer.  
We will continue to work with partners and families through the autumn and winter 
to identify and address future hardship issues

3.2.3 Our Place:
 Our Council Plan is ambitious in its vision for Barrow as a place that protects what 
our residents value and deserve.  This includes our green spaces, amazing natural 
environment and coastline, growing heritage, arts and cultural offer and ensuring a 
decent housing offer for existing and new residents.  
The impact of Covid 19 has strengthened our resolve and sharpened our focus in 
the following ways under each of our key objectives:  
Our Borough has a diverse housing offer, where everyone can expect a decent 
home they can afford to live in:

 Develop and implement a Housing strategy for Barrow that will:
 Refresh our housing needs assessment in the Local Plan and bring 

forward housing sites with affordable housing elements and attract more 
people to stay and live in Barrow

 Give us a strong evidence base for funding to enable some of our more 
difficult housing sites to be developed

 Develop housing market renewal areas and improve the standard of our 
private sector housing stock  

 

 To continue to provide a Housing First wrap around service for vulnerable people 
provided with temporary or alternative accommodation during Covid 19 that we 
might not have supported to enable them to move into more permanent 
accommodation and access appropriate services.  We want to go the extra mile 
to enable people to stay in housing and effect that change with our partners with 
the person at the heart of what we do  

Our neighbourhoods are clean, welcoming and attractive

More people than ever have been using our green spaces for outdoor exercise and 
pleasure.  We want to ensure that we maintain our high standard of grounds 
maintenance and deliver colourful floral displays, but also look to provide more 
opportunities for wildflowers and pollinators.

Page 34

Agenda Item 10



13

 We want to do more engagement and education and enforcement work to stop 
dog fouling, littering and flytipping. 

 We will also be working with our contractor to make sure that they keep our 
streets clean to our required standards, empty the litter bins on time and ensure 
flytipping is removed.  We will produce an enforcement strategy for the council 
that will cover engagement, education and enforcement.  Our priorities will be to 
work with communities and businesses to implement this to maintain pride in 
Barrow as a place people want to live, work and invest.  

 
Our environment is enhanced, protected and celebrated:

 We will review our Climate Change Action Plan in light of Covid 19 and its impact 
on people’s behaviour.  We will pro-actively look for funding to deliver initiatives 
like Low Carbon Barrow which will enable us to install electric vehicle charging 
points in carparks; make our buildings more energy efficient.  

 We will work with our waste collection contractor to encourage residents to 
recycle as much as we can to increase our recycling rates.  

 We will celebrate and promote our amazing natural assets so that everyone 
knows about them and can enjoy them.  

A thriving leisure, culture and sport offer

Through the Town Deal project we are planning to improve our leisure and cultural 
offer through the development of community-led events co-ordinated and assisted 
by Borough Council officers.  Focussing on our geographical and community assets, 
coupled with a celebration of industrial heritage, we plan to use leisure and culture 
to not only provide residents and visitors with entertainment and fun, but also to 
build community wealth, with pride in our area and history.

We will work with the Forum, Dock Museum and Life leisure to provide new 
experiences for our residents and visitors including a revised café offer in the Forum, 
exercise classes in Barrow Park and gearing up to deliver the National Lottery 
funded Shipyard Town project. 

Vibrant town centres where people want to visit:

There has been a real team effort to get our town centres back up and running 
following lockdown.  A huge amount has been down to welcome people back. We 
have worked with traders, the BID, County Council, BAE, Police and community 
organisations to prepare our town centres and ensure they are as safe and 
welcoming as possible.

Using the opportunity afforded by a “fresh start” for our town centre retail areas on 
reopening there will be a thorough and holistic review of the street-scene and town 
centre offer.  Working with Barrow BID we will look at how we can improve the 
cleanliness and aesthetics of our town centres and encourage the growth of “café 

Page 35

Agenda Item 10



14

culture” that both satisfies relevant legislation but also provides business 
development opportunity and a more vibrant atmosphere within our retail areas.

We will continue to work on our Future High Street and Town Deal bids which will 
provide a range of projects which will help to repurpose our town centre and give 
people other reasons to spend time, and money here.  This is set to transform how 
people view and use our town centre.

3.2.4 Our Prosperity

There is no doubt that the outbreak and lockdown will have a detrimental effect upon 
our Borough’s prosperity and economy.  However, it is currently difficult to predict 
the degree, nature and timing of the damage due to:
 Uncertainty over national government job retention and employee financial 

support schemes;
 The longer-term effect on manufacturing and retail industries which are only just 

being re-opened;
 The longer-term effect on the leisure and hospitality industries which are yet to 

re-open;
 The degree of protection the larger organisations that dominate the Borough’s 

employment landscape will provide;
 The degree of damage done to the supply chains of the aforementioned large 

organisations will suffer;
 The possibility of local or national lockdowns due to a second spike of Covid-19.

As part of the Multi-Agency Information Cell, established as part of the LRF 
response, impacts are being collated and analysed, including information on the 
local labour market.  The last briefing (15th June) shows:
 According to the standard claimant count there were 14,570 claimants of Job 

Seekers Allowance or Universal Credit (out of work and required to seek work) 
on 14th May, giving a rate of 4.9% of the working age population in Cumbria. 
This compares to 6.4% nationally. The claimant count has risen by 2,030 since 
April and by 7,660 since Feb (prior to COID-19) – these are increases of 16% 
and 110% respectively;

 The Borough’s figures for the standard claimant count there were 2,100 
claimants of Job Seekers Allowance or Universal Credit (out of work and 
required to seek work) on 14th May, giving a rate of 5.1% of the working age 
population in the Borough;

 Of the 2,100 claimants 1,345 were male and 755 were female;
 25 % of the claimants were in the age range 18-24.

Our Borough will have a strategic role within Cumbria and as part of the Lancaster 
and South Cumbria City Region

We will continue to work with Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership, County Council 
and others to monitor economic impact and labour market changes to enable us to 
react and support local businesses and residents as more information emerges.

Page 36

Agenda Item 10



15

The Council has recently agreed to form a Joint Committee with South Lakeland 
District Council and Lancaster City Council.  This will enable us to further develop 
our wok to promote the Bay area as a functioning economic area.

The Borough will have a strong and diverse local economy:

Our work through #BrilliantBarrow, the Town Deal and Future High Street will all 
support a strong and diverse economy.  A key theme of our Town Deal is inclusive 
growth and community wealth building.  We have a shared responsibility to lever 
good growth outcomes in our Borough and ensure all of our residents have the 
opportunity to flourish and reach their full potential.  The role of our anchor 
institutions in supporting and creating community wealth and contributing to a 
prosperous and fair Borough will be explored and development further. 

Many of the projects in the Town Deal will encourage new and different private and 
social enterprise to contribute to a local economic system which is strong and more 
sustainable, with a focus on social and environmental enterprise and sector 
development.

Our brand new Waterfront Gateway Managed Business Centre is a prime example 
of a council owned building which we can effectively utilise respond to Covid 19 for 
a local economic system and support those local people who have either lost their 
job or business through Covid 19 to start up a new enterprise in a welcoming 
environment.  

Barrow is a well-connected Borough with improved road, port, rail and digital 
infrastructure:

Coronavirus has demonstrated the need for good quality, high speed, affordable 
and accessible broadband.  We will build this need into our Investment Plan for the 
Borough.

Active travel (cycling and walking) need to become much more prominent in our 
highways planning and we will work with County Council to achieve this.  Where 
temporary cycling routes have been established we will work with local people and 
user groups to ensure we make these as accessible as possible.

Cumbria County Council recently submitted an expression of interest to make 
Barrow and electric bus town.  Regardless of the success of this bid we will continue 
to work with them and other partners to promote good quality public transport.

Our residents have the skills, aspirations and opportunities to fulfil their potential:

Our Investment Plan and town deal bid will significantly impact on our residents’ 
ability to flourish and thrive.  All of the projects will contribute to this in some way 
and it is fundamental to our Council Plan. The work outlined below and the proposed 
governance arrangements will ensure this is central to everything we do if we really 
are going to put our residents at the heart of all we do.

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



16

3.3 Making it happen

We know that we will need to continue to respond to coronavirus and its longer term 
impacts on our society and economy in the coming months and years.  We want to 
ensure that our Borough grows forward in a way that enables it to thrive, socially, 
environmentally and economically. We are proposing a refocus on the way that we 
work, as a Council, with our residents and our partners.  The diagram below is a 
visual representation of how this will work.

It is based on our agreed desire to put our residents at the heart of all we do.  It 
builds on the clear need to reimagine the way services are delivered in order to 
tackle deeply engrained inequalities and poverty.  It recognises that no organisation 
can do this alone and that we need a new collaborative coalition of all sectors to 
really make a difference. It recognises that we need to listen more to our residents 
and help them to reach their full potential, not fix their problems with standard one 
size fits all service responses.  It argues for a radically different way to tackle the 
deep seated challenges that face some of our residents and set in train a new way 
of working with our residents to help them to flourish and thrive.  

The neighbourliness that has sprung up on every street, and the way individuals, 
organisations and businesses have supported each other has been overwhelming.  
We need to build on the great work that has been done to support our residents and 
businesses whilst absolutely focusing on the need to address inequalities.

The newly formed Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum (BCLRF) has 
demonstrated very quickly what can be achieved when we forget about 
organisational boundaries and work collectively for Barrow. A small officer led 
steering group of the BCLRF has been developing this approach further to learn 
from what has been achieved and develop how this could be sustained.  The 
steering group have been using the loose banner of Love Barrow Together.  This 
group is developing a shared vision and a set of principles for how we want to work 
with our residents differently from now on.  

A number of external partners including Lankelly Chase, Cumbria Community 
Foundation, Hilary Cottam and Cormac Russell are supporting the work of this 
group.  The BCLRF can act as advocate and bridge between our residents and the 
formal partnerships that will need to work with us to affect the system change we 
know we need.  

The formal partnerships will enable us to work with individual organisations from the 
public, private and third sector.  We will work with these organisations through 
shared values and behaviours; visions and priorities to design a different way of 
working which enables people to realise their aspirations and potential, drawing in 
support from services they need, when they need them.

Page 38

Agenda Item 10



17

The four formal partnership identified are at different stages of development.  We 
will continue to work through the summer months to develop and support these 
partnerships and ensure the governance arrangements at a Borough and County 
level are clear.  Each will have clear priorities and action plans and consistent 
membership, reporting and monitoring arrangements.  

The Borough Council will have a key role to play in all of this.  Councillors will have 
an individual role as ward representatives, ensuring the views and voices of the 
residents they represent are heard.  The wider BCLRF and the formal partnerships 
will have clear Member involvement recognised through their Terms of Reference.  
Regular Member briefings will ensure all Councillors contribute and influence 
prioritisation and implementation of Council Plan delivery.  The Executive 
Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have a clear role in 
monitoring performance and holding the system to account to ensure transparency 
and accountability.

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



18

Key next steps include:

Actions Timescales
Develop a new Organisational Development plan for the 
Council to ensure it is fit for purpose to deliver our vision and 
plans

Sept 2020

Produce an annual delivery plan for our Council Plan to ensure 
the priorities identified in this report are programmed in and 
delivered

Sept 2020

Submit our bids for Future High Street and Town Deal July 2020
Formalise the long term focus, vision and objectives of the 
Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum and Love Barrow 
Together steering group to ensure our residents are central to 
our work. 

Aug 2020

Continue to establish and support the four formal partnerships 
needed to deliver service change and redesign

Oct 2020

Design the process needed to create system change Dec 2020
Develop our approach to community wealth building and good 
work

Feb 2021

4.0 Consultation 
There has been ongoing consultation with partners from the public, third and 
business sectors to develop the Council Plan, respond to the Coronavirus 
emergency and shape our plans for Growing Forward.  Specific stakeholder 
engagement and communications plans were agreed as part of the Town Deal and 
Future High Street bids

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 The Council could focus on statutory service delivery instead of a broader 

community leadership role.

The Council could choose to return to our operating model pre coronavirus

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 This report demonstrates how the Council will focus particular attention on priorities 

in the Council Plan in order to respond to the ongoing impact of Coronavirus.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 As part of the organisational development highlighted through the Governance 

Review and Peer Review, the Council is working with the Local Government 
Association to establish a plan and programme approach to deliver organisational 
change; the Council also continues working with Brathay to embed the values and 
behaviours framework.  This organisational work is being funded from the 
transformation reserve, plus officers’ time to support and implement the plan.

Page 40

Agenda Item 10



19

7.1.2 The process design for the effective operation of the Barrow Community Local 
Resilience Forum and the reshaping of the public and private sector relationships 
and responses requires specialist support and in particular a community focus and 
relevant best practice.  This support will be provided by socio-economic specialist 
Hilary Cottam and will be funded from the transformation reserve during 2020-2021. 
Additional support is being sought through the Big Lottery and Lankelly Chase.

7.1.3 The majority of the (Barrow Borough and South Lakes) Community Safety 
Partnership resource is funded by the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria.  
In order to achieve the level of resource that the Council believes is required for the 
Borough and the issues that are prevalent, the Council will fund additional hours 
through internal reallocation or through additional budget provision which will be 
funded from reserves in 2020-2021 and included in the 2021-2022 budget setting 
exercise.

Legal 
7.1.3 There are no legal implications to raise in this report.  The Coronavirus Act 2020 is 

the government’s main legislative change in response to the pandemic. Most of its 
provisions came into effect on 25 March 2020 but detailed further legislation in the 
form of statutory instruments and government guidance have been issued since that 
date and continue to be published. The Act has temporarily modified some local 
authority duties and powers. Other changes to existing legislation and statutory 
guidance continue to be monitored by the legal service.

Equality and Diversity 
7.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  Yes– the primary purpose of this 

report is to develop a renewed focus on our Council Plan in light of the Coronavirus 
pandemic.  The aim is to ensure that the Council does all it can, with it’s partners, 
to tackle inequalities for all residents and achieve it’s vision of a Borough that is a 
great place to live, work and visit for all.

Risk

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Barrow Community Local 
Resilience Hub is not 
effective.

The community is 
disconnected from the 
support and resources 
available.

 Specialist support.
 Clear roles and 

responsibilities.
 Clear reporting.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Community safety concerns 
are not addressed.

Residents do not feel 
safe.

Secure adequate 
resource.

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The operational changes 
introduced from COVID-19 are 
not sustainable.

 Service delivery 
capacity is reduced.

 Service quality is 
reduced.

Review temporary 
operational changes and 
incorporate retained 
measures into core 
policies.

Page 41

Agenda Item 10



20

 Resources are 
wasted.

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The organisational changes 
that will benefit the Council 
are not implemented.

 The organisation 
cannot adapt to 
change efficiently.

 The organisation 
cannot progress 
effectively.

 Resources may be 
wasted.

 Specialist support.
 Review of key 

policies.
 Organisational 

development plan.
 Programmed actions.

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Growing Forward is not 
adequately resourced or 
measured.

 The benefits 
identified are not 
achieved.

 Without project 
management style 
controls progress is 
not evidenced or 
visible.

 The framework for 
any future emergency 
type response is 
absent.

 Project management.
 Clear roles and 

responsibilities.
 Performance 

management.
 Risk management.
 Clear reporting

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council Plan and 
Priorities cannot be delivered.

The benefits of the 
Council Plan are lost.

 Performance 
management.

 Risk management.
Risk Consequence Controls required
The public, private and third 
sector system does not 
change the way it works

Inequalities continue  Specialist support
 Partner commitment 

to new ways of 
working

 Shared vision, values 
and behaviour

Contact Officers 
Sam Plum sjplum@barrowbc.gov.uk

Page 42

Agenda Item 10

mailto:sjplum@barrowbc.gov.uk


PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
8 July 2020

COVID-19 Discretionary Business Support Grants

 
Report from:  Director of Resources

Report Author: Director of Resources

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 At the beginning of May, the government announced that it would provide local 

authorities with additional funding to target small businesses with ongoing fixed 
property-related costs but that are not eligible for the current grant schemes.  
This is not a new cash award; it allows the authority to access £693,250 of the 
original Business Support Grant funding.

1.2 Government have set national criteria and priorities, and local authorities are 
able to further prioritise awards once the national criteria and priorities are 
funded.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:- 

1. Note the COVID-19 Discretionary Business Support Grant Scheme; and
2. Note that the COVID-19 Business Support Grant Schemes are cash 

limited.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 The Government has announced that it is providing local authorities with 

additional funding to target small businesses with ongoing fixed property-related 
costs but that are not eligible for the original grant schemes.

3.2 The funding for this scheme comes from the original business support grant 
allocation.

3.3 The Council was allocated £16.812m based upon an annual data submission for 
business rates.  This dataset includes properties that are used in a personal 
capacity and properties that are outside the scope of the original grant schemes, 
such as offices and car parks.

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



3.3 The Small Business Grants Fund and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants 
Fund schemes remain open at present.  The total number of eligible 
organisations is currently estimated to be 1,035 which in monetary terms is 
£10.855m of grant.  The over-allocation of £5.187m is repayable to Government 
and will be net of this discretionary fund.

3.4 The over-allocation, net of the discretionary fund, is not available for the Council 
to make use of.  The discretionary fund is cash-limited and a notification of the 
£693,250 available has been received from Government.

3.5 The COVID-19 Discretionary Business Grants Scheme was opened on the 1 
June, 2020, for a 14 day period.  The applications require assessment and 
determination as the national criteria and any local criteria must be complied with 
before an award can be considered.

3.6 As the cash is limited and there is a priority against which awards are to be 
made, decisions will be made once the assessment and determination is 
complete.

3.7 If there is cash remaining after the first tranche of awards, the scheme will open 
again and local criteria may be revised by the Director of Resources.

3.8 The Director of Resources is delegated in respect of Business Rates; dealing 
with all matters relating to the agency arrangements, including billing, collecting 
and the award of discretionary relief.

4.0 Consultation 
There was consultation between the local authorities in Cumbria when 
considering a single scheme.  It is not a single scheme but has the same 
fundamental principles.  The business mix is different between districts and 
therefore a second opening of the scheme will serve different business sectors in 
each authority.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 The national criteria and priorities determine the scope of the scheme in broad 

terms and no alternatives were considered.  Local criteria may be introduced if 
there is a second opening of the scheme.

5.2 Awards will be tiered as the alternative would be to award the same amount to all 
which doesn’t reflect the differing costs and turnover which the national criteria 
has regard to.

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 Supporting the local economy and securing prosperity for the future are key 

priorities within the Council Plan.

Page 44

Agenda Item 11



7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 The COVID-19 Discretionary Business Support Grants funding is cash limited at 

£693,250.  The process is application based and will be closed when funds are 
depleted.

7.1.2 The assessment and determination is being managed by existing staff; this is an 
involved and technical role performed by a small team to ensure consistency.  

7.1.3 There are formal reporting requirements that the Council must comply with that 
are an extension of the original scheme weekly reporting.

7.1.4 There are new assurance/additional requirements from Government for all grant 
schemes that the Council must comply with.

Legal 
7.1.2 Billing authorities have discretionary powers to reduce a non-domestic rates 

liability under s49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

7.1.3 The scheme requires prepayment checks to be verified with and compliance with 
State Aid rules.

Equality and Diversity 
7.2 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the Council is 

implementing a government scheme and all applications will be considered on 
their merits.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Cash limited pot. The application process 

closes.

The grant is not spent.

Monitoring of awards and 
applications.

Grant may be repayable.

Contact Officers 
S M Roberts, directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk

Appendix Attached to this Report
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1. COVID-19 
Discretionary Business 
Support Grant Scheme

COVID-19 Discretionary Business Grants Scheme

Page 45

Agenda Item 11



Background Documents Available
Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

1. COVID-19 business 
support grant funding

1. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-
covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding


 

 
 
 

 
COVID-19 Discretionary Business 

Grants Scheme 
 

(Under S49 – Local Government Finance Act 1988) 
 
 
 
 

Version Control: 

Document Name: COVID-19 Discretionary Business Grants Scheme 

Version: 1 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Director of Resources 

Date Approved: May 2020 

Review Date: March 2022 

Page 47

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Page 1 

1 
Background  
 
1. The government has announced a Discretionary Business Grant Fund to be 

targeted at small businesses that have high fixed property related costs but are 
not eligible for the current Small Business Grant Fund or Expanded Retail 
Discount Grant Fund. 

 
2. Barrow Borough Council has been awarded £693,250 to distribute to eligible 

businesses. The government has set some national criteria which the Council 
must follow in terms of which businesses it can support but has given limited 
discretion to local authorities to determine which businesses to support within 
those criteria.  In determining this scheme, the Council has sought to balance the 
amount of overall money it has received to distribute, with the number of 
businesses it can support.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Council does not 
have the discretion to assist businesses that fall outside the criteria set out below 
under point 3. 

 
National Criteria 
  
3. The government has set the following criteria that a business must meet in order 

to be eligible to apply (not necessarily be granted) for the Discretionary Business 
Grant Fund: 

 
• Must be a Small or Micro businesses, as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the 

Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Companies 
Act 2006 (see points 4 and 5 below) 

• Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs 
• Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in 

income due to the COVID-19 crisis 
• Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value 

below £51,000 (where a rateable value exists this will be the figure used); 
where a rateable value does not exist, annual rent or annual mortgage 
payments will be used as a proxy 

• The business must have been trading on the 11th March 2020 
• The business must not be eligible for or have received a grant from the 

existing grant scheme or other support schemes - please check your eligibility 
prior to applying 

 
4. Under the Companies Act 2006, a Small business must satisfy two or more of 

the following requirements in a year: 
 

• Turnover: Not more than £10.2 million 
• Balance sheet total: Not more than £5.1 million 
• Number of employees: a staff headcount of less than 50. 

 
5. Under the Companies Act 2006, a Micro business must satisfy two or more of the 

following requirements: 
 

• Turnover: Not more than £632,000; 

Page 48

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Page 2 

2 
• Balance sheet total: Not more than £316,000; 
• Number of employees: a staff headcount of not more than 10.  

 
6. The government criteria can be seen in full here: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta
chment_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-local-
government.pdf 

 
Eligibility 
 
7. This grant funding is for businesses that are not eligible for other support 

schemes. Businesses which have received cash grants from any central 
government COVID-related scheme are ineligible for funding from the 
Discretionary Business Grants Fund. Such grant schemes include but are not 
limited to:  

 
• Small Business Grant Fund  
• Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant  
• The Fisheries Response Fund  
• Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS) 
• The Zoos Support Fund  
• The Dairy Hardship Fund.  

 
8. Businesses who have applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme or the 

Self-Employment Income Support Scheme are eligible to apply for this scheme. 
 
9. Companies that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice 

has been made are not eligible for funding under this scheme. 
 
Priority Businesses 
 
10. In addition to the criteria above the government has also asked the Council to 

prioritise the following types of business.   
 

• Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples 
could include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which do 
not have their own business rates assessment;  

• Regular market traders with fixed building costs, such as rent, who do not 
have their own business rates assessment; 

• Bed & Breakfasts which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; (please 
see definition) 

• Charity properties in receipt of charitable rates relief which would otherwise 
have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief, and 
are not eligible for a grant through the Expanded Retail Discount Relief 
scheme. 
 

11. Government has made it clear that this list is not exhaustive but is intended to 
guide local authorities and that the Council has the discretion to issue grants to 
businesses not covered by the above list but that we do not have discretion to 

Page 49

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-local-government.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-local-government.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/885011/local-authority-discretionary-grants-fund-guidance-local-government.pdf


 

Page 3 

3 
help businesses that don’t meet the criteria set out under the national criteria or 
eligibility criteria list. 

 
Guiding Principles 
 
12. It is recognised that each local authority area will have its own specific economic 

make up and that need will be different in each area.   The Council anticipates 
that the demand for the discretionary grants will be greater than the amount of 
money we have received from government and as such it is important that we 
clearly set out the principals that will guide the Council in determining which 
businesses it is able to help and which it will not.  

 
13. The goal is to try and support as many businesses as possible with the money 

received from government while keeping the individual grant amounts high 
enough that they will provide meaningful support to those businesses. 

 
14. It is important to note that this grant scheme is per business not per hereditament 

(property).  Businesses with more than one property will only be eligible for one 
grant.  If a business received a grant under the Small Business Rate Relief or 
Extended Retail Discount Relief scheme for other properties they will not be 
eligible for this grant, as per the government guidelines. 

 
How much is available? 
 
15. The Council has received £693,250 in additional funding from the government to 

facilitate this Discretionary Business Grant Fund scheme. It is the intention of the 
Council to facilitate this scheme within that total amount without additional local 
top up which would be unaffordable for a small District Council. 

 
16. How much a business receives will depend on their specific circumstances with a 

maximum cap of £10,000 for any one business. The main factor considered in 
the determination of the grant payable will be ongoing property related costs and 
the impact of the COVID-19 crisis and the number of employees. 

 
Application process 
 
17. It is not possible for the Council to quantify how many businesses are in our area 

which will potentially meet the criteria set out in the scheme.  The reason for this 
is that the Council does not hold enough data on how many businesses may fall 
into these categories.  Therefore to process applications on a first come first 
served basis may lead to some businesses with greater need missing out on a 
grant because the money allocated by government becomes fully committed.  
The Council believes this is unfair and that it is important that the money is 
allocated on the basis of need not those quickest to make an application. 

 
18. To overcome this issue the Council will launch a 14 day window for businesses 

that think they may be eligible for the grants under this scheme to lodge an 
application with relevant supporting documents.  Once the 14 day window has 
expired the Council will review the applications against the criteria set out above.  
If the number of grants applied for does not exceed the amount of funding 

Page 50

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Page 4 

4 
available then all eligible grants will be paid.  If the number of valid applications 
exceeds the amount of funding available, applications will be determined based 
on need.  The definition of ‘need’ in this case will be businesses with a higher % 
of turnover that is used for property related costs and the businesses with a 
higher % of dropped revenue based on April 2020, compared to April 2019.   

 
19. The businesses defined by government as priority businesses (see point 10) will 

be reviewed first.  
 
20. The Council has created a downloadable form for applications, forms can also be 

requested from Customer Services; forms can be submitted to the Council by 
email or sent in the post.  You will need to provide documentary evidence to 
support your application, so please ensure you have collated relevant 
documentation prior to seeking support from the Council. 

 
21. It will be important that you provide all the information accurately and truthfully, 

and provide all the supporting documents that are requested.  Failure to do so 
could lead to your application being declined or significantly delayed. 

 
22. Once the 14 day application window has closed, the Council will seek to reach a 

decision within 10 working days, payments usually take 3 working days to arrive 
in accounts. 

 
23. If there is additional funding remaining after the first round, the Council will open 

up additional funding rounds.  
 
24. You must answer all of the questions honestly when completing your application, 

if the Council suspects any business is trying to fraudulently claim the grant, it will 
investigate accordingly. Where evidence of fraud is present, we will prosecute the 
offending business. 

 
Appeals Process  
 
25. There is no right to appeal and the decision of the Council is final. 
 
26. The Council’s interpretation of this document is at its own discretion and it will be 

the final arbiter of the definitions contained within this scheme. 
 
27. This scheme is not intended to cover all businesses that have not been included 

in the initial government grant scheme. There are other avenues of support that 
businesses have available through the other government schemes. 

 
State Aid 
 
28. The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the 

Withdrawal Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition 
period, subject to regulation by the EU Commission. The local authority must be 
satisfied that all State aid requirements have been fully met and complied with 
when making grant payments, including, where required, compliance with all 
relevant conditions of the EU State aid De-Minimis Regulation, the EU 

Page 51

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Page 5 

5 
Commission Temporary Framework for State aid measures to support the 
economy in the current COVID-19 outbreak, the approved COVID-19 Temporary 
Framework for UK Authorities, and any relevant reporting requirements to the EU 
Commission.  

  
29. The Council will require each business to confirm that by accepting the grant 

payment, the business confirms that they are eligible for the grant scheme, 
including that any payments accepted will be in compliance with State aid 
requirements.   

 
Tax 
 
30. Grant income received by a business is taxable therefore funding paid under the 

Discretionary Business Grants Fund will be subject to tax.  Only businesses 
which make an overall profit once grant income is included will be subject to tax.  

 
What evidence will I need to provide? 
 
31. The Council is relying on businesses to be honest and open with the Council and 

present to us their evidence of need and eligibility for the Discretionary Business 
Grant Fund. 

 
32. As part of your application you will need to provide the following information.  
 
Information Evidence Required  Comment 

Payment details 

Copy of bank 
statement clearly 
showing bank account 
name, business 
address, sort code 
and account number 
and a utility bill clearly 
showing your 
business address 

This must match the name of the 
business or individual listed on the 
business rates bill or 
lease/mortgage agreement 

Evidence of ongoing 
Rental or Mortgage 
costs or other fixed 
property related costs 

You will need to 
provide a copy of your 
current lease 
agreement or 
mortgage agreement 

This must clearly show the 
financial contribution you are 
required to make as part of the 
agreement 

Evidence you are a 
small or micro 
business 

This will be done by 
way of self-declaration 
on the online 
application form 

Please see points 4 and 5 for 
definitions 

Evidence of a 
significant fall in 
income due to COVID-
19 

You will need to 
provide evidence of 
turnover for April 2019 
and April 2020 for 
comparison 

Where a company was not trading 
in April 2019 we will accept 
another month’s turnover.  It is at 
the businesses discretion what 
form this evidence takes but it 
must clearly show the turnover of 
the businesses for these periods 

Page 52

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Page 6 

6 
Information Evidence Required  Comment 

Evidence of trading on 
11 March 2020 

Where you have a 
business rates 
account this will be 
sufficient as the date 
liable will be used.  
For businesses that 
are not rated you will 
need to provide 
evidence. 

This could be in the form of stock 
orders (pre dating 11 March 2020), 
lease agreements etc. 

Evidence of eligibility 
under State aid rules 

This will be done by 
way of self-declaration 
on the online 
application form  

If you are unsure whether State aid 
applies to your business, you will 
need to seek independent legal 
advice.  

 
Definitions 
  
33. “Relatively high fixed property related costs” – this relates to your mortgage or 

rental cost associated (including bills) with your property.    
 
34. “Significant fall in income” – you must be able to demonstrate the fall in income is 

related to COVID-19, “significant” for the purpose of this scheme will mean a drop 
of 25% or more when comparing turnover for April 2019 to April 2020.  Where 
income has dropped less than 25% but you are able to demonstrate a significant 
increase in costs due to COVID-19, then this will also be considered. 

 
35. “Bed and Breakfast” - you will need to be registered as a food business with the 

Council to be eligible as a Bed and Breakfast.  Airbnb’s that do not serve 
breakfast and not registered with the Council as a food business are specifically 
excluded from this scheme. 

 
Data Protection 
 
36. The Council treats all its information that it holds on file with the upmost care and 

confidentiality. For more on our Privacy Policies and to see how we use and 
share your data, please see here https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/the-council/data-
protection-and-privacy-statement/   

 
Right to Update this Scheme  
 
37. The Council reserves the right to update and change this scheme without 

notification or prior warning in the event that the government updates or changes 
its guidance to us or in the event of an error or omission.  

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy-statement/
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/the-council/data-protection-and-privacy-statement/


This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
8 July 2020

COVID-19 Hardship Fund 2020-2021

 
Report from:  Director of Resources

Report Author: Director of Resources

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 At the meeting of the Executive Committee held on the 3 June, 2020, the 

COVID-19 Hardship Fund was reported as a grant of £798,140 to support 
economically vulnerable people and households in the Borough.  This majority of 
the hardship fund is to be used to provide council tax relief during 2020-2021 and 
may also be used for local welfare support during 2020-2021.

1.2 It is proposed that the local welfare support element of the Hardship Fund is 
delivered through funded facilitated support linked to the work of the Barrow 
Community Local Resilience Forum.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:- 

1. allocate £250,000 of the COVID-19 Hardship Fund for local welfare 
support to be delivered during 2020-2021;

2. delegate authority to the Director of Resources in consultation with a 
working group of 3 Members (politically balanced), drawn from the 
Executive Committee to facilitate local welfare support;

3. agree that the Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum (BCLRF) 
identify the local welfare support needs;

4. agree that the working group meet to consider the summer school 
holidays as a priority; and 

5. note that the Council is committed to the continued operation of the 
community hubs.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 As reported at the Executive Committee held on the 3 June, 2020, the Council 

received £798,140 of grant to be used as the COVID-19 Hardship Fund to 
support economically vulnerable people and households in the Borough.  The 

Page 55

Agenda Item 12



expectation is that the majority of the hardship fund will be used to provide 
council tax relief alongside existing local council tax support schemes, and can 
also be used for local welfare support.

3.2 The Council will award hardship relief throughout 2020-2021and has so far 
awarded £206k reducing 838 council tax bills.

3.3 It is proposed that:

 £250,000 of the hardship fund is used to facilitate local welfare support to be 
delivered during 2020-2021;

 the Director of Resources is delegated in consultation with a working group of 
3 Members (politically balanced), drawn from the Executive Committee, to 
facilitate local welfare support, and;

 the Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum (BCLRF) identify the local 
welfare support needs that the Council facilitate.

3.4 As part of the COVID-19 response, the BCLRF created community hubs that 
provide services, resources and sign-posting for all residents.  The Council 
consider these hubs to be an effective model that reflect and serve community 
needs.

3.5 The community hubs are delivered through a collaboration of existing services 
which have been financially supported by the Cumbria Community Foundation 
up until the 31 July, 2020.

3.6 The Council is committed to the community hubs continuing to operate beyond 
the 31 July, 2020, and will support their efforts.

3.7 It is recommended that an immediate need is addressed by the Working Group 
as a priority – the upcoming summer school holidays.

3.8 Members will be aware that schools are closing over the summer holidays and 
the traditional holiday activity programmes will be very much reduced or not run 
at all.  

3.9 An extended absence from school, brought about by lockdown has raised a 
number of concerns amongst teachers and statutory services.  This in many 
ways has exacerbated existing issues of inequality and deprivation.  There is 
also evidence of growing demand due to families who have suddenly found 
themselves more vulnerable due to the consequences of the virus and lockdown.  
Children’s Services are already planning for an increase in demand from 
September and it is believed that many children will not meet service thresholds 
but will still have unmet support needs.  The Council is committed to doing all we 
can to ensure our children and families are supported through the school holiday 
period and beyond.

Page 56

Agenda Item 12



3.10 The consequences of lockdown and absence from school are likely to have 
exacerbated mental health issues for many children and young people.  This will 
include anxiety, loss of confidence and loneliness.  A comprehensive holiday 
programme will assist in addressing these concerns and will also enable key 
services to connect with young people.

3.11 Holiday hunger is a known issue in Barrow, and the Council welcomes the 
Government commitment to continuing free school meal vouchers over the 
holidays.  The Council believes that this will be a bigger issue this year as more 
children will be affected due to the economic impacts on some families.  The 
Council therefore wishes to supplement and add to the Government scheme to 
enable more of our children to benefit from good nutrition over the summer.

3.12 In summary, there are a range of welfare concerns over the summer school 
holidays, including:

 children’s confidence, anxiety and loneliness;
 holiday hunger;
 reduced network of support that can be accessed (families and friends);
 engagement in learning ready for the return to school;
 no schools for key workers’ children, and;
 the need for some fun activities to recognise the summer break.

3.13 In order to provide a budget to facilitate local welfare support, £250,000 of the 
Hardship Fund has been earmarked.  This reduces the amount available for 
council tax relief and modelling shows that the remainder is sufficient.

3.14 As previously reported, the demand for council tax relief and use of the Hardship 
Fund will be presented quarterly to the Executive Committee.

3.15 The Council will rely on the organisations supported to use their own judgement 
as to how support will reach individuals and families.  Aside from the summer 
school holiday programme, examples of expenditure may include the following 
(the list is not exclusive):

 Provision of food.
 Funeral expenses.
 Fuel bills.
 Telephone fees.
 Wi-Fi costs.
 One-off transport costs to cover exceptional circumstances.
 Additional accommodation costs as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
 Emergency residential building safety or security work.
 White goods and other essential equipment and appliances.

3.16 The proposed terms of reference for the Working Group are at Appendix 1.

Page 57

Agenda Item 12



4.0 Consultation 
4.1 There has been consultation between local authorities in order to understand 

local welfare support provision but it is very much local needs that are to be 
addressed.

4.2 Consultation is ongoing with the BCLRF to identify needs and demand.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 An alternative option would be to hold the entirety of the hardship fund for council 

tax relief during 2020-2021.

5.2 The Working Group may not be created and all reports presented to the 
Executive Committee for decision.

5.3 A Grants Sub-Committee may be established and applications invited.  This 
process would involve more administration and is less likely to provide a timely 
response.

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The recommendations aim to support our resident’s health and well-being, 

access to assistance and advice, and the existing community support network.

6.2 Providing assistance to those suffering hardship underpins the Council Plan 
priority to support people.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 The Hardship Fund is cash limited and may only be spent during 2020-2021.  It 

is expected that at the 31 March, 2021, any unspent funds will be repayable; 
there will be a reconciliation and justification to ensure that the hardship find has 
been used appropriately.

7.1.2 After implementing the recommendations it is estimated that there will be £342k 
remaining to fund COVID-19 Hardship Relief awards.

7.1.3 The Working Group will need to be resourced by Officers and Members.

7.1.4 The reporting requirements placed on the Council will be specifically included in 
any funding offer to ensure that the Council can fulfil its own obligations to 
Government.

7.1.5 Funding would be subject to grant conditions that ensure the funds are used for 
their given purpose and protect the Council from liability.

7.1.6 There is no management fee within the grant and funding will not be used to 
offset existing salary or other costs and overheads.

Page 58

Agenda Item 12



7.1.7 The allocation of £250,000 from the Hardship Fund for local welfare support 
leaves £548,000 for council tax relief; modelling indicates that this is sufficient to 
last throughout 2020-2021.

Legal 
7.2.1 Billing authorities have discretionary powers to reduce a council tax liability under 

s13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

7.2.2 The COVID-19 Hardship Scheme includes the ability to fund Local Welfare 
support.

Equality and Diversity 
7.3.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the Council is 

implementing a government scheme and all applications will be considered on 
their merits.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Hardship fund used for 
something other than council 
tax relief or local welfare 
support.

Grant expenditure is 
ineligible and shortfall 
must be met from 
Council resources.

Council tax relief scheme 
established under 
existing powers.  Local 
welfare support to be 
approved by Grants 
Panel to demonstrate full 
governance and 
consideration.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Cash limited pot. The Working Group 

ends.

The grant is not spent.

Monitoring and reporting 
will occur.

Grant is likely to be 
repayable.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Funding is not spent on local 
welfare support.

Funding is clawed back 
by Government.

Conditions included in 
grant offered.  The 
Council reserve the right 
to inspect the records 
relating to the 
services/activities that 
have been funded.

Contact Officers 
S M Roberts directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk 

Page 59

Agenda Item 12

mailto:directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk


Appendices Attached to this Report
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1. 1. COVID-19 Local Welfare Support Working Group terms of 

reference

Background Documents Available
Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

1. COVID-19 hardship fund 
guidance 2020-2021

1. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-
tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council-tax-covid-19-hardship-fund-2020-to-2021-guidance


Last updated 26th June 2020

Barrow Borough Council
Executive Committee
COVID-19 Local Welfare Support Working Group

Terms of Reference

1.0 Purpose

To facilitate local welfare support for the benefit of the residents of 
Barrow Borough Council.  The COVID-19 Local Welfare Support 
Working Group is a working group drawn from the membership of the 
Executive Committee.  The Director of Resources will consult with the 
Working Group when considering local welfare support funding 
allocations.

The Barrow Community Local Resilience Forum (BCLRF) will determine 
local needs which will be reported to the Working Group.  The BCLRF 
will arrange for the community sector to submit a collaborative proposal 
to deliver the services/activities to address these needs.

2.0 Membership

The Working Group will have three Members.  Membership will be drawn 
from the Executive Committee as the source of delegated authority.  The 
Chief Executive and Director of Resources will also attend the Working 
Group meetings.  Membership will end on 31 March, 2021, or when the 
funds are depleted.

3.0 Chair

The Working Group will elect a Chair at their first meeting.

4.0 Quorum

The quorum for the Working Group will be two Members.

5.0 Attendance

In addition to the Council Officers and Members, a representative from 
the BCLRF may be invited by the Director of Resources to attend the 
meetings.

Page 61

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



Last updated 26th June 2020

6.0 Decision Making

The Director of Resources shall consult with the Working Group prior to 
making funding decisions. 

7.0 Declaration of Interest

If a Working Group Member has an interest in any proposal, they must 
leave the room whilst the matter is discussed.  This must be recorded in the 
minutes.

8.0 Equal Opportunities

Barrow Borough Council is committed to the concept of equal 
opportunities and expects all of its Members to support equal opportunities 
good practice.  The overriding purpose of the Hardship Fund is to tackle 
inequalities and ensure our residents are supported through the ongoing 
impacts of COVID-19.

9.0 Confidentiality

All proposals and matters discussed at the Working Group meetings should 
be treated in the strictest confidence and suitable care should be taken in 
notifying decisions following the meetings.

10.0 Minutes of Meetings

Minutes will be taken of all meetings, and a record of the decisions of the 
Director of Resources made.  The minutes will not be publically available.  A 
summary of the decisions made will be presented to the Executive 
Committee and that will set out the services/activities funded and budget 
information.

11.0 Agenda and Reports

It is intended that Members of the Working Group will receive the agenda 
and reports 5 days prior to each meeting.  The Working Group will also 
consider urgent applications without 5 days notice where there is a need to 
act quickly.

12.0 Budgets

At each meeting budget information shall be presented in terms of funds 
used and funds available.

Page 62

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee. 
8 July 2020

Catering & Cleaning Contract Forum & Dock Museum 

 
Report from:  Director of People and Place 

Report Author: Sandra Baines – Venue Manager The Forum 

Wards:  All 

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 This report provides an update of the procurement process of the catering and 

cleaning contract at the Forum & Dock Museum and recommends an award off a 
5 year contract with the potential for a 3 year extension.  

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee:- 

(1) Approve the award of the Catering and Cleaning Contract to Contractor 
3 as detailed within the report and for a five year period with effect from 
1 October 2020, with the potential option for a three year extension.

(2) Approve delegated authority to extend the contract to the Director of 
People and Place, in consultation with Chair of Executive Committee 
subject to satisfactory performance reviews.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 The formal agreement for the catering and cleaning provision at the Forum & 

Dock Museum, along with catering in the Town Hall came to an end in 2019. At 
previous Executive Committee meetings, approval had been sought to extend 
the current Catering Contract to allow for a new contract to be drawn up and 
advertised. The Executive Committee established a working group of members 
and officers to review progress and to give clear direction on matters they wished 
to see included in the new arrangement.

3.2 The group met on two occasions and reviewed the work undertaken by the 
consultant the Council had engaged. Members also considered the range and 
scope of services currently provided at the Forum and Dock Museum and 
recognised that there may be some changes to the new offer. Members had two 
key suggestions for inclusion in the new arrangement. These were that the 
duration of the new contract should be for 5 years with the potential for a 3 year 

Page 63

Agenda Item 13



extension, and that, unlike the existing contract, there should be no exclusivity 
clause around the provision of catering within the Town Hall.

3.3 In accordance with the Council’s procurement policy the contract was advertised 
on the chest on the 14 February 2020. A bidder’s day took place on 26 February 
2020 and the final submission date for tenders was 24 March 2020.  Due to 
Covid-19, a request was made from one of the bidders to extend the final 
submission date. This was agreed and the deadline was extended to 17 April 
2020.

3.4 Three completed tenders were received. The contract was set up to be awarded 
based on 70% price and 30% quality. The price criteria was set up on 3 pricing 
items, highest annual commission payment, capital investment, lowest annual 
charge (cleaning). Appendix 1 provides the tender price and quality evaluation 
scores. On evaluation Contractor 3 scored the highest. The submission that they 
have made will mean the Council will receive an annual financial commitment of 
£30,000 or 8% of sales, whichever is the greater, from catering, £15,000 
contribution to utilities, an approximate saving of £19,470 on the cleaning 
services and £55,000 of capital investment. 

3.5 Regular communications will be key to the effective management and continuous 
improvement of the services. A partnership approach is critical to the success of 
this contract; weekly and monthly meetings will take place to discuss operational 
issues. Formal quarterly strategic meetings will be scheduled with appointed 
officers; member working group and the successful contractor who will provide a 
report three days before and will contain their financial summary, forthcoming 
developments, personnel updates, customer feedback and engagement. 

3.6 Members are requested to approve that the contract for catering and cleaning 
services be awarded to contractor 3 and that delegation be given to the Director 
of People and Place to agree an extension subject to satisfactory performance 
reviews.

4.0 Consultation 
Creative business associates, hospitality experts, were engaged to carry out the 
procurement process. 

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 The committee could resolve not to award the contract and enter into a new 

procurement exercise but the Council has been through a procurement exercise 
which has led to the recommendation being put forward. 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 Priority 1: People: Enabling residents to live happy, healthy productive lives

Work with partners to tackle specific health issues in the Borough  

Page 64

Agenda Item 13



7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 The recommendation will improve the council’s income from catering and reduce 
costs from building cleaning; overall the Council’s subsidy of the Forum & Dock 
Museum will reduce. The value of sales will be verified by Internal Audit.

Legal 
7.1.2 The Council is engaging with external legal advice to ensure all matters are in 

order and in compliance with statutory and council regulations 

Equality and Diversity 
7.2 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes – there are no issues to 

raise with this report and the assessment will be reviewed regularly with the 
contractor   

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
No catering or cleaning 
contract 

No catering or cleaning  
service 

New contractual 
arrangement 

Contact Officers 
Sandra Baines – Venue Manager the Forum, sbaines@barrowbc.gov.uk 

Appendices attached to this report 
Appendix No 
1 Tender Price & Quality Criteria Evaluation 

Page 65

Agenda Item 13

mailto:sbaines@barrowbc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Barrow Borough Council 

Catering Contract 2020 - Tender Price & Quality Criteria Evaluation Matrix 

Tender Price Criteria Evaluation Matrix 

Comments: 

Highest Annual Commission Payment 

(40%)
Score (/40)

Capital Investment 

(15%)
Score (/15)

Lowest Annual Charge 

(15%)
Score (/15) 

Submission of 

References (5%)
Score (/10)

Methodology Narrative 

(25%)
Score  (/25)

Contractor  1

40,000.00£                                  35 None 0 63.472 11 5 5 25 20 71

Menus are distinctive, but thin on ground regarding branding offer. Menus attractive, great ingredients and dishes. 90% 

Fresh produce sourced within 30 miles some evidence of Innovative event Details provided but very little detail, "The 

Collection" marketing to C&B clients. 

Contractor  2

35,000.00£                                  40 50,000.00£         10 46.282 15 5 5 25 15 85

Branding and designs seem distinctive, Menus are attractive and examples of food at other venues are attractive. Local 

suppliers for alcohol, not much else was evidenced. Some good offers, but not geared for all events. Some development of 

C&B mentioned but not much detail. 

contractor  3 38,000.00£                                  40 55,000.00£         15 58,000 12 5 5 25 21 93

Clear detail on branding with a distinctive offer evidenced. Menus are attractive, great ingredients and dishes. Specific Local 

suppliers noted with details on produce provided. Planned event calendar evidenced  and targeted actions noted for 

Development of C&B.

Quality (30%)

Total score: 

value for money  
Company Name

A

Cost (70%)

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 13
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee
8th July, 2020

Planning Performance Agreements
 
Report from:  Director of People and Place

Report Author: Jason Hipkiss, Development Services 
Manager (Planning & Enforcement)

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs) are a project management tool 

developed to help local authorities and applicants deliver decisions on major, 
complex or long term developments, where appropriate.  A PPA is an agreement 
between a developer and a local planning authority (and potentially other key 
players, such as statutory consultees) setting out who will do what and when.  They 
help to support the delivery of a high quality planning service to developers and 
investors whilst allowing the LPA to secure additional fee income through 
discretionary charges to assist with cost recovery.

1.2 This report seeks authority for the Director of People and Place and Development 
Services Manager to enter into such agreements.

2.0 Recommendation 
(1) It is recommended that Executive Committee authorise the Director of 

People and Place and Development Services Manager to:

 Formally enter into “Planning Performance Agreements;
 To agree any subsequent variations or amendments to an approved 

Planning Performance Agreement;
 Secure bespoke fees associated with any PPA

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 A PPA is a project management tool. Its purpose is to allow a developer to agree 

a project plan with the local planning authority for the determination of a planning 
application. For maximum benefit, this should be from pre-application/inception 
through to the issue of a decision and the subsequent discharge of conditions.

3.2 To date Barrow Borough Council has not used them as part of its planning service.  
However, it is apparent that such agreements are suitable for certain types of 

Page 69

Agenda Item 14



scheme and authorisation is requested to negotiate and implement such 
agreements, where appropriate.

3.3 The PPA is a voluntary tool and not part of the planning service’s statutory 
functions nor is it obliged to consider or enter into them.  

3.3 The backbone of any PPA is to enable parties to identify all of the necessary 
resources needed to take an application forward. Essentially this allows the 
authority to buy in specialist expertise thus recovering its costs, but not at a profit.

3.4 Paragraph 46 of the National Planning Policy Framework advises that: “Applicants 
and local planning authorities should consider the potential for voluntary planning 
performance agreements, where this might achieve a faster and more effective 
application process”. 

3.5 Planning Practice Guidance is equally supportive, and advises that: “Planning 
performance agreements can be particularly useful in setting out an efficient and 
transparent process for determining large and/or complex planning applications. 
They encourage joint working between the applicant and local planning authority, 
and can also help to bring together other parties such as statutory consultees. A 
planning performance agreement is agreed voluntarily between the applicant and 
the local planning authority prior to the application being submitted, and can be a 
useful focus of pre-application discussions about the issues that will need to be 
addressed”. 

3.6 Whilst in principle, Planning Practice Guidance advises that planning performance 
agreements can be used for any application; they are primarily used for Major 
planning applications and for other schemes that are of a particularly complex 
nature only.  

3.7 Benefits of a PPA are:
 Identification of key issues and consultees at an early stage;
 Provides a guarantee of Council resources with realistic timescales;
 Better overall management from pre-application through to post-application 

stages;
 Greater accountability, transparency and communication;
 Improved partnership working;
 Continuity and consistency from LPA officers; and
 Bespoke advice from key consultees (e.g. building control, environment, 

highways, etc)

3.8 A PPA does not fetter the determining body from making an informed decision, 
based upon the issues, national guidance, and local Development Plan policies. 
In simple terms it does not guarantee that planning consent will be granted. It does 
reduce the likelihood of a refusal as all issues will have been fully explored. 

3.9 Members are requested to authorise the Director of People and Place and 
Development Services Manager to enter into such agreements as set out in the 
recommendation to this report.

Page 70

Agenda Item 14



4.0 Consultation 
Officers from Development Management have been involved in the preparation of 
this report and examples of PPAs successfully used by other Local Authorities, 
together with the benefits offers by a PPA, have been considered.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 To proceed to agree to PPAs only in appropriate circumstances, i.e. on suitable 

major proposals or schemes where appropriate;

To not enter into PPAs in any circumstances, but this is not recommended due to 
the benefits as outlined in this report.

6.0 Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The Development Management Service is a statutory function of the Council.  

PPAs would assist with the effective delivery of the Council’s policies and priorities 
through the determination of planning applications, provisions of pre application 
advice and post determination services such as discharging conditions, to a 
timetable mutually agreed with the applicant.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 Resources will be required for the Council to draft, implement and provide PPAs. 

These will be funded by the additional income streams that developers will pay for 
the service once it is established.

7.1.2 The Council must carefully monitor both the costs incurred to implement and 
provide the scheme, along with the charges made to ensure that it is seen to be 
provided on an equitable and not for profit basis.

Legal 
7.1.3 Section 93 of the Local Authorities Act 2002 allows the LPA to secure additional 

fee income through discretionary charges to support cost recovery. PPAs are 
effectively a project management tool which Council and developers can use to 
agree timescales, actions and resources for handling particular applications.  They 
cover the pre-application stage and application stages but may also extend 
through to the post-application stage and the negotiation of section 106 
agreements.  PPAs can be particularly useful in setting out efficient and 
transparent processes for determining large and/or complex planning applications 
and are not considered to be appropriate for all types of planning applications.

7.1.4 The Council will need to establish clear guidelines and charges for the use of 
PPAs, to cover the costs of providing these discretionary planning services.  It also 
needs to be made clear that the project management services provided under a 
PPA will not compromise the impartiality or objectivity of the planning application 
process.

Page 71

Agenda Item 14



Equality and Diversity 
7.2 The report has no direct Equality and Diversity implications.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Potential additional financial 
and resource burdens on the 
LPA

Additional financial 
burdens

Major and complex 
development proposals 
already incur significant 
costs by the Authority.  
PPAs should not 
increase these costs as 
any extraordinary 
resources should be 
recouped via the 
Agreement

The Authority will be 
requested to enter PPAs in all 
cases 

Numerous Requests for 
PPAs

PPAs will not be 
acceptable in all 
circumstances.  If 
significant requests arise 
in the future, the Authority 
can legitimately refuse to 
enter into PPAs and only 
accept cases where is 
believes there is a 
significant merit in doing 
so.  If used regularly, the 
Council will need to 
prepare a Charter or 
framework to inform the 
PPA process and further 
clarify the circumstances 
in which they may be 
appropriate.

There may be a risk that other 
stakeholders may see a PPA 
as an agreement to grant 
planning permission

Reputational – however 
the use of a PPA does 
not imply an obligation 
on the part of the Council 
to approve an application 
but sets out an agreed 
framework for dealing 
with a development 
proposal

Appropriate 
communication in terms 
of PPA

Contact Officers 
jahipkiss@barrowbc.gov.uk

Page 72

Agenda Item 14



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

 Executive Committee 
8 July 2020

 Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy Review

 
Report from:  Janice Sharp – Assistant Director - Housing

Report Author: Caroline Wagstaff – Operations Manager

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions
1.1 Approval of the Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy will ensure 

that there is greater clarity for households in the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 
who are currently registered for social housing or who may register in the future. 

1.2 The proposed policy will help to ensure there is a consistent and fair approach 
amongst registered providers with regard to letting homes in the Borough to meet 
the greatest housing needs. 

1.3 The revisions will meet legislative changes relating to the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 and resultant Statutory Guidance. 

1.4 It is expected that the proposed changes will simplify the operation of the policy 
to the benefit of all who use it and to customers.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1    It is recommended that Executive Committee:
2.1.1 note the content of the report;
2.1.2 approve the Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy which forms the operating basis 

for Cumbria Choice as attached to this report; and 
2.1.3 delegate authority to the Assistant Director - Housing, to approve any minor 

amendments to the Policy identified during the approval process of Partner 
Organisations.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 Operation of the Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy began in May 2011 and it has 

now been operational for a period of nine years. One of the key aims outlined in 
the current policy is to “improve the means by which local people in Cumbria 
gain access to social rented housing by providing a modern and easy to 

Page 73

Agenda Item 15



understand allocation system which allows choice and is fair, transparent and 
accountable”. One of the aims of the review was to streamline the Policy so that 
it is easier to understand and for people to apply  who need to access social 
housing and to the Registered Providers who administer the Scheme. Further 
aims are to “make best use of available housing stock” and to “to ensure that 
there is a social housing lettings service that embraces equality and diversity by 
being open and fully accessible to all individuals”. 

3.2 The Cumbria Choice Based Lettings (CCBL) is a partnership, comprising the six 
housing authorities in Cumbria and eight housing associations. It enables local 
authorities to hold a housing register, users to seek accommodation using a 
single application, and providers to allocate properties. The CCBL Partnership is 
governed by a Partnership Board comprising representatives from all of the 
Partners. The lead authority with responsibility for management of the CCBL 
scheme is South Lakeland District Council as outlined in the Partnering 
Agreement.. All local housing authorities are required to have an allocation 
scheme for determining priorities and procedures for the allocation of social 
housing in the authority area (regardless of whether the authority has its own 
housing stock).  

3.3 The CCBL Allocations Policy has been reviewed on a number of occasions since 
it came into operation in May 2011 to keep in line with relevant legislation and 
statutory instruments, together with good practice in this area. The last review 
was undertaken in 2016. Following on from this there have been legislative 
changes with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and associated Code of 
Guidance and further allocations regulations arising from the UK’s exit from the 
EU issued 2019

3.4 In order to conduct the review of the current policy, South Lakeland District 
Council led on a procurement exercise on behalf of the Board and appointed a 
consultant, Andy Gale (who led on the previous review) to undertake the review. 
Andy Gale has considerable experience in the field of allocations and 
homelessness. A Task and Finish Group was set up by the Board to help lead on 
this. The timescale for the Policy review is crucial as the changes need to feed 
into the specification for the procurement of a new IT platform. The contract for 
the current system expires 31 March 2021 and in order to ensure that the new 
system goes live on 1 April 2021, the procurement needs to be concluded by 
July 2020. This will allow the necessary implementation of the new system and 
migration of data as well as any training that is needed.  

3.5 Any major change to the policy can only be made after a copy of the proposed 
amendments have been consulted on by sending to every registered provider 
housing association in Cumbria, (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996). 

The Policy review has:

 taken all the views of partners into account; and

Page 74

Agenda Item 15



 considered consultation responses from a range of stakeholders as detailed 
in 4.0 and in line with the legislative requirements set out above in 3.3.

3.6 Following on from the consultation, there are a number of changes required . 
The changes are to satisfy legislative change identified in 3.3 above, reduce any 
ambiguities in the operation of the policy so it is applied consistently and fairly, 
and to ensure greater clarity and simplicity. The full draft policy is attached at 
Appendix 1.  

3.7 As this is a common Allocations Policy all Partners have to seek approval from 
their representative organisations to enable the revised policy to be published by 
September 2020. This could result in some minor alterations arising after 
approval.  Therefore, it has been recommended the policy be approved in 
principal with delegated authority be given to the Assistant Director - Housing 
Services, in consultation with the Chair of Executive Committee to make any 
minor amendments.

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 Consultation has been held with key stakeholders during April to 21 May 2020.  

Consultation was held with service users who acknowledged that they would be 
happy to take part in the review to identify improvements to the policy. 

4.2 The Project Board considered the proposed changes at their meeting on 4 June 
2020.  The Equality Impact Assessment and Accessibility Policy is being 
reviewed and updated as part of this policy review. This will be provided in 
advance of the meeting following the CCBL Board meeting to be held on 11 June 
2020. 

4.3 The Strategic Homelessness Group has not met and therefore the relevant 
stakeholders who attend this meeting have been part of the Policy Review 
Group.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 Members could choose not to approve the amended policy or request additional 

or substantive changes. This is not recommended as the updates recommended 
will provide a clearer policy and one which is responding to legislative changes 
outlined in 3.3 of this report. If substantial changes are to be considered by the 
Project Board then this could significantly delay implementation of the revised 
policy, which could then risk legal challenge by not responding to the legislative 
change outlined in 3.3 and 7.6.

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The proposed amendments to the policy contributes to the Council’s vision “For 

our Borough to be great place to live work and visit” and will assist the Council in 
meeting the Priority of Place to “Create a vibrant, safe and welcoming place 
where people want to live”.

Page 75

Agenda Item 15



7.0 Implications 
7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 The policy review and implementation of the policy will be undertaken within 

existing budgets. 

7.2 Legal 
7.2.1 As a local housing authority, the Council is legally required to have in place 

appropriate arrangements for the allocation of housing regardless of whether or 
not it owns its own stock.  Providing it complies with its homelessness duties, it is 
largely open to the Council to decide the criteria to apply when allocating 
housing.

7.2.2 The revised Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy has been produced with full 
consideration of local authority and housing association legal responsibilities in 
relation to the allocation of housing including: 

 The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England) 
 The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction 

Act 2017
 Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 

England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”
 Providing social housing for local people; Statutory guidance on social 

housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013) 
“Supplementary Code”

Plus the following statutory regulations: 

 Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483
 Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264
 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 

2006 SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments 
 Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England)             

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869; 
 Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 

Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989. 
 The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 

Regulations 2015
 The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)

In framing the allocations scheme, regard has also been given to the Council’s 
draft Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025 as well as the 
Equality Act 2010

Page 76

Agenda Item 15



7.2.3 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a duty to ensure that any policies it 
adopts do not directly or indirectly discriminate against any particular groups of 
people.  The Council has undertaken an equality impact assessment to ensure 
that the policy is fair to all customers and to demonstrate that the Council has 
discharged its public sector equality duty in this respect. 

7.3 Equality and Diversity 
7.3 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out as part of the county-wide 

policy review.

7.4 Risk

Risk Consequence Controls required 
The current Policy 
does not meet 
statutory 
requirements

The Council could be open 
for legal challenge, 
particularly in the role of 
Lead Authority.

Approval of the draft CCBL Allocations 
Policy.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Partner organisa-
tions are unable to 
agree changes or 
put forward 
additional 
substantive 
changes.

Delay in approving the 
Policy could also impact on 
the procurement of the IT 
system, the contract for 
which expires 31 March 
2021.

Approval of the Allocations Policy by all of 
the partner organisations.
Project Board to monitor approval and 
agree any further minor amendments as 
appropriate.
Delegated authority be given to the 
Assistant Director - Housing to approve 
minor changes required following 
Executive Committee approval.

Covid-19 issues 
result in delays to 
approval in Partner 
organisations.

Delay in approving the 
Policy that could impact on 
the IT procurement as 
above. 
Legal challenge to the 
Council in the role of Lead 
Authority.

Approval of the Allocations Policy by all 
of the partner organisations.
Project Board to monitor approval and 
agree any further minor amendments.
Delegated authority be given to the 
Assistant Director - Housing to approve 
minor changes required following 
Executive Committee approval.

Contact Officers 
Report Author – Caroline Wagstaff, Operations Manager Tel:  01229 876310
Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1 Cumbria Choice Based Allocations Policy draft 2020

Page 77

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
 

Allocations Policy 
(2020 Policy Review) 

 
Section 1: Introduction and background  3 

Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership 3 

Legal context  4 

The key aims and objectives set for the Policy 6 

Making changes to the Policy 6 

General Data Protection Regulations 2018 7 

Equality, accessibility and monitoring 7 

Complaints 8 

Statement on Choice 9 

Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the 
criteria for assessing applications 

14 

The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules 14 

The qualification rules adopted by the CCP  15 

Qualification rule 1 – Local Connection  15 

Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain 
and share an applicant’s personal information 

17 

Qualification rule 3: Homeownership or legal interest in home 
ownership  

17 

Qualification rule 4: Financial resources 18 

Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid 19 

Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information 19 

Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current 
or former social housing rent arrears or another relevant 
recoverable housing related debt 

19 

Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour 23 

Qualification rule 9: CCP Tenants not assessed as Band A or Band 
B Housing Need 

24 

How the CCP will consider exceptional circumstances when 
applying any of the qualification rules 

24 

Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register 26 

How to apply 26 

When a band will be allocated and what date this will be from 27 

Assessing Applications 27 

Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions 28 

Who can be included in the application? 29 

How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint 
tenancy normally be granted? 

30 

Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child 30 

Page 79

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 2 

Arrangement Orders 

The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances 30 

Applications from Councillors, Board Members or staff of a CCP 
partner 

31 

Reviewing the Register 32 

Cancelling Applications 32 

Deliberate Worsening of Circumstances 32 

When an applicant can request a review  33 

Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and 
circumstances will be assessed  

34 

The Banding system  34 

The Banding Table setting out the 3 Bands and the housing need 
criteria required to qualify for each 

35 

Advertising properties 44 

Sheltered Housing  44 

Section 106 Developments 45 

Local Lettings Policies  46 

Specific Local Lettings Policies for villages or rural parishes  46 

Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance 
and detail for how the Policy will be applied 

47 

Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy 47 

Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply: 
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
3) An applicant’s right to information  

49 

Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false 
information will be assessed 

51 

Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the 
consideration of exceptional circumstances and how applications 
where there is a ‘Debt Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or 
‘Individual Voluntary Agreement (IVA)’  

 

Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the 
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour  

54 

Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered  56 

Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:   
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 

57 

Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority 
band A or B on the basis of medical priority  

61 

Appendix 2: Definition of terms  68 

Appendix 3: How local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed 70 

Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer  72 

Appendix 5: Contact details for all CCP Partners 74 

Appendix 6: Household type and property size allowed 76 

Appendix 7: Right to move criteria 78 

Appendix 8: List of person/s who will take specific decisions  80 

Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6 
Cumbrian Councils 

81 

Appendix 10: Revised equality Impact Assessment June 2020 82 

Page 80

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 3 

 
 

Section 1        Introduction and Background 

 
Members of the Cumbria Choice Based Letting Partnership  
 
This document is the revised Housing Allocation Policy for the Cumbria Choice 
Partnership (CCP).  
 
The Allocation Policy is called ‘Cumbria Choice’ and it is a choice based letting 
scheme where applicants can bid for advertised vacant properties. Cumbria 
Choice is a sub-regional partnership between the 6 Local Council Districts and 
7 Registered Provider Housing Associations that own social housing stock 
across Cumbria.   
 
The following are members of the Cumbria Choice Partnership: 
 
Allerdale Borough Council 
Barrow Borough Council  
Carlisle City Council 
Copeland Borough Council 
Eden District Council 
South Lakeland District Council  
 
Plus the following Housing Associations: 
 
Accent Housing 
Eden Housing 
Home Group  
Impact Housing   
Riverside Housing 
South Lakes Housing  
Castles and Coasts Housing Association 
 
Each of these Registered Providers (commonly known as and referred to in 
this policy as Housing Associations) have voluntarily signed up to the policy to 
ensure that all applicants applying for social housing in Cumbria are provided 
with a single route of access to social housing and are assessed using a single 
policy. Where any individual housing association in Cumbria is not a partner to 
the policy and continues to let vacant properties owed to the Council under a 
nominations arrangement, this policy will apply to the nominations owed. 
 
The participating Housing Associations listed above (contact details are set out 
in appendix 5) have agreed to advertise the majority of their available vacant 
properties through the scheme and in accordance with this policy.  
 
The ‘Cumbria Choice Partnership’ is overseen by a ‘Sub Regional Project 
Board’, which is governed by a partnership agreement.  The membership 
consists of one senior officer representative from each organisation.  Each 
organisation has one vote within the partnership.  
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 4 

The Project Board will meet at least six times a year to oversee the running of 
the scheme and to monitor its compliance with local and national policy and 
guidance.  The partnership will continue to monitor, fund, develop and make 
policy decisions about the scheme as appropriate.  
 
The policy covers the nomination of any applicant under the scheme to be an 
assured or an assured short hold tenant of housing accommodation held by 
any participating Housing Association across Cumbria, whether by way of a 
legally enforceable arrangement or not. This includes a nomination of a ‘starter 
tenancy’. Of the 6 Cumbrian Councils only Barrow still owns Council stock and 
the policy applies to allocations made for that stock.   
 
This policy sets out who is, and who isn’t, eligible for social housing in Cumbria 
and how the CCP will make this assessment. It details how applications to join 
the CCP Housing Register can be made, the priority they will be given, and 
how offers of social housing will be made.  
 
This is a revised ‘Housing Allocation Policy’ and will take effect in respect of all 
allocations of housing on or after insert date here. The assessment of need 
and qualifying criteria set out in this policy will be applied to all new and 
existing Applicants from this date. 
 
Legal context  
 
This is the 6 Cumbrian Councils Housing Allocation Policy as required by Part 
6 of the Housing Act 1996. Applicants are able to apply for housing and all 
applications will be fully assessed.  
 
When applying an applicant will be asked to choose a local authority or 
housing association partner to administer their application. Where a housing 
association partner assesses and administers an application they will, on 
behalf of the 6 Cumbrian local authorities, be formally discharging the legal 
responsibility for a local authority to receive applications and apply their 
adopted allocation policy to assess that application. All applications will be 
assessed and administered through applying this allocation policy: this being 
the legally adopted allocation policy for all 6 Cumbrian local authorities.   
 
In developing this policy the Councils have followed and fully considered the 
following housing legislation, regulations, statutory guidance, and strategies: 
 
1) The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England)  
 
2) The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction 

Act 2017 
 
3) Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 

England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”;  
 
4) Providing social housing for local people: Statutory guidance on social 

housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 
2013) “Supplementary Code”.  

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 5 

5) Plus the following statutory regulations:  
 
a. Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483;  
 
b. Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264;  
 
c. Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006, SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments  
 
d. Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869;  
 
e. Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989.  
 
f. The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 
Regulations 2015 
 
g. ‘The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)’ 
 
In framing our allocations scheme this policy has had regard to the District 
Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, Housing Strategy, and 
Tenancy Strategy as well as the Equality Act 2010. 
 
In relation to f) above in accordance with the Right to Move statutory guidance 
on housing allocations for local housing authorities in England (Department for 
Communities and Local Government, March 2015) the Policy sets a limit of no 
more than 2% of lettings will be allocated to social housing tenants from 
outside of Cumbria who need to move for employment purposes.  
 
All references to statutory materials are by way of summary and for 
convenience only, and are not to be used as substitutes for the details within 
the original.  
 
Where the Policy refers to the Cumbrian Choice Partnership, or CCP, this is to 
be taken to mean each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils. Each Council has adopted 
this Policy as its legal Allocation Policy to meet the statutory duty under Part 6 
of the Housing Act 1996.  
 
This Allocation Policy applies when a Cumbrian Council:   

 
a) Selects a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 

accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation owned by Barrow Borough 
Council as the other 5 Council Partners no longer retain social housing 
stock).  

 
b) Nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 

accommodation (i.e. in practice accommodation held by another housing 
authority). 

 
c) Nominates a person to be an assured tenant or assured shorthold tenant of 

Page 83

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 6 

housing accommodation held by a Registered Provider (commonly referred 
to in the Policy as Housing Associations).  

 
The above includes Affordable Rent properties and Flexible (i.e. fixed term) 
tenancies.  
 
For details of lettings not covered by the policy see appendix 1.1 
 
The key aims and objectives set for the Policy 
 
The key aims and objectives adopted for the Policy are:  
 
1. A Policy that meets the legal requirements placed on each Cumbrian 

Council, namely to give appropriate priority to applicants who fall within the 
Housing Act “reasonable preference” categories  

 
2. To ensure there is a social housing lettings service that embraces equality 

and diversity by being open and fully accessible to all individuals.  
 
3. To improve the means by which local people in Cumbria gain access to 

social rented housing by providing a modern and easy to understand 
allocation system which offers realistic choices. 

 
4. A Policy that is simple to understand and use, is transparent and is seen as 

fair by the general public and applicants   
 
5. To support the objective of making the best use of the social housing stock 

in Cumbria, and to support mobility across Cumbria especially where 
residents need to access to employment. 

 
6. A Policy that contributes to creating balanced and sustainable communities, 

and helps attract new customers to areas of low demand thereby reducing 
void times on any ‘harder to let’ properties.  

Making changes to the Policy 
 
Any major change to the Policy can only be made after a copy of the proposed 
amendments have been consulted on by sending to every Registered Provider 
Housing Association in Cumbria, regardless of whether an association is a 
participating member of the CCP. (Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996).  
 
All major changes must first, be agreed by the CCP Partnership Board who will 
make recommendations that will then be considered: 
a) By each of the 6 Cumbrian Councils, and 
b) By each participating Partner Housing Association.  
 
Details of how major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian 
Councils are set out in appendix 9.  
 
For minor changes to the policy or the operational procedures, decisions will 
be delegated to the CCP Board who will consult with the lead officer 
responsible for housing in each Council, (or their delegated officer), and with 

Page 84

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 7 

the Chief Executive for each CCP Partner Housing Association (or their 
delegated officer).  
 
All major changes to the policy will be notified to those it may affect within a 
reasonable period of time.  
 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
 
We will ensure for any person on the housing register their information is 
stored lawfully and we act in a fair and transparent way in processing their 
data.  We will only collect data that is specific, explicit and legitimate for the 
purpose of the application and lettings processes set out in this policy. The 
data will be kept up to date and not held unnecessarily or without appropriate 
security measures in place.  Information will only be shared with other 
organisations or individuals in order to legitimately assess and progress a 
person’s housing, for the prevention of fraud or with the person’s explicit 
consent. 
 
An applicant’s permission to share their personal information is a qualification 
condition of being accepted onto the CCP housing register. 
 
Appendix 1.2 sets out the details for how the scheme will apply: 
1) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
2) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
3) An applicant’s right to information   
 
Equality, accessibility and monitoring 
 
The CCP is committed to ensuring that the Policy and the implementation of all 
associated guidance and procedures are non-discriminatory and that all 
applicants are able to access the service, especially taking account of any 
vulnerability or other specific needs, and also the needs of different groups 
protected by the Equality Act 2010; the Human Rights Act 1998; and for 
Children, Section 11 of the Children Act.  
 
To identify the needs of our applicants the application contains specific 
questions relating to vulnerability, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disability 
and other relevant criteria.  The information obtained will be used to monitor 
the impact of the policy on minority and specific needs groups and to evidence 
the need for amendments, as may be required.  
 
Under the Equality Act 2010 and in particular section 149 of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty, Councils are required to give due regard to eliminate 
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, 
when exercising a public function such as their legal Housing Allocation Policy. 

The protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

Page 85

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 8 

The CCP will ensure that the policy complies with the current equality 
legislation and with all relevant statutory codes and guidance. The new policy 
has been subject to a full, detailed ‘Equality Impact Audit’ before it has been 
adopted (see appendix 10). This EIA will be regularly reviewed as more 
monitoring information regarding the impact of the policy is obtained.  
 
The outcomes for applicants identified as having specific needs or who meet 
the definition of a protected characteristic under the Equality Act will be 
monitored regarding the outcomes for applications to join the register and 
offers of social housing.  
 
The CCP will monitor the policy and outcomes to ensure that it is meeting all 
legal requirements and that the aims and objectives set for the policy are being 
met. Monitoring will be used to ensure that: 
 

 Those in the ‘reasonable preference’ categories are given priority for 
housing 

 The Policy is complying with its Equality Act duties  

 There is overall customer satisfaction with the scheme 
 
Complaints 
 
Complaints are separate to the circumstances where an applicant wishes to 
seek a review of a decision made on their application. Such a request should 
be made under the review procedure set out in section 4 and not through the 
complaints procedure.  
 
Where an applicant wishes to make a complaint about poor service, or the way 
they have been treated, this should be made using the complaints procedure 
for the Cumbrian District Council where they currently live. A copy of the 
current complaints procedure for each of the 6 Councils is available on their 
websites.  
 
Complaints regarding the handling of an application by a partner Housing 
Association should be made through that Association’s complaints procedure 
which will be detailed on the Association’s website.  
 
Where a complaint relates to how an applicant has been dealt with under this 
policy an applicant has the right to continue with their complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman Service if they are unhappy with the response to 
their complaint. 
 
The Local Government Ombudsman is an independent service run by Central 
Government to make sure that Councils provide the required standard of 
service to their customers. 
 
The Ombudsman can investigate complaints about how the Council has done 
something, but they cannot question what has been done simply because 
someone did not agree with it. 
 
The Ombudsman will normally deal with a complaint if a customer feels they 
have been treated unfairly as a result of maladministration. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 9 

 
For example, if a Council has: 
 
 Delayed taking action without good reason 
 Taken into account facts which are not relevant or ignored facts which are 

relevant 
 Not followed their own rules or complied with the law 
 Not taken action that they had promised to 
 Given a customer the wrong information 
 Not reached a decision in the correct way 
 
The Ombudsman will not normally investigate a complaint: 
 
 Until a Council has had the opportunity to review its decision (normally by 

accessing the complaints process), or  
 If it is a matter which has been, are, or could be dealt with by the courts or 

an internal review procedure  
 If it was a matter which the applicant was aware of more than twelve 

months before making the complaint 
 
All complaints to the Ombudsman must be in writing. Applicants can request 
assistance from their local Councilor or ask an advocate to write on their 
behalf. The contact details for the Local Government Ombudsman are: 
Local Government Ombudsman 
PO Box 4771 
Coventry CV4 0EH 
Tel: 0300 061 0614. 
You can also text ‘call back’ to 0762 480 3014. 
Fax: 024 7682 0001 
Website: www.lgo.org.uk 
 
Statement on Choice 
 
One of the key objectives of the Policy is to, as far as possible, give choice to 
applicants who wish to obtain social housing. This is why the CCP has taken 
the decision to operate the Policy through a ‘choice based lettings’ system 
(CBL). The aim being to give applicants the best possible choice over where 
they wish to live. 
 
For all applicants who are eligible to be registered, they should be able to 
express a preference over any area that they would like to live in and the type 
of property they would prefer. However, the ability to satisfy that preference 
might be limited.  
 
The housing pressures faced limit the degree of choice that can be offered, 
along with the responsibility the 6 Cumbria District Councils have to offer 
housing to applicants in urgent housing need, including the need to reduce the 
financial impact of temporary accommodation on a Council.  As a result of 
housing pressures there is a limit on the degree of choice that can be offered. 
The district councils have to offer housing to applicants in urgent housing need, 
this reduces the financial impact of providing temporary accommodation on 
that Council. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 10 

 
Expressing a preference over where an applicant would prefer to live does not 
mean that preference can be met, nor prevent an applicant being offered 
suitable accommodation outside of their preferred area.  
 
Any applicant will be asked to state any area where they believe they cannot 
live due to fear of violence, harassment or domestic abuse. The assessment 
will then consider the facts and decide whether the applicant can be allowed to 
restrict those areas.  
 
The key policies on choice explained 
 
A) When the CCP may make a direct offer outside of the choice based 
letting (CBL) system and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the 
CBL band and date order system  
 
Not all properties that become available will be advertised and offered through 
the Choice Based Lettings (CBL) system. There may be circumstances where 
for urgent operational or financial reasons there is a need to make a direct offer 
of housing outside the CBL and, in exceptional circumstances, outside of the 
band and date order criteria set out in this policy.  
 
Specifically, this would be where there are urgent operational or financial 
reasons. Examples include but are not limited to:  
 
1) Situations where urgent re-housing is required due to an applicants existing 

property being uninhabitable, or where there are serious health and safety 
or personal protection issues that need to be addressed or in discharge of a 
statutory homelessness duty. 

 
2) Urgent housing need situations where it would not be reasonable in the 

circumstances to wait for the Choice Based Lettings process to produce an 
offer.  

 
3) Where there is an evidenced threat to life in the area in which an applicant 

currently lives.   
 
4) Tenants of a CCP Partner in emergency cases whose homes are damaged 

by fire, flood or other disaster  
 
5) To facilitate a three way (or greater) mutual exchange. Mutual exchanges 

are not an allocation, but when it would make best use of its housing stock 
and support the needs of the tenants involved, the CCP may make 
available a property for a three-way exchange 

 
6) Direct offers to persons who the council has a duty to rehouse under 

section 39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973. 
 

7) Direct offers in order to meet an annual lettings plan in the circumstances 
where a decision has been taken to adopt an annual lettings plan.   

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 11 

8) Where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and 
owed a section 189B(2) Relief duty or 193(2) main duty a Partner Council 
may wish to implement a short term scheme to make direct lettings for a 
period of time to move applicants out of temporary accommodation, in order 
to manage any budgetary or legal impact. The CCP Board should be 
informed so that they can monitor to ensure that any scheme does not 
undermine the key objective, which is to ensure that direct lets do not form 
more than 15% of all lettings.  
 

9) If an applicant is not being realistic in the areas they are bidding for 
accommodation, and as a result they may be occupying a temporary 
accommodation unit that may be needed for another newly presenting 
homeless applicant.  
 

10) Where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability 
standards becomes available and there may be a need to offer that 
property to an applicant whose disability need best matches that property, 
regardless of the date they were registered. 
 

11) Where the assessment is that it is inappropriate for the applicant to 
participate in Choice Based Lettings. For example, vulnerable applicants 
nominated by Adult Social Care where work is on-going with social workers 
and care managers to decide on the best letting solution for that applicant.  
 

12) Other examples include cases where an applicant is subject to Multi 
Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), or presents a risk to 
themselves or others  

 
Furthermore, we may decide to restrict the time an applicant is able to bid for 
accommodation in an area where they would prefer to live. An offer of 
accommodation may be made in any area that has been assessed as being 
suitable and safe for the applicant to live in.  
 
We will provide information about the number and types of homes, and current 
vacancy rates, to help applicants to make informed choices. The more flexible 
applicants are in their choice of areas and property types, the sooner they are 
likely to be successful in being offered a property that meets their need.  
 
The number of direct offers will be monitored and should add up to no more 
than 15% of all lettings annually made under the scheme. This is to preserve 
Choice Based Lettings as the primary method of letting social housing 
properties in Cumbria.  
 
B) Penalty for refusing a set number of offers  
 
Any applicant in Bands A or B who refuses 3 reasonable offers within a 12-
month period will have their application placed into Band C for up to 12 
months. This is to tackle the problem of applicants making unlimited bids that 
may result in higher refusal rates with resulting extended re-letting periods.  
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 12 

Criteria setting out what will be considered to be, and not be, a reasonable 
offer is set out in Appendix 4. A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type 
will normally be considered unreasonable. 
 
C) Offers of accommodation made to any applicant owed any statutory 
homelessness duty under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
 
Specifically, for applicants owed the section 189B(2) ‘relief of homelessness’ 
duty, or the ‘main homelessness duty’ under section 193(2) of the Housing Act 
1996 Part 7, the need to offer suitable housing may be considered more 
important than the need for the applicant to wait for an offer of accommodation 
in a location where they would prefer to live in. 
 
If an applicant owed any of the statutory homelessness duties set out below 
refuses a written offer of suitable social housing accommodation made through 
this policy, then the duty owed to them will be discharged and they will lose any 
priority status afforded to them because of that homeless duty owed.  
 
Applicants owed a statutory homeless duty will be identified through the IT 
system at the shortlisting stage. On identification of a suitable property the RP 
and LA partners will agree the a process for ensuring the a ‘final offer warning 
letter’ will be sent to the homeless applicant owed a statutory homelessness 
duty set out below. This will normally be to inform the relevant local authority 
Housing options Team that an offer is to made so they can send out a ‘final 
offer warning letter’ 
 
In these circumstances unless they have another reason to be awarded a 
statutory housing need Band A or B under this policy, they will be placed into 
Band C. The offer they have refused will count as the first offer out of the 3 
offers allowed within the 12 months period. They will no longer be owed any 
banding award for being owed a statutory homelessness duty, as that duty 
would have been brought to an end when they refused a suitable offer of social 
housing.    
 
A statutory homeless duty is defined as:  
a) The prevention of homelessness duty under Section 195(2)  
b) The ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)   
c) Where the relief duty has come to an end and an applicant is then owed a 

section 190 Intentionally homeless temporary accommodation duty to 
provide them with a reasonable opportunity to secure alternative 
accommodation for occupation (section 190(2) duty),  

d) The section 193(2) Main Homelessness duty or the section 193C(4) 
‘reduced’ section 193 duty  

 
For operational guidance notes:  
Note 1: Where it has been decided to refer the case to another authority at 
either the ‘Relief Stage’ or at the ‘Main Duty stage’ of their homeless 
application, an applicant will not receive any banding for being owed any 
homelessness duty as the Council will owe no duty (other than, depending on 
the circumstances) an interim accommodation duty. Being owed an interim 
accommodation duty pending the outcome of a local connection referral does 
not qualify an applicant to be owed a banding A or B  

Page 90

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 13 

 
Note 2: Where a Cumbria District Council has ended any statutory homeless 
duty and is exercising its power to provide accommodation pending a review 
decision (section 188(3) power) no statutory duty will be owed by the Council 
unless the outcome of any review is favourable for the applicant. Therefore 
where a review has been requested any banding priority for being owed any of 
the homelessness duties will be removed. 
 
D) Where applicants in Band A have not bid within 3 months of being 
awarded Band A 
 
Band A is an award of additional preference based on an applicant’s very 
urgent need to be housed. The need to house someone urgently will be 
undermined if an applicant fails to bid because they may, for example, be 
waiting for the ‘perfect property’ to become available.  
 
Therefore an award of Band A will be reviewed after 3 months for any applicant 
who has not bid, or where the view is that bids have been made but are not 
realistic.  
 
The review after 3 months could result in a decision that:  
 
a) The Band A award should continue with further reviews scheduled for every 

3 months, or 
b) The Band A award should be removed with the applicant losing additional 

preference and being placed into Band B, or  
c) That a direct offer should be made as soon as possible due to the urgent 

need for the applicant to move.  
 
Note: There may be circumstances where no suitable properties have become 
available for an applicant to bid on within the 3-month period. In these 
circumstances an applicant will not have Band A removed and will continue to 
be able to bid. However, in recognition of their urgent need to move it may be 
agreed with the relevant local authority to make a direct offer for any property 
that is assessed as suitable to meet their urgent housing need.  
 
 

  

Page 91

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 14 

 Section 2: Who can apply to the Housing Register and the criteria for 
assessing who is eligible to be included 

 
 
The CCP Housing Register is a single list of applicants across Cumbria who 
qualifies to be included on the scheme. It includes new applicants and existing 
social housing tenants living in Cumbria who are seeking a transfer.  
 
Anyone over the age of 16 is eligible to join the Housing Register if their 
current address is their only home, or sole residence, and they are not already 
registered through someone else’s housing application. 
 
If an applicant is under 18 years of age they will not normally be offered a 
tenancy. This does not apply to young people living in a foster home or in 
residential care provided by Social Services for whom re-housing under the 
Children Act has been agreed and who are within 6 months of their 18th 
birthday. There is an agreed protocol between the Housing and Social 
Services departments covering housing for applicants who are looked after, or 
were formerly looked after.  
  
Any offer to an applicant who is under the age of 18 will only be made after 
their ability to manage a tenancy has been fully assessed. This assessment is 
to make sure that they can cope with being a tenant at a young age and that 
they do not risk losing that tenancy offered through a lack of support.  
 
If a person who is 16 or 17 is granted a tenancy, this will be held in trust until 
they reach 18. This means that another suitable person (such as a parent, 
legal guardian, social worker or relative) will be responsible for the tenancy.  
 
The eligibility persons from abroad qualification rules  
 
Everyone can apply to join the register but there are some groups of people 
who by law cannot join the register, regardless of their housing need or 
circumstances. These are people who: 

 

 Come under the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ eligibility rules and 
cannot lawfully be given housing help;  

 Do not live habitually in the Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, the 
Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland); 

 Do not have the right to live in the UK;  

 Plus other categories of people who the Government may in the future, 
decide are not eligible for housing assistance. 

 
Under sections 160ZA (1), (2) and (4) of the Housing Act 1996 the CCP cannot 
allocate a tenancy, or nominate a person for housing, if they are a person who 
is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation by virtue of being a 
person subject to immigration control or a person from abroad who is 
prescribed as ineligible. 
 
The relevant regulations that apply to eligibility are: 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 15 

 Regulations 3 and 4 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(England) Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294 

 All subsequent amendments including ‘The Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 
2019 (SI 2019/861) 

 
The rules are complicated and anyone who is impacted or believe they may be 
impacted can approach any CCP Partner for advice, or seek independent legal 
advice.  
 
The rules will change from 2021 due to the UK’s exit from the EU and new 
regulations regarding eligibility for housing based on the EU settlement 
scheme. This policy will be amended to take into account any new rules.  
 
The qualification rules adopted under the Policy 
 
In addition to the Government’s ‘persons from abroad’ rules setting out when a 
person is ineligible for an allocation of housing accommodation the housing 
laws allow for the CCP to define in the Policy who will be regarded as 
‘qualifying persons’ (section 160ZA).  
 
What this means is that under section 160ZA(7) is that the Policy can set out 
classes of people who are, or are not, qualifying persons. A number of 
qualification rules have been adopted by the CCP. There are also a number of 
defined exceptions to all, or an individual qualification rule. The qualification 
rules and exceptions are set out below.  
 
Qualification Rule 1: Local Connection 
 
Only those applicants with a local connection to Cumbria and who also have 
an assessed statutory housing need, as defined by this policy, are eligible to 
be included for the statutory reasonable preference housing needs Bands A 
and B. The local connection rules do not prevent an applicant from being 
awarded Band C as long as they meet the other qualification rules set, for 
example – as long as they are not disqualified through the unacceptable 
behavior rule.  
 
There will be some properties advertised that may be subject to additional local 
connection requirements however, these will be clearly stated in the advert 
where this is the case. A local connection is defined as:  
 
a) Have lived within any area of Cumbria for the past year, or for 3 years in the 

last 5 and that residence was of their choice.  
b) Have immediate family (mother, father, brother, sister, son, daughter) who 

are currently living in Cumbria and have done so for at least the last 3 years  
c) Are employed in permanent employment in Cumbria. Employment is 

defined as paid employment for 16 hours or more per week for a period of 
one year, or self-employment where an applicant can demonstrate that the 
self-employed work they perform is in the Cumbria area and is on average 
16 hours a week or more. The employment must be based on their actual 
place of work in the area and not based on a head office or regional office 
situated in the area but from which the applicant does not work. Where 

Page 93

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 16 

working hours fluctuate i.e. casual or zero hours contract, an average will 
be taken over the last three months, or 

d) Have close family (normally mother, father, brother, sister, son or daughter) 
that have lived in Cumbria for a minimum of the past 3 years. We will 
consider whether there are exceptional circumstances where other family 
members may be considered as close. For example, the circumstances 
where an extended family member brought up a person in the absence of 
their own parents.  

e) Where there is an exceptional need to move to the area as determined for 
very special circumstances. 

 
For the purposes of determining local connection for residence in Cumbria, this 
will include:  
 
1) Residency in a non-traditional dwelling, such as a mobile home that is 

placed on a residential site, or an official pitch where it is demonstrated that 
this their permanent place of residence and can be evidenced through 
paying council tax. 

2) People who are forced to sleep rough in Cumbria if they meet the 
qualification period for residency. 

 
The exemptions to the residency qualification rule are:  
 
1) An applicant is homeless and a Cumbrian Council has accepted the section 

189B ‘relief of homelessness duty or the main section 193(2) housing duty 
under the Housing Act 1996, and they are not intending to refer the 
applicant to another Council under the homelessness local connection 
rules. 
 

2) A Cumbria District Council has placed an applicant into temporary 
accommodation outside of Cumbria. 
 

3) Where there are significant and special circumstances requiring a move 
into Cumbria. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis following a 
request from the applicant or from the information submitted on their 
housing register application. Examples include:  
a) Reasons of safety; i.e. when an applicant is fleeing domestic abuse or 

hate crime from another area, or 
b) Is on a witness protection programme and the CCP have agreed that 

there is an essential reason why they need to move to Cumbria  
 

4) Applicants who are leaving an institution such as a prison or secure unit or 
a hospital, rehabilitation centre, refuge, hostel or supported accommodation 
scheme that is not in Cumbria and the applicant was resident in Cumbria 
for one year one year immediately preceding residency in an institution, or 
3 out of the last 5 years immediately before they were accommodated in 
that institution.  
 

5) The CCP will consider any application from a gypsy or traveller household 
where the applicant may not meet the continuous period of residence rule, 
as the period may have been broken by travelling. The CCP will consider 
the facts of each case when deciding whether the rule should be waived.  

Page 94

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 17 

 
6) Care Leavers below the age of 25 years who are, or were, owed a duty 

under section 23C of the Children Act 1989 by Cumbria County Council and 
have been looked after in accommodation outside of Cumbria. This will 
include care leavers who are still receiving after care support from 
Children’s Service until they are 25, and some care leavers who are in full-
time education who wish to move back to Cumbria on completion of their 
education.  

 
7) Applicants that satisfy the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for 

Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 2012. These are:  
a) Applicants who are serving members of the regular armed forces  
b) Applicants who served in the regular armed forces within the 5 years 

immediately prior to the date of their application 
c) Applicants who are serving or former serving members of the regular armed 

forces or reserve forces who suffer from a serious injury, illness or disability 
sustained as a result of their service 

d) Applicants who are a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a former serving 
member of the regular armed forces and have recently ceased (or will soon 
cease) to be entitled to reside in services accommodation following the 
death of their spouse/civil partner. 
 

8) Applicants who satisfy the right to move criteria. The Right to Move 
qualification regulations 20155 states that Local Connection criteria must 
not be applied to existing social tenants who seek to move from another 
Council district in England and who have a need to move for work related 
reasons to avoid hardship. 
 
To qualify the applicant must: 
 
 Be social housing tenant living in England 
 Wish to join the Housing Register in Cumbria due to work related 

reasons to avoid hardship are able to do so provided that they can 
provide evidence to that effect that is accepted. 

 Satisfy the criteria that the tenant needs, rather than wishes to move for 
work related reasons and if they were unable to do so would result in 
hardship. 

 
Qualification rule 2: The requirement to give permission to obtain and 
share an applicant’s personal information  
 
This is a condition of being accepted onto the housing register and applies to 
the applicant, or any member of the applicant’s household. 
 
Qualification rule 3: Homeownership, or legal interest in homeownership  
 
An applicant cannot qualify for Bands A or B of the housing register (see 
section on exemptions) if they own a residential property in the UK or 
elsewhere, including freehold, leasehold, joint ownership or shared ownership 
(applicants who have been the owner of a residential property within the last 5 
years will be required to provide proof of the proceeds from the sale and of the 
disposal of the proceeds). This includes properties owned and rented out to 

Page 95

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 18 

other persons and or properties in other countries. However, applicants will be 
able to qualify for Band C.  
 
Applicants who own or part own accommodation, or who have a legal interest 
in home ownership (for example through marriage or civil partnership in 
accommodation owned by their spouse or civil partner) also do not qualify. 
 
However, if as a result of a divorce settlement a Court has ordered that an 
applicant may not reside in the former matrimonial or civil partnership home in 
which they still have a legal interest for a period which is likely to exceed 5 
years, then the Applicant will be treated as if they do not own, or part own 
accommodation. 
 
Qualification rule 4: Financial resources  
 
Applicants who are considered to have sufficient financial resources to buy 
suitable accommodation in Cumbria will not qualify for Bands A or B but can 
qualify for Band C. ‘Sufficient financial resources’ are defined as sufficient 
capital to buy or rent privately; or sufficient income to raise a mortgage to buy 
or rent privately; or a combination of both. The income and savings limits are:  
 
1) Applicants (both single persons and couples) who have total savings, 

investments and/or assets of £25,000 or more.  
2) Applicants whose total gross household income from all sources exceeds 

an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single persons) or joint income of 
£60,000 or more (for couples).  

 
'Sufficient financial resources' includes any assets or investments even if they 
are not immediately available to the applicant, such as any residential or non-
residential property that they own or part own anywhere in the UK or abroad.   
 
Any lump sum received by a member of the armed forces as compensation for 
an injury or disability on active service will be disregarded. 
 
Although this qualification rule will mean an applicant cannot be granted the 
statutory housing needs bands A or B, it does not prevent them being 
considered for any low cost home ownership schemes, such as rent to buy, 
shared ownership/equity, discounted market sale and starter homes or lower 
demand properties. Information can be given on request regarding which 
Housing Associations or developers are currently operating any of the above 
schemes and how applications can be made. 
 
Applicants who do not qualify for Bands A or B under the homeownership, 
legal interest or financial resources rules may be considered as an exception if: 
 
a) They own or part own accommodation or have a legal interest in 

accommodation or have financial resources above the thresholds and  
b) They have a substantial disability; and their current home is not suitable for 

their specific needs.  
 

This exemption is intended to cover situations where a person owns their own 
home but where it is agreed that they are no longer able to manage in it due to 

Page 96

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 19 

their advancing years, or due to developing a substantial disability that makes 
living in their home impracticable. This would be the circumstances where 
selling up is unlikely to provide sufficient funds for the applicant to purchase 
alternative accommodation that would be suitable for their disability needs.  
 
Qualification rule 5: Failure to Bid 
 
This is a disqualification rule that will be applied to applicants who are included 
on the Housing Register.  
 
The CCP will monitor the bidding patterns to identify applicants who fail to bid 
and identify any applicants where their failure to bid could be the result of a 
vulnerability and not being able to understand the bidding system. In these 
circumstances the rule will not be applied.  
 
Any applicant who has failed to bid for more than twelve months will be 
removed from the Housing Register to reduce the administrative burden of 
maintaining the register. This is based on the assumption that an applicant who 
has not bid for accommodation in 12 months is unlikely to continue to be in 
housing need. Any applicant removed from the register can reapply if they 
have a housing need.  
 
If an applicant has only registered because they are interested in biding for 
accommodation for a new section 106 rural developments that may be being 
built, this will be considered as an exception to the ‘no bid in 12 months’ rule.  
 
Qualification rule 6: Fraud or giving False Information 
 
Applicants who are found to have withheld or given false information may be 
removed from the register and will not be able to reapply for a period of 12 
months.  Decisions to remove the person from the register will be made based 
on the seriousness of the false information given, or an assessment of why 
important information was withheld.  
 
For details on how we will assess the question of alleged fraud or false 
information see appendix 1.3  

 
Qualification rule 7: Circumstances where an applicant has current or 
former social housing rent arrears or another relevant recoverable 
housing related debt. 
 
This section sets out the rules for when an applicant  
 
a) Will not be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register because of rent 
arrears or a housing related debt, or  
 
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will be not be allowed to bid for properties 
advertised until the rent arrears or housing related debt have been resolved to 
the satisfaction of the CCP using the criteria set out below.  
 
When carrying out an assessment, we will take into consideration all housing 
related debts, associated with either a current or former tenancy where this 

Page 97

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 20 

relates to any social housing provider in the UK. Note the rules in this section 
apply only to social housing former or current rent arrears, occupation of 
temporary accommodation debts, and some other forms of housing related 
debt. This section does not cover any rent arrears for a private sector tenancy 
or licence. This is covered under the unacceptable behaviour rules set out in 
Qualification rule 8 below.  
 
Note: the definition of a housing debt will not include debts that are statute 
barred. The debt will be considered statute barred where an applicant, or their 
representative or someone else they held the account with hasn’t: 
 
 Made a payment in the last 6 years 
 Written to the creditor acknowledging the debt in the last 6 years 
 Had a county court judgement (CCJ) relating to the debt in the last 6 years 
 
For the purposes of this qualification rule housing related debts include:  
 
a) Current or former tenancy rent arrears of a social housing tenancy;  
b) Outstanding re-chargeable repairs; 
c) Current and former housing related service charge arrears; 
d) Bed and breakfast or other temporary accommodation charge arrears for a 

licence or a tenancy 
e) Housing benefit overpayments for a social housing tenancy;  
f) Failing to adhere to the terms of an agreed payment plan in relation to rent 

arrears or housing debt for a social housing tenancy or temporary 
accommodation 

g) Any court costs associated with any of the above debts 
 
Housing related debts apply to both the applicant and to any members of their 
household that are included in the application. 
 
The purpose of this qualification rule is two fold.  
1) To ensure any debt to a former landlord is recovered and  
2) To focus on whether an applicant's history creates a risk of future non-
payment, rather than simply on the existence of a current outstanding debt.   
 
The following framework will be used to guide officers to apply this qualification 
rule. We will consider:  
 

 Whether the applicant still owes that debt, and if they do, the extent of the 
arrears/debt and whether it is a recoverable debt or a statute barred debt. 

 Whether there possible exceptional circumstances that need to be 
considered.  

 Whether the claimant has taken debt advice acted on it, and entered into 
and begun to implement any arrangement to clear the arrears/debt. 

 If an arrangement has been made, the amount of arrears/debt paid off, any 
amount outstanding, and the regularity of any payments made. 

 
After applying the above procedure it may be decided that the applicant does 
not qualify for the housing register or that they will be allowed to qualify, but not 
allowed to bid for advertised properties until the matter has been resolved to 
the satisfaction of the CCP.  

Page 98

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 21 

 
There is no time limit regarding when a person can make a new application 
following disqualification. Where a new application is made we will assess 
whether the applicant has taken appropriate action to address the debt. When 
disqualified the applicant will have been informed of the steps they need to 
take to resolve the debt in order to qualify.  
 
How decisions for applicants with a social housing debt will be made  
 
a) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have not made any 
arrangement to address the debt 
 
Applicants with debts of £1000 or more who have not made any arrangement 
to address the debt should be ineligible to join the register unless the 
circumstances surrounding the debt are exceptional and the assessment 
concludes that there is no real risk of future non-payment.  
 
b) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have made any 
arrangement to address the debt 
 
Applicants will be permitted to join the register and be able to bid for 
accommodation if they have maintained a payment arrangement for at least 13 
weeks and have either: 
 Repaid at least £750; or 
 Repaid at least 25% of their original debt 
 
Applicants who satisfy the above will be permitted to bid for properties. All 
partner landlords are encouraged to abide by these guidelines and to accept 
bids on this basis. It is however, accepted that the housing association to 
whom the debt is owed may wish to see that a longer period of repayment 
should be kept to. Where this is the case the period should not be more than a 
further 13-39 weeks in addition to the 13-week period that the applicant has 
already paid. Any requirement by the partner to whom the debt is owed for 
payments to be maintained for more than 13 weeks should not prevent an 
applicant from bidding for properties advertised by another housing association 
partner.  
 
All partner landlords are discouraged from requiring a debt of £1000 plus to be 
paid in full. This disincentives applicants from making any attempt at payment 
and may result in an applicant having to demonstrate an extended repayment 
period of several years before they can be considered for accommodation. 
This would be unfair on applicant’s who have demonstrated a commitment to 
pay off the debt and that the risk of any further debt for a new tenancy is low. It 
also makes it more likely that the housing association is unable to recover the 
debt.  
 
c) Applicants with debts of £1-£499  
 
Applicants with debts of £1-£499 should be eligible to join the register and 
eligible to bid, unless there is clear evidence of a future risk of non-payment.  
Clear evidence of a future risk could include factors such as: 
a) A long history of housing debt; 

Page 99

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 22 

b) A long history of poor rent payments; and 
c) A long history of breached payment arrangements. 
 
Where such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until there is 
evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include factors such 
as: 
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 1-8 weeks; 
b) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been 

addressed. 
 
d) Applicants with debts of £500-£999 
 
Applicants with debts of £500-£999 should be eligible to join the register but 
ineligible to bid, unless the applicant can demonstrate there is no real risk of 
future non-payment. 
 
Evidence there is a no real risk of future non-payment could include factors 
such as: 
a) A history of not having housing debts; 
b) A history of regular rent payments; and 
c) A history of maintained payment arrangements. 
 
Where no such evidence exists the applicant should be unable to bid until 
there is evidence of rehabilitation. Evidence of rehabilitation could include 
factors such as: 
 
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 8-26 weeks; 
b) Reducing the debt to below £500 (in which case the above rules at c would 

apply) 
c) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been 

addressed. 
 
Applicants who are disqualified for a housing related debt of £1,000+ should 
notify the CCP immediately when they have either repaid at least £750 or 
repaid at least 25% of their original debt so they can qualify for the register. If it 
is agreed that the matter has been resolved and they can register, their 
effective date will be the date they have been assessed as qualifying for the 
register and will not be the date of their first application which resulted in the 
decision that they do not qualify.   
 
The only exceptions to this qualification rule are applicants who can 
demonstrate that their circumstances are exceptional and that they would face 
serious hardship or risk through not being allowed to qualify. An exception may 
be considered where for example an applicant has a good payment history 
with a debt resulting from a one off incident or problem such as relating to 
Universal Credit, or benefits reforms, or where a tenant had to flee domestic 
abuse and a subsequent debt built up for their tenancy.   
 
Additional procedural information on the consideration of exceptional 
circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt Relief Order’, 
‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary Agreement (IVA)’ are set out 
in appendix 1.4  

Page 100

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 23 

 
Qualification rule 8: Serious unacceptable behaviour  
 
This will apply where an applicant, or any member of their current or 
prospective household, has a history of serious unacceptable behaviour that, in 
the view of the CCP, makes them unsuitable to be a tenant. It is important to 
note that whether an applicant’s behavior means that they are not allowed to 
register is entirely a matter for the CCP and that the qualification rule is not 
restricted to whether the unacceptable behavior would entitle the Council to an 
outright Possession Order if the applicant were to be a tenant. This was the 
‘threshold test’ set by the legislation for Housing Allocation Policies until the 
Localism Act was implemented in 2012. Since 2012 the legislation allows 
qualification for unacceptable behavior to be defined through the rules adopted 
in any new Housing Allocation Policy.   
 
In applying this qualification rule the CCP will decide on the facts of the case 
whether:  
 
a) The applicant should not qualify to be included on the Housing Register due 
to their (or household member’s) serious unacceptable behaviour, or 
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will not be allowed to bid until the applicant (or 
household member) has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the assessing 
officer that their behavior has changed.  
 
In the circumstances described by b) the applicant will be placed in the band 
that reflects their housing need and will continue to accrue ‘time’ on the register 
for the band awarded, despite not being able to bid. Once they have resolved 
their unacceptable behavior their date within the Band will remain the date they 
were awarded that band for their housing need and will not be the date they 
resolved the unacceptable behavior to the satisfaction of the CCP.   
 
The rule of non-qualification, or qualification but being unable to bid, will apply 
where the CCP is satisfied that an applicant (or a member of their current or 
prospective household) has:  
 
1) Demonstrated a serious failure to adhere to the terms of any current or 

previous social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement. This 
includes failing to maintain any previous social rented or private sector 
rented property within the terms of their tenancy agreement, or committing 
acts causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or 
others in the locality of where they live or where they previously have lived. 
Non-qualification will apply until the applicant (or a member of their 
prospective household) has demonstrated, to the satisfaction of the CCP, 
that circumstances have changed such that the previous conduct is unlikely 
to reoccur.  In many cases this could include demonstrating cooperation 
with support agencies leading to a substantial improvement in behaviour.  

2) Conduct likely to cause nuisance or annoyance if they were to be offered a 
tenancy. This is conduct or behavior that does not only relate to a previous 
social housing or private rented sector tenancy agreement but conduct or 
behaviour that the CCP has assessed is still current. This includes where 
an applicant or a member of their current or prospective household is the 

Page 101

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 24 

subject of actions being taken by a Council (or some other recognised 
body) on grounds of alleged Anti Social Behaviour (ASB).  

3) Rent arrears for their last private rented tenancy where the CCP has been 
able to obtain information that confirms on the balance of probabilities a 
debt is owed. If there is a debt owed it will be for the assessing officer to 
decide on the level and debt and any facts gathered regarding the level of 
debt and the reasons for it whether the applicant should be classified as a 
non qualifying case or, should be allowed to qualify but prevented from 
bidding until the debt is resolved, or should be allowed to qualify with no 
penalty applied. 

4) Circumstances where the applicant, or any member of their household, has 
assaulted a member of staff, whether or not an injunction is being sought or 
has already been obtained 

 
Additional guidance for assessing officers and the framework to be used to 
apply the test of unacceptable behaviour are set out in appendix 1.5  
 
Qualification rule 9 – Existing CCP Tenants who are not assessed as 
Band A or B for having a statutory housing need.  
 
Existing tenants of any Council or Housing Association located in Cumbria or 
outside of Cumbria will only be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register if 
they have an assessed housing need that would qualify them for Bands A or B.  
 
This does not prevent a tenant who is not in housing need from seeking a 
transfer through the ‘Mutual Exchange Scheme’.  
 
How exceptional circumstances will be considered for any of the 
qualification rules  
 
The CCP retains the ability, in exceptional circumstances, to exercise its 
discretion when applying any of the qualification rules. Note, it is for the 
applicant to request that discretion should be applied for exceptional 
circumstances and once requested this will be considered by a senior housing 
operational manager from the Council normally for the Council area where the 
applicant has applied from. A request for a review of a decision that an 
applicant does not meet the qualification rule will be taken as a request for any 
exceptional circumstances to be considered. The delegated responsible 
manager for each assessing organisation will consider:  
 
1) Whether the application would result in the applicant being awarded a 
statutory housing need reasonable preference Band A or B under the Policy, 
and if so 
2) Whether the applicant’s circumstances (or those of a member of the 
applicant’s household) are so exceptional that the qualification rule should be 
waived.  
 
They will assess the case for exceptional circumstances and will record all 
decisions reached along with full reasons for that decision. The applicant will 
receive a written decision with the reasons set out.  
 

Page 102

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 25 

Please note 1: that the CCP cannot waive the eligibility rules for any applicant 
who is not allowed to access social housing under the ‘person from abroad’ 
legal eligibility rules set by Central Government. 
 
Please note 2: In deciding whether an applicant’s circumstances are 
exceptional we will fully consider the Equality Act 2010 and Children Act 2004. 
For the Equality Act we will specifically consider:  
  
a) Whether the person, or a member of their household that they wish to be 

housed with them, meets the definition for one or more of the 9 protected 
characteristics in listed in the Equality Act 2010 

b) If we agree that the applicant or a member of their household comes under 
the definition for a protected characteristic the CCP will fully comply with 
section 149 of 2010 Equality Act and ensure that it has obtained all relevant 
information relating to the applicant’s protected characteristic and will 
consider that if they were not able to qualify for the scheme, whether this 
would have an exceptionally detrimental impact on the person with the 
protected characteristic, and  

c) Ensure that any decision that the applicant’s circumstances are not 
exceptional will be a decision that is a proportionate means of achieving the 
legitimate aims set out in this policy in section 1.  

  

Page 103

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 26 

 
Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register 
 

 
How to apply 
 
Applications should be made online by accessing the housing allocations 
section of the Cumbria Choice website and completing the on-line application 
form - https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/38.aspx 
 
An applicant will be asked to choose one housing organisation to administer 
their application. This can be the local authority for where they are resident or a 
housing association partner. If the applicant is a tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’ 
partner their application must be administered by that housing association. If 
they are a former tenant of a ‘Cumbria Choice’ partner, that partner must 
administer their application.  
 
Applicants can call any of the CCP Council or Housing Association Partners if 
they need help to make their application on-line. There is also free access to 
the Internet at libraries, Council offices, Housing Association Offices and at 
some community facilities. A telephone or office appointment can be offered 
when an applicant has no access to the Internet or is unable to use the 
Internet. To mitigate any impact it is agreed that paper forms will still be 
available in exceptional circumstances where it is agreed an applicant is 
unable to complete an on-line form. 
 
The Cumbria Choice website contains a list of all of the supporting documents 
that an applicant must provide in order to progress their application. In most 
circumstances an applicant will be able to upload their documents.  

 
Where the applicant indicates that they have medical problems they will also 
be requested to complete an additional medical assessment form on-line.  
 
Once the on-line application has been received there may be a need for 
additional information. If so applicants will receive a phone call, email or letter 
setting out the details for any additional information needed.  
 
Prisoners can register in the 6-month period prior to their date of release.  They 
are able to express an interest in a property in the 2-week period prior to 
release but must be able to accept the tenancy on the date required by the 
housing provider.  
 
If accepted onto the register, applicants will be informed of:  
 
1) The band they have been placed in (this determines priority)  
2) The date of application (may be used to determine priority within the band 

allocated)  
3) The size and type of properties for which they can bid 
4) Their application reference number (applicants will need this to bid)  
5) How to appeal against their banding if they think it is wrong.  
 

Page 104

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1

https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/38.aspx


 27 

They will also receive a user guide. This will inform them about how the 
scheme works and will include such information as:  
 Where to look for advertised properties;  
 How to bid for a property  
 What checks are made before any offer is confirmed? 
 Feedback on their bid 
 
Where a band is allocated what date will this be from?  
 
The band start date is the date that the housing register application was 
received for assessment, unless an applicant’s housing need and/or 
circumstances changes and they are as a result placed in a higher band. In 
these circumstances they will have their band start date reset as the higher 
band reflects how long they have had the higher level of housing need. 
 
Note for eligible homeless applicants who meet the qualification rules to join 
the Housing Register the following will apply with regard to their Band start 
date:  
a) Owed a section 195(2) Prevention of homelessness duty – Band date is the 

date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application 
b) Owed a section 189B (2) Relief of homelessness duty – Band date is the 

date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application 
c) Owed the Main section 193(2) duty – Band date is the date the Relief of 

homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Main duty was owed. To 
start the date at the date the Main duty was owed would disadvantage an 
applicant by 56 days who has been found to be in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless 

d) Circumstances where the relief duty has ended and the applicant is 
assessed at this point as not being in priority need - Band date is the date 
the Relief of homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Relief duty 
is ended and the non-priority decision confirmed. To start the date at the 
date the Relief duty was brought to an end would disadvantage an 
applicant by 56 days who has been found to be homeless but not in priority 
need  

 
Assessing Applications 
  
In order to assess an applicant’s housing need and therefore their place on the 
Housing Register the scheme uses a needs based banding system detailed in 
section 4 below.  
 
The Bands are awarded to reflect housing need, whereby the need reflected by 
the highest Band indicates the greater need for housing.  
 
Applicants will be required to sign a declaration, or to give informed consent, 
to: 
 
a) Confirm that the information given is correct and that they will notify the 

CCP of any change in their circumstances. 
b) Give consent to allow enquiries to be made concerning their eligibility for 

housing and level of priority.  

Page 105

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 28 

c) Give consent to allow information to be provided to other partner 
organisations that are part of the scheme. 

 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to provide all the information requested to 
assess their circumstances, and to provide any supporting information or 
documents that are requested. Incomplete applications will not be made active 
until such time as the CCP is satisfied that it has in its possession all of the 
information it requires to complete its assessment.  
 
All incomplete applications will be cancelled after a period of 28 days 
measured from the date information has been requested and not provided. If 
canceled this does not prevent the applicant making a subsequent application 
at a later date, although in such cases the effective date of registration would 
not be backdated to the earlier application date. 
 
The CCP may request information or a reference from an applicant’s current or 
previous social landlord and may, depending on whether the application gives 
rise to any concern, request a reference from the most recent private sector 
landlord if the applicant is or has been a private sector tenancy.  
 
Where a landlord does not reply a reminder will be sent, and if still not 
forthcoming any other information or records available will be checked to try to 
determine whether there have been any concerns over the way an applicant 
may have conducted their private rented tenancy. An applicant should not be 
disadvantaged if, despite every effort, it is not possible to obtain a reference 
from their current or previous landlord.  
 
All applications are subject to certain verification checks and may be 
reassessed: 
 
 At the point of initial application 
 Following any change of circumstance notified to the CCP by the applicant 
 Following any routine validation audits 
 Following an annual review of the application 
 At the point of an offer of accommodation 
 At the point of letting 
 
Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions 
 
In the interests of community all applicants and members of their prospective 
household will be requested to disclose any pending court cases or unspent 
criminal convictions.  
 
The CCP may use any information disclosed (or any other information obtained 
during the assessment or following registration) to ascertain whether the 
applicant should be disqualified from joining, or remaining on the register, due 
to applying the serious unacceptable behaviour rule including whether they 
may pose a serious risk to a community if they were to be housed.  
 
Spent convictions are not required to be disclosed and will not be taken into 
account in assessing that person’s eligibility to join the register. The 
assessment will instead reflect whether there is evidence of any current 

Page 106

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 29 

serious unacceptable behavior regardless of whether a person has been 
convicted in the past for that behavior.  
 
If the CCP decide that, on the information obtained during the assessment 
process, there is a real pressing need for a ‘Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS)’ check, or a police check, a supplementary request for information and 
declaration will be sent to the applicant asking for more details and for 
permission from the applicant for the CCP to make the relevant check. Failure 
to give permission may result in the application not being made live whilst the 
CCP consider the information available to it or may result in the application 
being closed through the applicant failing qualification rule 2 which is to give 
permission for the CCP to undertake all reasonable enquiries.   
 
Information gained will not automatically exclude an applicant from the register. 
Information received may also be used to make informed decisions about the 
suitability of any property that may be offered.  
 
All assessments will be carried out in accordance with the data protection and 
information sharing policies and legal requirements. 
 
Who can be included in the Application? 
 
The Application can include the following household members: 
 
a) Spouses or Civil Partners where the applicant lives with and/or intends to 

live with their Spouse or Civil Partner. 
 
b) Partners where the applicant is currently cohabiting with a member of the 

same or opposite sex. 
 
c) Children who reside with and are dependent upon the applicant.  Children 

are defined as under 18 for these purposes.  Where there is any dispute as 
to whether children reside with and are dependent upon the applicant, the 
CCP will apply the test in Section 189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 to decide (see below).    

 
d) A Carer where the assessing officer has agreed that on the evidence there 

is a need for a live in Carer. The Carer is a person who provides or intends 
to provide care for another adult. It is either a relative or friend who assists 
another person in their day-to-day life. This is different from someone who 
offers care professionally or through a voluntary organisation. Even if a 
carer is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does not necessarily mean that 
it is necessary for them to reside with the person who is being cared for. An 
application to include a carer in a housing application will be considered by 
the assessing officer’s Manager to determine if the carer has been 
assessed by Social Care and Health as needing to provide overnight 
support. In these circumstances the applicant must provide supporting 
evidence from other agencies e.g. Social Care or a Health professional. 

 
e) Any other household member at the discretion of a manager delegated by 

the assessing body to make such decisions.  
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 30 

f) Note: Individuals can only be on 1 application. Where someone has an 
application in their own name (or with a partner) they cannot also be 
included as a household member on another application unless they are a 
victim of domestic abuse. If this is the case they should remove themselves 
from their previous application.  

 
How joint applications will be considered and when will a joint tenancy 
normally be granted? 
 
Joint applications will be accepted and will be treated as one application. The 
housing need of the full household will be considered in assessing housing 
need.  
 
Joint tenancies are normally granted where applicants have a long-term 
commitment e.g. married and unmarried couples, civil partners but this 
decision is down to the individual housing association who will decide whether 
to allow a joint tenancy depending on the rules adopted by that association.  
 
Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child 
Arrangement Orders  
 
As part of the assessment process the CCP will record whether the applicant 
claims to have children that live with them part of the week whether or not this 
arrangement is set by the court or not. The CCP will apply the test in Section 
189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to decide whether any child both 
lives with and is dependent on the applicant. Unless this test is passed an 
applicant will only be able to be considered for the size of accommodation 
relevant to their circumstances.   
 
There will be cases where after the section 189(1)(b) assessment it is agreed 
that children live with the applicant on a ‘shared arrangement’ even though 
they do not exclusively live with the applicant.  
 
In these cases, and in cases where an applicant has contact with children who 
stay over but do not live with the applicant, the applicant will be advised as to 
what size of property the applicant they are likely to be able to access and the 
rules applied by each partner housing association for allocating 
accommodation to households where children do not exclusively live with an 
applicant. The decision in this respect of each partner Housing Association is 
likely to vary and will depend on a number of factors including: 
 
a) The ability of the applicant to afford the rent with or without help from 

benefits 
 
b) The availability and popularity of family housing in any area that an 

applicant expresses a preference to live in. For example a Housing 
Association may be willing to be more flexible where a vacancy relates to a 
flat than a house as long as the rent is assessed as being affordable.  

 
The requirement to inform the CCP of any change of circumstances 
 

Page 108

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 31 

Applicants are required to inform the CCP of any changes in their 
circumstances, which affect their housing application.  
 
Examples of a change in circumstances include but are not limited to:  
 
a. A change of address or contact details, for either themselves or members 

of their prospective household;  
 
b. A change in their medical condition or disability (either existing or newly 

acquired);  
 
c. Additional family members or other people they wish to add to their 

application (It will be for the CCP to decide whether they will allow 
additional people to join the application);  

 
d. Any family member or any other person on the application who has left the 

accommodation; and  
 
e. Any significant changes in income, savings or assets, which may require a 

reassessment under the income and savings qualification rule.  
 
Where there is any change in an applicant‘s circumstances, an on-line change 
of circumstances form must be completed, and supporting documents must be 
provided. If there is any change to the banding, applicants will be informed in 
writing. The onus is on applicants to inform the CCP when there is a relevant 
change in their circumstances.  
 
If the change in circumstances results in a higher banding award the effective 
date will be the date they moved into the higher band. If the applicant moves to 
a lower band there will be no change to their effective date. 
 
Note, a failure to notify the CCP of changes in circumstances may lead to the 
offer of any housing being withdrawn and the application suspended whilst the 
changes are verified. 
 
Applications from members of the Council, Board Members, and staff  

Elected Councillors, or Housing Association Board Members, cannot be 
involved in assessing housing applications or the allocation of housing. 
However, this does not prevent Councillors seeking or providing information on 
behalf of applicants.   
 
In order to ensure that the Council is treating all applicants fairly, any 
application for housing from a Councillor, Board Member, or employee of any 
Cumbrian Council`s Housing Department or Partner Housing Association will 
be assessed in the normal way, but an offer of housing must be approved by 
the Lead Officer for the social housing partner advertising the vacant home. 
Canvassing is not allowed in any circumstances by or on behalf of members of 
staff. 
 
 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 32 

Reviewing the Register 
 
Every applicant on the Register will have their application reviewed annually, or 
more frequently as decided by the CCP in order to manage the administration 
of the register. A letter will be sent to all applicants requesting confirmation of 
their current circumstances, and asking if they wish to remain on the register.  
If a reply is not received within 28 days of the date the letter is sent the 
application will be cancelled.  
 
Cancelling Applications 
 
An application will be cancelled in the following circumstances: 
 At the request of an applicant 
 Where an applicant does not respond to an application review, within the 

specified time limit set out in any correspondence sent to them 
 Where a CCP Partner, or any other Council, or Housing Association has 

housed the applicant (unless it is assessed that the applicants’ housing 
circumstances still qualify for an award of Band A or B based on their 
housing need, but this is unlikely to be the case). An applicant that has 
been rehoused and does not have an assessed housing need could of 
course apply again and would be included in Band C with a new Band date, 
which would be the date of their application.  

 When a tenant on the housing register completes a mutual exchange 
 Where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address 
 Where the applicant has died 
 Where the applicant has not supplied information requested within 28 days 

at the application stage or the annual review stage.  
 
Where the information known is that an applicant is vulnerable, the assessing 
officer may contact the applicant, or any agency supporting them, to check 
their current circumstances before cancelling the application. 
 
If an applicant has moved into private rented accommodation rather than social 
housing the application will not be cancelled but if the result of a reassessment 
at this stage is that as a result of their changed housing circumstances they no 
longer qualify for an award of Band A or B, then they will be allocated Band C.  
 
Any applicant whose application has been cancelled has the right to ask for a 
review of that decision. 
 
Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
 
Where there is evidence that an applicant has knowingly and deliberately 
made their housing situation worse in order to gain a higher priority on the 
register, the assessment of their needs will be based on the circumstances 
before their situation changed through their actions to deliberately worsen their 
circumstances.  
 
Examples are: 
 

 Applicants who have allowed family members or others to move into their 
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial 

Page 110

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 33 

means to secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the 
property being overcrowded. 

 Applicants who have moved from previously suitable or more suitable 
accommodation which it were reasonable for them to continue to occupy, 
into a less suitable property. 

 Homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member 
within the last 5 years from the date they make their application to the 
Register.  

 Applicants who have given up affordable and suitable private rented 
accommodation which they are able to maintain, to move in with other 
relatives or friends, creating a situation of overcrowding and/or sharing of 
bathroom/kitchen and/or a split household; 

 Requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them with 
a Notice to Quit 

 
These are examples only. There may be other circumstances where the CCP 
decide that an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances 
 
The Review Procedure 
 
The CCP is committed to making the correct decisions on all applications. 
Notification letters by post or email notifying an applicant of ineligibility or non-
qualification for joining the Housing Register, or about the band that they have 
been awarded, or about any other decision concerning the facts of an 
applicant‘s case, will state that the applicant has a legal right to request a 
review of the decision made.  
 
Under the housing legislation that applies to Allocation Policies there is a legal 
right to request a review of a decision in the following circumstances: 
  
a) A decision that an applicant is ineligible, or not a qualifying person to join 

the Housing Register. 
 

b) A decision regarding which band an applicant has been awarded.  
 

c) The priority date granted for the band awarded. 
 

d) To remove an applicant from the Housing Register. 
 

e) Any decision about the facts of the case that has been used to assess their 
application. 
 

f) Where an applicant considers that a decision has been reached based on 
incorrect information. 

 
The procedure for how a request for a review will be administered is set out in 
appendix 1.6 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 111

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 34 

 
 

Section 4: How an applicant’s housing needs and circumstances are 
assessed 

 
The Banding system 

The demand for social housing exceeds supply in many areas of Cumbria and 
therefore this Allocation Policy intends to prioritise the housing of those 
applicants who are assessed as being in the greatest need. Once registered 
this does not mean that an applicant has a right to be offered social housing. 
They can be considered for housing based on their housing need but many 
applicants will unfortunately not have sufficient housing need to be offered a 
property.  

 
A Banding system will normally be used to decide when to make an offer of 
accommodation and to whom, unless the Council or Housing Association apply 
the ‘direct lets’ procedure as set out in section 1 of this policy.  
 
There are two statutory housing need bands (A and B) and one non-statutory 
housing need band (Band C). The purpose of reducing the number of bands 
from 5 under the old policy to 3 is to ensure that the policy is more transparent 
and simple to use. Once a band has been allocated based on the applicant’s 
housing need, that band would (with the exception of where a direct offer is 
made under the policy) operate as a ‘waiting list’ so that applicants can see 
progression and be given more accurate information on how long they are 
likely to wait for an offer of accommodation depending on the area and type of 
property they wish to consider. This system is fairer and aims to build 
confidence in applicants regarding the allocations process.    

The following section provides details of the 3 bands an applicant may be 
awarded. The band in which an application is placed, will be determined by 
their housing need. How the policy defines and assesses housing need is 
described in the table below. Where there are further details (beyond that 
contained in the table) of how the housing need criteria will be assessed, these 
are set out in appendix 1, for example, how officers will assess medical 
housing need claims (appendix 1.8). 

It is important to note that applicants will be placed in the appropriate band 
when it is assessed there housing need meets the set threshold. An applicant 
who qualifies under more than one housing need criteria will be awarded the 
highest priority that any one of their assessed needs is entitled to. For 
example, an applicant with a need that is awarded band A and another need 
that would be awarded band B will be awarded band A. An applicant with 
meets 2 Housing Need criteria for Band B will still only be awarded band B. 
This new housing allocation policy no longer reflects cumulative housing need 
to ensure that the policy is seen as being fair and less complicated to 
understand and administer. This will also ensure decisions reached are 
consistent.  
 
The Bands are:  
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 35 

Band A - Urgent housing need to move: These are applicants that are owed 
a statutory award of what the ‘Housing Allocation Legislation’ calls ‘reasonable 
preference’ but whom the CCP believes should also be awarded ‘additional 
priority preference’ based on their urgent and exceptional housing need. 
 
Band B – Statutory housing need to move: These are applicants that are 
owed a statutory award of reasonable preference under the policy and have 
been awarded Band B priority based on their statutory housing need. It also 
includes certain key workers granted B priority. 
 
Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need 
band awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the criteria 
adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants placed 
in band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above applicants 
from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.  
 
The CCP wish, over time, to increase the Options available to applicants in all 
3 Bands including Band C. We aim to use technology to send direct texts and 
emails to inform applicants of available housing options and this may include 
information on:    
 
1) Social rented low demand properties available now in any area of Cumbria  
2) Older person housing opportunities  
3) Affordable homes with specific rural local connection criteria or section 106 

agreement 
4) Affordable rent 
5) Rent to buy 
6) Shared ownership/equity 
7) Discounted market sale / starter homes 
8) Market rented  
9) Help to buy opportunities. 
 
The reasonable preference criteria and the Band allocated for that 
housing need criteria 
 
 

Band A: Additional preference for certain homelessness duties 
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options 
Team) 

 

This banding applies where a Cumbrian Council have accepted: 

 

1) The Section 193(2) main homelessness duty or the Section 193C(4) 
‘reduced’ Section 193 duty, or  

2) A section 189B (2) Relief duty and the applicant is, at the point of that 
189B duty being accepted, considered likely to be in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless, whether a decision to that effect has been made 
or not, and the applicant is in temporary accommodation provided by the 
Council to meet a section 188 interim accommodation duty. 

 

In these circumstances where an applicant is homeless and in temporary 
accommodation and owed a Section 189B(2) relief duty, or 193(2) main duty 

Page 113

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 36 

or a section 193C(4) reduced main duty the Council will need to move 
applicants out of temporary accommodation to manage the budgetary or legal 
impact on the Council. The applicant may still bid for properties advertised but 
due to the budgetary pressures faced by the Council and the need to maintain 
a supply of available temporary accommodation for new cases presenting as 
homeless, the Council is likely to make a direct offer of suitable 
accommodation into the private rented sector or social housing regardless of 
the preferences expressed by the applicant.  

 

Band A: Additional preference for medical or disability (See appendix 
1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment process) 

 

Where an applicant (or a member of their household) is unable to continue to 
occupy their current accommodation due to high medical need or disability. 
Examples of when Band A may be awarded include: 

 

Applicants ready to be discharged from hospital who: have somewhere to live 
but their accommodation is unsuitable due to their medical needs and cannot 
be made suitable through adaptations because of cost effectiveness or 
structural difficulties or the property cannot be adapted within a reasonable 
amount of time. 

 

Applicants who have urgent need to move due to them having medical 
problems or disabilities that are being exacerbated by their current housing 
situation. This includes applicants: 

a) Whose life is at risk due to their current housing conditions or who are 
housebound, effectively housebound or cannot access the essential 
facilities in their home and there are critical concerns about their safety, for 
example through falls due to difficulties with access. 

b) Whose condition is terminal and rehousing is required to provide a basis 
for the provision of suitable care 

c) Whose condition is life threatening and their existing accommodation is a 
major contributory factor 

d) Whose health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is likely 
to become life threatening for example, where an applicant has significant 
mental health problems which are exacerbated by their accommodation 

e) With disabilities, who have restricted mobility and are limited by their 
accommodation such that they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities 
or have difficulties accessing facilities inside and outside of their 
accommodation and require rehousing into accommodation suitable for 
their use. 

f) In overcrowded accommodation which puts the applicant at risk of 
infection, for example, where an applicant is suffering from late-stage or 
advanced HIV infection 

 

Band A: Additional preference where there is a need to move on welfare 
grounds due to exceptional impact on the applicant or a member of their 
households well being  

 

Not every circumstance that may present can be captured by the policy so 
below are examples of welfare ground cases that will be considered. The list 
is not exhaustive:  

Page 114

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 37 

 

a) Suffering extreme violence, harassment or discrimination, whether a 
hate crime or otherwise, and that it is not safe for them to remain in 
their present home/locality.  

 

b) Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse threats from an 
ex partner or family member they do not live with, extreme threats of 
violence, extreme harassment, or other extreme circumstances 
deemed to significantly affect a household’s welfare and wellbeing.  

 

c) Exceptional circumstances due to significant problems associated with 
the tenant’s occupation of a dwelling in the social or private rented 
sector and there is high risk to the tenant or their family’s safety if they 
remain in the dwelling/area.  

 

d) For applications in circumstances where there is a serious threat to the 
well being of a child and their accommodation is a major contributory 
factor to that risk. This will be in circumstances where the relevant 
manager in Children’s Services or equivalent assesses the level of risk 
exposure in relation to the child or children remaining in the current 
property as being so critical that no other reasonable options in relation 
to accommodation are available to protect the child. 

 

Band A: Additional preference Armed Forces  

 

Applicants with urgent housing who: 

a) Is serving (and will soon leave) the regular forces and is suffering from 
serious injury, illness, mental ill health, or disability which is attributable to 
the person’s service 

b) Has recently ceased, or will ceased to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the MOD following the death of that person’s 
spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces and whose 
death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service or 

c) Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
the persons service 

 

Band A: Additional preference for unfit or unsatisfactory housing  

 

There are 3 circumstances where Band A may be awarded:  

 

1: Applicants without access at all to any of the following facilities:  

No access to: 

a) A bath or shower 

b) A toilet 

c) Cooking facilities 

d) Running hot water supplies 

e) Electric/gas needed for essential activities 

Applicants who have access to shared facilities re cooking; bathroom and 
toilet will not qualify under these criteria.  

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 38 

2: Exceptional impact cases. 

Applicants who currently occupy a private sector property which has at least 
one Category 1 Hazard (excluding overcrowding) under the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and where a Prohibition Order has been 
served or is intended to be served under the Housing Act 2004 and the effect 
of the Prohibition Order is likely to mean that the applicant(s) will lose the use 
of their home on a permanent basis. The relevant conditions at the property 
must be life-threatening or present an immediate threat of serious injury to the 
occupant(s) 

 

This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects 
including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions 
which are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems 
being remedied within a period considered to be reasonable by the Council 
and the household are not able to afford to resolve their own housing problem 
by moving to alternative private sector accommodation. 

 

Note - this does not include Council or Housing Association homes as there is 
a legal requirement on social landlords to urgently remedy defects that pose a 
risk to their tenants  

 

3: Demolition or Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) cases.  

Where the applicant’s property is subject to demolition or subject to a 
Compulsory Purchase Order for redevelopment 

 

Band A: Additional preference for severe overcrowding as defined as 2 
bedrooms or more overcrowded Note: the measurement of overcrowding is 
based on the "bedroom standard" (with some exceptions adopted see below). 
This is the non-statutory standard set out in the government's allocation of 
accommodation guidance.  

 

Where an applicant household is severely overcrowded defined as requiring 2 
or more additional bedrooms to reach the bedroom standard. In calculating 
the overcrowding the following circumstances will be disregarded unless there 
are exceptional circumstances:  

 

 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation 

 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 
2 bedroom plus level of overcrowding 

 Where the household contains non-dependent adults as there is more 
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing  

 The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and 
bedrooms in deciding whether the 2 bedroom plus priority will be awarded  

 

Band A: Additional preference for applicants nominated by Cumbria 
Adult Social Services/Children’s Services in the following 
circumstances:  

 

 Where there is an essential need to move due to child protection issues 

 Fostering carers for Cumbria County Council where there is a need to 
move to a larger home in order to accommodate a looked after child (this 

Page 116

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 39 

would not apply where the home required would be 4 bedrooms or more) 

 Adoption arrangements where there is a need to move to a larger home in 
order to accommodate a looked after child (this would not apply where the 
home required would be 4 bedrooms or more) 

 Applicants owed a duty by Adult Social Services under the Care Act 2014 / 
Mental Health Act 1983/2007 who have been assessed by the housing 
team as being ready to move onto independent living and have an 
appropriate support package in place  

 

Band A: Additional preference for Cumbria County Council Care Leavers 
(Former Relevant children) as defined by the Children (Leaving Care) 
Act 2000 and need to move on 

 

Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children 
Leaving Care Act 2002 and be a young person at risk of homelessness. The 
evidence to support this award will be provided by the council’s leaving care 
service and will consist of confirmation that: 

a) All referrals by Children’s Services will be made following the provision of 
Cumbria’s Joint Protocol for young people  

b) The care leaver is ready to move to independent settled housing and is 
genuinely prepared for a move to independent living 

c) The care leaver possesses the life skills to manage a tenancy including 
managing a rent account. 

d) The care leaver has either long term or medium term tenancy support 
arranged, as required. 

e) Ongoing support needs have been assessed and, where appropriate, a 
support plan is in place and 

f) The CCP’s assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of 
their vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, 
through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well-being 

 

Note: Care leavers will be awarded Band A on proof of their status. If an 
application for housing is made before it has been determined by the CCP 
assessing officer that the individual is ready for independent living, taking into 
account information from the applicant’s support worker and other agencies, 
the application will not have any bid considered until the support worker 
presents the evidence to the CCP that the individual is ready to move on and 
the CCP agree with that evidence.  

 

Band A: Additional preference for applicants who are part of a multi-
agency public protection agreement (MAPPA). 

 

Band A would apply only where:  

a) On the recommendation of the MAPPA partnership the applicant requires 
and is suitable for independent housing and qualify for the Housing Register, 
and 

b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the 
circumstances of the MAPPA case accommodation in the private rented 
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on the 
multi agency planning for that individual  

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 40 

Band A: Additional preference for certain MARAC assessed cases  

 

Applicants fleeing domestic violence and abuse that have been assessed by 

MARAC (or any subsequent multi agency arrangement) as needing to move 
urgently for the safety and security of themselves and or any dependent 
children and are assessed as being in immediate danger, and 

a) The MARAC partnership has referred the case and provided evidence as to 
why the applicant requires social housing, and 

b) The CCP assessing officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of the 
circumstances of the MARAC case accommodation in the private rented 
sector would, through its short-term nature, have a substantial detrimental 
effect on individual or household 

 

Band B – Reasonable preference for certain homelessness duties owed 
(This is assessed and verified by the Partner Council’s Housing Options 
Team) 

 

Any of the following statutory homeless duties owed by a Cumbrian Council:  

 

a) People where it has been verified that they are rough sleeping in a 
Cumbrian Council area regardless of whether they have made a homeless 
application  

b) Applicants owed the prevention of homelessness duty under Section 
195(2) by any Cumbria local authority  

c) Applicants owed the ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)  
(Note: applicants owed a relief duty and are likely to be in priority need, 
unintentionally homeless and are in temporary accommodation will be 
placed in Band A)  

d) Where the relief duty has been brought to an end and an applicant has 
been assessed at that point as not being in priority need  

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for insecure accommodation 
arrangements 

 

“A pregnant woman or applicant with a child or children who are sharing a 
home with family who are not part of their household and where:  

a) They have no ownership or tenancy rights and the arrangement is short 
term and very insecure and only available whilst the applicant is actively 
seeking an offer of social housing or alternative accommodation with friends 
or in the private rented sector, and 

b) They were owed a prevention of homelessness duty as they were 
assessed as likely to become homeless within 56 days, and that duty has 
ended because they have been allowed to remain at home whilst they bid for 
social housing with their Band B priority and it is likely that they can remain for 
at least 6 months to a year.  

c) The family member with the interest in the home has agreed to allow the 
applicant to remain for at least 6 months to a year. 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for medical or disability housing need 
(See appendix 1.8 for full details of the medical need assessment 
process) 

Page 118

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 41 

 

Applicants who have need to move due to them having medical problems or 
disabilities where their housing conditions exacerbates a serious medical 
condition or disability but do not qualify for an award of Band A. This includes 
(the examples are to illustrate the level of housing need to be awarded Band 
B and is not an exhaustive list).   

 

a) The applicant’s current accommodation to a significant extent directly 
exacerbates an existing medical condition, is the direct cause of a medical 
condition or impacts on the ease of use of the facilities within their home 
for a disabled person.  

b) Applicants who have mobility issues and it has been assess need to move 
to ground floor or level access accommodation 

c) Applicants who have mobility issues and need to move to accommodation 
that has level access showering facilities 

d) Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that 
is directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to 
alternative accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition 

e) Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom (e.g. 
because they need an overnight carer or need to accommodate a 
substantial amount of medical equipment) 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference under the Government’s ‘Right to move’ 
regulations  

 

Existing social tenants of accommodation in England who the CCP have 
assessed as qualifying under the Government’s Right to Move regulations will 
be placed into Band B  

Allocation to those Applicants who qualify is limited to a maximum of 2% of all 
lettings. 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for ‘move on’ from supported housing 

 

Where the CCP assessing officer after considering evidence from the 
applicant’s support officer agrees that due to the nature and extent of their 
vulnerability, accommodation in the private rented sector would, through its 
short-term nature, have a detrimental effect on their well being.  
 
Before the award is made, ongoing support needs will need to have been 
assessed and, where appropriate, a support plan put in place to increase the 
chances of the tenancy succeeding and the person must have been assessed 
as ready to move on from supported to independent housing.  

 

Band B: Reasonable preference where it is agreed there is a need to 
move on welfare or hardship ground:  

 

1) Applicants who need to move closer to a specialist organisation, 
agency or institution located in a specific area of Cumbria, where 
moving would prevent significant physical, psychological or financial 
hardship. (The assessment will include the availability and ability to use 
public transport)  

Page 119

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 42 

 

2) Hardship on support grounds: Applicants that have demonstrable 
evidence that they provide or receive substantial and on-going support 
to or from relatives or friends and where moving would prevent 
significant physical, psychological or financial hardship. This award will 
only be considered where there are significant medical or welfare 
issues including grounds relating to disability. This award for applicants 
who give or require support from relatives or friends will only be 
considered where there is a severe disability or mental ill health, 
medical or welfare issue (relating to the applicant or their household or 
the relatives or friends) and there are reasons why this support cannot 
be made available through reliance on public transport or the persons 
own transport. (The assessment will include the availability and ability 
to use public transport). 

 

3) Employment Hardship - Priority will only be given in exceptional 
circumstances and applicants will need to show that they need to move 
to take up or continue an employment opportunity not available 
elsewhere.  They will only be considered where they do not live within 
a reasonable commuting distance and will be required to provide 
confirmation of employment details from the employer. Employment 
purposes are defined as: applicants including people needing to move 
from outside Cumbria and between Cumbrian Districts, taking up or 
continuing permanent employment for a minimum of 16 hours per 
week. Under this clause applicants will only be considered where they 
do not live within a reasonable commuting distance and will be required 
to provide confirmation of employment details from the employer. (The 
assessment will include the availability and ability to use public 
transport) 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for being overcrowded by 1 bedroom 
Note: the measurement of overcrowding is based on the "bedroom standard" 
(with some exceptions adopted see below). This is the non-statutory standard 
set out in the government's allocation of accommodation guidance. 

 

Applicant’s living in overcrowded conditions and whose housing 
circumstances have been assessed as being 1 bedroom short of what they 
need as measured by the bedroom standard.  

 

Or alternative wording 

Where an applicant household is overcrowded by one bedroom as measured 
by the bedroom standard. In calculating the overcrowding the following 
circumstances will be disregarded unless there are exceptional 
circumstances:  

 

 Children over the age of 16 will be excluded from the calculation 

 Cases where extended family had moved into accommodation causing the 
1 bedroom level of overcrowding 

 Where the household contain non-dependent adults as there is more 
chance of non dependents being able to resolve their housing  

The CCP will take account of the space and layout of rooms and bedrooms in 
deciding whether the 1 bedroom priority will be awarded 

Page 120

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 43 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for unsatisfactory housing conditions 
or issues of property fitness  

 

Private sector tenants that the relevant Council has determined that the 
property poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety fitness rating 
and the CCP assessing officer is satisfied that the problem cannot be 
resolved by the landlord within 6 months and as a result continuing to occupy 
the accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the applicant’s health. 
This includes a property that has severe damp, major structural defects 
including subsidence, flooding, collapse of roof, or have living conditions 
which are a statutory nuisance, and there is no prospect of the problems 
being remedied within a 6 month time period, and the household are not able 
to resolve their own housing problem by moving to alternative private sector 
accommodation 

 

Band B: Reasonable preference for under-occupation  

 

Applicants who have a social housing tenancy with a Cumbrian CCP Partner 
and are under-occupying social rented accommodation by two or more 
bedrooms. The exception to the 2 or more bedroom under occupation rule will 
be: 
a) Where a tenant occupies a house that they are under occupying by 1 

bedroom and a move to a flat would free up that house 
b) Where it is agreed that under-occupancy by 1 bedroom will cause 

significant financial hardship for tenants. This is where there is clear 
evidence that tenants on lower incomes are forced to spend significant 
percentages of their incomes on servicing 1 bedroom under-occupancy 
deductions  

 

Band B: Local preference for recent ex armed forces applicants  

 

Members of the Armed Forces persons who are serving in the regular forces 
who will be discharged within three months and have served for five years 
preceding their application for an allocation of housing accommodation as 
long as this has not been a dishonorable discharge.  

 

Band B: Local preference for identified ‘Key Workers’  

The following key workers whose total gross household income from all 
sources does not exceed an annual income of £45,000 or more (for single 
persons) or joint income of £60,000 or more (for couples). 

1) National Health Service Staff and Social Care staff 

2) Community Support Officers  

3) Members of the Territorial Army  

4) Volunteer Fire Officers  

 

Band C – All other applicants in housing need: This is the housing need 
band awarded where an applicant is not assessed as coming under the 
criteria adopted by the policy for being in a statutory housing need. Applicants 
placed in band C can still bid for properties but will not be considered above 
applicants from Bands A or B who have bid for the same property.  

Page 121

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 44 

 
Band C will include applicants who have been assessed as being intentionally 
homeless by any Council and since that award has not had settled 
accommodation (defined by the CCP assessing officer)  
 

 
 

Note applicants who only want to register for a section 106 village or rural 
development and have no other statutory housing need will be allocated Band 
C.  
           
Advertising Properties 
 
All CCP Partners with social housing stock have agreed to advertise the 
majority of their properties through Cumbria Choice.  Properties will be 
advertised on a weekly basis on the website. 
 
Choice based lettings are about the applicants being given choice about where 
they want to live. Properties will be advertised and applicants will be able to 
indicate the properties for which they want to be considered by ‘bidding’.  Once 
the bidding process closes a shortlist will be compiled and the property 
allocated will be based on the banding priority of the applications and the time 
they have waited as long as they meet the criteria set out in the advertisement.  
 
If a bid is received from an applicant on Cumbria Choice who does not have a 
local connection with the Council area where the advertised property is located 
then the local connection criteria set out in ‘Section 2 Qualification rule 1’ will 
be used to produce the shortlist, unless the property is advertised with no 
preference for applicants with a local connection to the area where the property 
is located. For properties advertised under a local letting policy the criteria for 
that LLP will be used to produce a shortlist.  
 
So far as is possible the CCP will use the CBL letting process, banding priority 
system, and waiting time within the band to allocate accommodation.  
However, there may be times when a direct letting will need to be made to a 
property using the criteria set out in ‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In 
these circumstances a property will not be advertised. The aim is that no more 
than 15% of properties available to let should be allocated through a direct 
letting in order to preserve the integrity of the choice based letting process. 
However, in the circumstances of a national emergency such as the Covid-19 
pandemic choice based lettings may be suspended, or a much higher 
percentage of lettings may be made directly.   
 
Further operational and procedural details are set out in appendix 1.7 covering:   
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 
 
Sheltered Housing 
 

Page 122

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 45 

Sheltered accommodation is included within the scheme.  It is generally for 
people of 60 years and older and offers independent living with the added 
security and support of a warden service.  In certain circumstances it may be 
advertised for people aged below 60 years.  Property advertisements will 
clearly state the age requirements of applicants able to ‘bid’ for a property. 
 
Section 106 developments 
 
Under the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 some developments are subject 
to Section 106 planning obligations which usually requires properties to be let 
to applicants with a local connection to stated Parishes.  Where this applies 
only those applicants meeting the requirements of the Section 106 agreement 
will be eligible for an offer of a property. 
 
Advert details will state when the letting of a property is governed by a Section 
106 agreement.   
 
Local Lettings Policies 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local 
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that 
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable 
communities. Appendix 3 gives full details for how local lettings policies will be 
assessed and applied.  
 
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed 
under this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
1) Age restrictions. 
2) Specific local lettings policies for a village or rural parish (see below) 
3) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.  
4) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
5) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of 

children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
6) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for 

example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future 
family growth. 

7) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households 
allocated to a scheme. 

8) Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.  
 
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (usually only 
applies to first lettings) regardless of whether the new development is subject 
to a Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new 
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will 
be followed.  
 
Specific Local Lettings Policies for Rural Villages and Parishes  
 
For some villages and rural parishes where there is a high demand for housing 
additional priority may be given to applicants who have a local connection to 

Page 123

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 46 

the particular village or rural parish.  Advert details will state where an applicant 
having a local connection to the specific village or rural parish may be given 
priority.  Those villages and rural parishes subject to a local lettings policy will 
be identified for each Cumbria Council. For some villages or rural parishes the 
definition of local connection may be based on locally agreed criteria through 
the Parish Council and will not necessarily be the definition set out below. In 
these circumstances the property advert will fully set out the local connection 
criteria.  
 
  

Page 124

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 47 

 

 

Section 5      Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Operational and Procedural Instructions, Guidance and 
detail for how the Policy will be applied.  
 
Appendix 1.1: Lettings not covered by the Policy  
 
a) Introductory or probationary tenancies – Where an 

introductory/probationary tenancy becomes a secure or assured tenancy 
 
b) Family Intervention Tenancies – Introduced by the Housing and 

Regeneration Act 2008, Family Intervention Tenancies are a form of 
residential tenancy without security of tenure. They may be offered by 
either a local housing authority or a housing association to anyone who is a 
tenant of a secure (or assured) tenancy subject to a possession order on 
the grounds of anti-social behaviour or domestic abuse or anyone who (if 
they had a secure or assured tenancy) could have had such a possession 
order made against them. 

 
c) Succession under S89 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies), under 

S133 (2) of the Housing Act 1996 (introductory tenancies) or under S90 of 
the Housing Act 1985 (fixed term tenancies). 

 
d) Non-Secure tenancies or ‘temporary accommodation’ – Any 

accommodation that is provided to meet an interim duty under Part VII of 
the Housing Act 1996. 

 
e) Temporary decants – Secure or introductory tenants of a local authority or 

assured or assured shorthold tenants of Registered Providers who need to 
be moved temporarily whilst major work is carried out on their home. 

 
f) Demoted tenancies - Following a successful application for a demotion 

order under sections 14 and 15 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
 
g) Mutual exchanges between existing tenants under S92 of the Housing Act 

1985 or under S158 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
h) Assignment to a person who would be qualified to succeed the tenant 

under S92 of the Housing Act 1985 (secure tenancies) or S134 Housing Act 
1996 (introductory tenancies). 

 
i) Conversion of an introductory tenancy to a secure tenancy under S125 

Housing Act 1996). 
 
j) Transfers of secure or introductory tenancies by a court order made under 

certain provisions contained within matrimonial, family, children and 
partnership legislation.  

 
k) Allocation to a person entitled to rehousing under section 39 of the Land 

Compensation Act 1973.  

Page 125

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 48 

 
l) Allocation to a person whose home is repurchased under sections 554 or 

555 of the Housing Act 1985 (defective dwellings). 
 
m) The Allocation Scheme does not apply to an allocation to anyone who is 

already a secure or introductory tenant or an assured tenant of a private 
registered provider of social housing or registered social landlord unless the 
person has applied to the CCP for a transfer and the CCP is satisfied that 
the person is to be granted reasonable preference under one of the 
reasonable preference categories in S166A (3) of the Housing Act 1996 

  
  

Page 126

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 49 

 
Appendix 1.2: The details for how the scheme will apply: 
 
4) The General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
5) The ‘Privacy Notice’ for the policy, and 
6) An applicant’s right to information   
 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
 
A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) will be undertaken for any 
proposed changes to the policy or procedures where those changes are likely 
to result in a high risk to individuals’ interests in order to comply with the 
requirements of General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 
2016/679) and Data Protection Act 2018. 
 
Personal information will only be used in ways that the applicant reasonably 
expects in order to process their application. This will include the sharing of 
information with the Housing Association Partners to this scheme or any other 
Housing Association that is not a member of the scheme.   
 
Where it is necessary for personal information to be shared with third parties, it 
will be transferred in a secure way to ensure it is not compromised or accessed 
by anyone who is not entitled to it. 
 
On a case by case basis, where the law requires or permits, and the disclosure 
is necessary and proportionate, information about an applicant may be shared 
in the absence of consent without breaching data protection, human rights or 
the common law obligation of confidence. 
 
Usually this will involve striking a balance between the rights of the applicant 
and other legitimate interests, which may justify the information sharing. An 
obligation of confidentiality/privacy may be set aside where the interference is 
in accordance with the law, necessary and proportionate to the legitimate aim 
being pursued to meet one or more of the following interests: 
 
a) National security 
b) Public safety 
c) The detection or prevention of disorder or crime 
d) Protection of health or morals 
e) The protection of the rights or freedoms of others (e.g. safeguarding public 

funds, protecting those at work) 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
All CCP Partners have a responsibility to protect public funds. For Local 
authorities this is a legal duty. The CCP partnership may obtain and share 
information about the applicant to: 
 

 Prevent or detect crime or fraud 

 Protect public funds 

 To make sure information is correct 
 

Page 127

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 50 

Third parties include government departments, other Councils, private sector 
companies, including companies that assist us in fraud detection and 
prevention, such as ‘Credit Reference Agencies’.  Information may also be 
obtained from social media.   
 
Any use of personal data will be in full accordance with ‘The Data Protection 
Act 2018’, which incorporates the implementation of the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR). A full copy of each CCP Privacy Notice is 
available on request via emailing Cumbria Choice @add cumbria choice 
general query email address  
 
Right to information 
 
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 makes it a requirement for every public 
authority to produce a ‘Publication Scheme’ which sets out all the information it 
makes available to the public, and whether copies of that information are 
available free of charge. The ‘Publication Scheme’ includes information that a 
Council is legally obliged to publish. The Scheme is also intended to assist in 
developing a culture in which openness and transparency is encouraged as 
per the requirements of the Local Government Act 2000.  
  

Page 128

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 51 

Appendix 1.3 Details of how alleged fraud or providing false information 
will be assessed 
 
Section 171(1) of the Housing Act 1996 makes it an offence for anyone, in 
connection with the exercise by a local housing authority of their functions 
under Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 (and therefore in seeking an allocation 
of accommodation) to:  
 
a) Knowingly or recklessly make a materially false statement or  
 
b) Knowingly withhold information that the CCP has reasonably required 

him/her to give in connection with the exercise of those functions.  
 
c) A person guilty of this offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine at 

the date of this scheme document of up to £5,000.  
 
The circumstances in which an offence is committed could include:  
 
d) Any false information given on an application form for 

housing/accommodation (including transfer applications); 
 
e) Any false information given in response to subsequent correspondence; 
 
In addition making a fraudulent application for housing may constitute an 
offence under the Theft Act 1968 and/or the Fraud Act 2006. 
 
Determination of deliberate intent 
 
In many cases, applicants will have provided incorrect or inadequate 
information on their application form, but the assessment concludes that there 
was no deliberate intention.  

 
It will be for the assessing officer in the first instance to decide if any errors 
contained in an application were deliberately made or not. If the officer is 
satisfied that the errors were not deliberate, or that it had no impact on the 
application, then no action will be taken though the applicant may be warned 
about the need to provide accurate information and the consequences for not 
doing so.   

 
However, if the assessing officer has concerns, these will be discussed with 
their Manager who will decide if they:  

 
1) Are satisfied that there is insufficient evidence to disqualify the application 

on these grounds;  
 
2) Requires more information to be gathered before a decision can be made;  
 
3) Are satisfied that the applicant has provided fraudulent information, or 

withheld important information.  
 
The Manager will notify the CCP Board and, in serious cases the Police, in all 
cases where serious or systematic fraud is suspected.  

Page 129

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 52 

 
If the decision is that applicant has given false information or withheld 
information they will not qualify for the register, or where information emerges 
after they have been placed on the register, they will be disqualified. In these 
circumstances a letter will be sent to the applicant to notify them of the decision 
and they will have a right to seek a review of that decision. 
 
  

Page 130

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 53 

Appendix 1.4: Additional procedural information on the consideration of 
exceptional circumstances and how applications where there is a ‘Debt 
Relief Order’, ‘Bankruptcy Declaration’ or ‘Individual Voluntary 
Agreement (IVA)’  
 
Note: it is the responsibility of the applicant to make the case as to why their 
circumstances are exceptional. Once a request has been made for exceptional 
circumstances to be applied the assessing officer will consider that request 
under the statutory review procedure. Each request to be considered an 
exemption will be assessed on the facts presented. The CCP will also consider 
cases where it has assessed that a tenant accrued rent arrears due to the 
bedroom tax resulting in the tenant being unable to pay the full rent, or through 
having a reduced income as a result of a National Emergency for example the 
Covid 19 emergency.  
 
Note 1: This qualification rule also applies to applicants currently on the 
register. An applicant’s eligibility to remain on the register will be kept under 
review. An applicant may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to remain on the 
register but not be allowed to bid) at anytime should the CCP become satisfied 
that there is new evidence, or a change of circumstances, that mean the rule 
relating to former rent arrears or a housing related debt should be applied to 
their case. 
 
Note 2: For applicants who have had their rent arrears included in a ‘Debt 
Relief Order’, bankruptcy declaration or individual voluntary agreement (IVA) a 
period of at least 12 months has to pass from the declaration of insolvency to 
the point a debt is cleared. Should an applicant maintain their finances for this 
period, this will be considered as strong evidence that their previous problem 
has been resolved. Should an applicant fail to maintain their finances during 
this period, any new social housing debt can be taken into account as normal. 
Therefore, we see no benefit of taking into account such debts at a later point.  
 
  

Page 131

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 54 

Appendix 1.5: Additional guidance for assessing officers and the 
framework to be used to apply the test of unacceptable behaviour  
 
Specific examples of serious unacceptable behavior are:  
 
a) Being subject to a court order (including an interim order) for breach of 

tenancy conditions  
 
b) Conviction for illegal or immoral use of their current or former home  
 
c) Causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors  
 
d) Committing criminal offences in or near the home and still posing a threat to 

neighbours or the community  
 
e) Being violent towards a partner or members of the family  
 
f) Allowing the condition of the property to deteriorate  
 
g) Paying money illegally to obtain a tenancy for example a corrupt payment  
 
h) Unlawfully subletting their tenancy 
 
i) Applicants that have been convicted of housing or welfare benefit related 

fraud, where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation Offenders 
Act 1974.  

 
j) Having unspent convictions where the assessment concludes that the 

applicant is unsuitable to be a tenant due to a significant risk to potential 
neighbours and/or communities. 

 
k) An applicant or any member of their household has been responsible for 

any racial harassment or other hate crime. Racial harassment and Hate 
Crimes is defined as racist, religiously aggravated, faith, gender, age, 
disability, and trans phobic or homophobic or gender re-assignment 
harassment or hate crime. A hate crime or racist incident is defined as any 
incident which is perceived to be racist or hate crime related by the 
complainant or any other person.  

 
Note: This rule also applies to applicants currently on the register. An 
applicant’s eligibility to remain on the Housing Register will be kept under 
review during their time on the register. An applicant may be rendered 
ineligible (or allowed to remain on the register but not be allowed to bid until 
the behaviour is resolved) at anytime during the process should the CCP 
become satisfied that the rule relating to unacceptable behaviour should be 
applied to their case.  
 
Any new application will normally only be reconsidered at the request of the 
applicant, and as a guideline the CCP will consider whether there has been no 
reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members 
of their prospective household) for a period of 12 months. 
 

Page 132

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 55 

Note:  Where an applicant has resolved their behaviour to the satisfaction of 
the CCP it may still be the case that a CCP Housing Association Partner where 
the behaviour occurred might decide they do not want to consider rehousing 
their former tenant. However, this will not prevent an applicant from being 
considered for housing by another Housing Association.  
 
The assessing officer will be guided by the following considerations:  
 
1) The behaviour need not have led to possession, prosecution or other 

enforcement action by a statutory agency, provided that, on the balance of 
probability, the household is responsible 

 
2) In normal circumstances the behaviour concerned should have occurred 

within the last two years. In cases of a more serious nature, for example, 
those involving criminal prosecution, a longer time-scale may be 
appropriate. 

 
3) There must be reasonable grounds for believing that the behaviour could 

continue or be repeated. For example, the applicant may have issued 
threats, or there might be a history of repeat offending. 

 
The assessing officer will specifically consider:  
 
a) The seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour  
b) The duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents  
c) The length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place 
d) Any facts that indicate that there has been no further cause for concern in 

the last 6 to 12 months  
e) Any relevant vulnerability or support needs that may explain the behaviour 
f) Whether there is meaningful engagement with support agencies  
g) Critically, whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the 

applicant’s behavior, and 
h) Whether they believe on the evidence that the behavior is likely to still 

reoccur now or at the point a tenancy was offered or commenced 
 
Applicants to whom the rule is applied will be written to and informed that: 
a) That the unacceptable behavior rule has been applied to their case and 

either they do not qualify, or that they qualify but cannot bid until the 
behavior has been resolved  

b) What they must do to resolve the problem  
c) That for either decision i.e. disqualification or qualification but not allowed to 

bid, it is the applicant’s responsibility to notify the CCP when they have, in 
their view, resolved the issue and that they will need to present evidence to 
back up their view. 

d) Where an applicant is disqualified for unacceptable behaviour they will have 
a right to ask for a review of the decision made to disqualify them.   
 

Note where an applicant is disqualified, any new application will normally only 
be reconsidered at the request of the applicant and only where there has been 
no reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or 
members of their prospective household) for a continuous period of 12 months.   
  

Page 133

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 56 

Appendix 1.6: How a request for a review will be administered  
 

1. How a request for a review will be dealt with    
 
2. A review must be requested within twenty-eight days of the date of the 

letter advising the applicant of the decision on their application. The CCP 
has discretion to extend this time limit, or consider a request made out of 
time, if it considers this would be reasonable.  Any request for a review out 
of time should therefore state why the applicant considers that the 28-day 
time limit should be extended. 

 
3. The request for review should be made by email or letter to a Cumbria 

Choice Review Requests email account or PO Box address.  
 
4. As a first stage the Housing Association or Partner who has assessed the 

applicants case will consider the applicants concerns and provide a 
response to the applicant. If the applicant is still unhappy their concerns will 
then be treated under the formal review procedure set out below.  

 
5. Once the informal consideration process has been completed and after 

receiving a response the applicant has indicated in writing or verbally that 
they wish the review to proceed the relevant Cumbrian Council’s Housing 
Options Service covering the area where the applicant has applied will 
conduct the review or may delegate this task to the CCP Partnership 
Manager to undertake the review on behalf of the relevant Council. Please 
note these reviews do not form part of the separate homelessness review 
process contained within section 202 of the 1996 Housing Act and they will 
not be subject to an appeal process pursuant to section 204 of the Housing 
Act 1996. 

 
6. The applicant, or their representative, must give reasons why they wish to 

have the decision reviewed so that the CCP can ensure that the request 
falls under the statutory review request criteria.  

 
7. Upon receipt of a request for a review the CCP will send an 

acknowledgement letter explaining the review process and procedure to be 
followed. 
 

8. The officer undertaking the review will not normally have been involved in 
an original decision.  

 
9. An applicant may be asked to attend an interview and, if so, can be 

accompanied by an advisor or friend. 
 
10. Where is appears that the applicant needs an interpreter this can be 

arranged.  
 
11. The review will be carried out and the decision and the reasons for it will be 

given to the applicant in writing within 56 days of the request being 
received. There is no right to request a review of this review decision.  

 
 

Page 134

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 57 

Appendix 1.7: Further operational and procedural details covering:  
  
a) Advertising properties 
b) The bidding and selection process 
c) Offers of accommodation  
d) Feedback on lettings 
 
Advertising properties 
 
It should be noted that in certain circumstances a participating Housing 
Association might apply their own rules regarding the allocation of 
accommodation, for example an association may wish to apply its own test of 
affordability. The aim of all CCP partners is to keep these individual association 
rules to a minimum. Where there are rules set by an individual Housing 
Association that differ from the common policy, the intention is to set these out 
in a link to the on-line policy.   
 
Properties will be advertised in an easy to read format.  They will usually 
include a picture of the property or scheme in which it is located.  Property 
adverts will include details of the property and will indicate suitable household 
size as well as giving information about the local area. The properties will 
clearly indicate which housing organisation is the Landlord. 
 
Properties may be advertised during the 4-week notice period given by an 
outgoing tenant.  If the notice is subsequently withdrawn by the tenant the 
property will unfortunately be unavailable to let.  
 
Direct offers will be made in accordance with the criteria set out in section 1 
plus lettings to extra care housing and some sheltered schemes. Otherwise all 
categories of properties will be advertised.  General needs properties; 
properties that have been adapted for those with disabilities; properties that are 
specifically for the elderly and which may have a warden and/or an emergency 
call system.  Adverts will clearly indicate any restrictions on bidding (e.g. where 
properties have been adapted and/or are specifically for people with 
disabilities) and will detail any particular criteria that apply (e.g. where full 
occupancy is required, affordability criteria etc.)   
 
Bids from applicants will only be accepted if they meet all of the eligibility 
criteria for the property. However if their situation is changing imminently, once 
evidence has been provided, they will also be accepted.  
 
The bidding and selection process  

 
Properties are advertised on a weekly cycle.  Applicants may express an 
interest through bidding on any advertised property that meets their needs.  
For applicants in bands A or B they are able to place up to 3 bids each week. 
For applicants in band C they are able to place unlimited bids in order to 
improve their prospects of obtaining an offer of a lower demand property in the 
circumstances where there may be several lower demand properties 
advertised in that cycle.  
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 58 

Bids can be made in a number of ways: on the website using the username 
and password; by telephoning or visiting the office of a partner organisation; by 
mail; by proxy bidding. 
 
Applicants are able to check their position on the list at the time of the bid, 
together with the total number of bids already placed.  This allows applicants to 
make decisions about their choice of property and the likelihood of being 
successful.  Within the bidding period, applicants may withdraw bids and make 
further bids. 
 
Only the applicant whose bid is successful will be contacted unless they refuse 
the offer made or are ineligible to be offered the property.  

 
So far as is possible the CCP will use the banding system, and waiting time 
within the band to allocate accommodation.  However, there may be times 
when a direct letting will need to be made to a property using the criteria set 
out in ‘Policy on Choice’ detailed in Section 1. In these circumstances a 
property will not be advertised. The aim is that no more than 15% of properties 
available to let should be allocated through a direct letting in order to preserve 
the integrity of the choice based letting process. However, in the circumstances 
of a national emergency such as the Covid-19 pandemic choice based lettings 
may be suspended, or a much higher percentage of lettings may be made 
directly.   
 
The highest bidder is awarded priority in descending order between Band A, 
Band B, and Band C.   
 
Within bands, priority is awarded according to the registration date. However, 
there may be other reasons why it would be necessary or advisable to reject a 
bid that would otherwise have been successful: for example where there was 
restrictive labelling for the property advertised or where the property would not 
be suitable for that particular applicant. In the circumstances where the 
landlord who has advertised the property has decided that it would not be 
suitable, despite the applicant meeting the bidding criteria, there should be a 
discussion with the local authority’s Housing Options Team before the bid is 
rejected.   
 
Unless a property is advertised with restrictions, applicants who are members 
of the scheme can bid for any property in Cumbria regardless of where they 
live in Cumbria. However, when drawing up the shortlist applicants will be 
ranked first by local connection to the Council area where the property is 
advertised (using the local connection criteria set out in Qualification rule 1 
Section 2 of the Policy) then by band and date order. There are 3 examples set 
out below. The exception to this rule will be where a bid is made by a victim of 
domestic abuse where it has been assessed and agreed that they cannot 
remain in the local authority area where they are at risk.   
 
Example 1 - Applicant X has a local connection to Eden and this is the area 
where the advertised vacant property is located.  Applicant X is in Band B. An 
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant Y) bids for the property and is in Band A 
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant X will be shortlisted above 

Page 136

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 59 

applicant Y as they have a local connection with the area where the property is 
located.  
 
Example 2 - Applicant T has a local connection to Eden and this is the area 
where the advertised vacant property is located.  Applicant T is in Band C. An 
applicant living in Allerdale (applicant U) bids for the property and is in Band B 
but has no local connection to Eden. Applicant T will be shortlisted above 
applicant U as they have a local connection with the area where the property is 
located.  
 
Example 3 – Applicant C is from Carlisle and has been assessed as being at 
risk in Carlisle due to fleeing domestic abuse. She is staying temporarily with 
friends outside of Carlisle. Applicant C has no local connection to Eden and 
this is the area where the advertised vacant property is located. Applicant C is 
in Band B with an effective date of 1/3/20. She bids for an advertised property 
in Eden. Applicant D is from Eden and is also in Band B with an effective date 
of the 1/4/20 and bids for the same property. This case would be the exception 
to the rule that priority would always be given to the applicant with a local 
connection to the local authority where the property is located. Applicant C 
would be the successful bidder based on her band and effective date.   
 
In the circumstances where there are two households with the same Band and 
registration date that bid for a property a decision to offer the property will be 
based on the household who is assessed as being most suitable for that 
property. 
 
Where the property advert has indicated specific requirements such as age or 
accessibility, only those applicants meeting those requirements will be eligible 
for an offer. 

Offers of accommodation  
 
This section sets out the procedure that will apply to making an offer of 
accommodation once an applicant has been selected from a shortlist of 
successful applicants bidding for that property.  
 
Once selected and, prior to an offer being made, the Council or Housing 
Association landlord for that property will carry out a further verification of their 
eligibility and priority.  In certain situations the offer will not be made, or if made 
may be withdrawn if: 
 
 Since joining the scheme an applicant has become ineligible. 
 
 On verification of the applicants’ details, the priority band has been 

incorrectly awarded due to the information received by the applicant, or due 
to mistakes in the assessment of the application itself.  

 
 The applicants’ circumstances have changed since the priority band was 

awarded and the applicant is no longer entitled to the same level of priority. 
 
 The landlord has evidenced housing management reason not to offer the 

property.  
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 60 

If an applicant does not reply to an invitation in writing, by letter or email or text, 
to view a property within 2 working days of receiving an offer then the offer will 
be deemed to have been refused and the property will be offered to the next 
applicant on the shortlist who qualifies for that offer.   
 
A suitable and reasonable offer of accommodation is defined in appendix 4 of 
the policy. 

 
There may, unfortunately, be exceptional circumstances where following a 
viewing or notification of offer an offer may still be withdrawn. This can be done 
up to the point when a tenancy agreement is signed.  Examples of reasons 
when a property offer may be withdrawn are:  
 

 The property is not suitable for the households needs 

 The property fails to become available 

 There is an issue and concern for community safety 

 It comes to light that information has been withheld 

 It comes to light that that the household or member of the household has a 
property related debt 

 The offer has been made in error 

 The households circumstances changed 

 The property is required for an emergency  

 It transpires that the rent would not be affordable  
 
There must be clear grounds recorded by the Council or a Partner Housing 
Association on the IT operating system if a decision is taken to refuse or 
bypass an applicant who is top of any shortlist. Where an applicant has been 
refused or bypassed because they have failed a verification check or that their 
circumstances have changed they should be informed of the reason and how it 
now effects their application.  
 
For all other reasons for example, issues of public safety, risk, or sustainability 
of the tenancy, an applicant, upon request, will be informed of the reason 
behind the decision to refuse or bypass them.  
 
Feedback on Lettings 
 
A main aim of the Cumbria Choice scheme is to operate an open and 
transparent lettings system. 
 
The result of lettings made through the scheme will be published on the 
Cumbria Choice web site and at the end of the property advert newssheet. 
  

Page 138

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 61 

Appendix 1.8: Assessing whether an applicant qualifies for a priority 
band A or B on the basis of medical priority  
 
The assessment: Awarding Medical Priority for significant Medical Conditions 
that are being made worse by an applicant’s housing circumstances  
 
The framework that will be applied to assess medical impact cases  
 
This appendix provides detailed operational guidance to help officers to make 
their decisions on whether medical or welfare impact priority should be 
awarded.  
 
Applicants will be asked for information and any supporting documentary 
evidence, regarding how their health or welfare are affected by their current 
home, or why the applicant’s health cannot be managed in their current 
accommodation. They will be asked to complete medical information questions 
set out in the on-line application form and may, depending on their answers, be 
asked to complete a follow up form to allow the assessing officer to obtain 
more information.  
 
On receipt, the assessing officer will consider whether any supplementary 
information is needed from any other relevant professional, who may be able to 
explain the impact the applicant’s current accommodation is having on their 
medical condition or disability.  
 
While this information is being provided, and pending the assessment of 
medical priority, applicants who qualify for the register and have another 
statutory housing need will be registered and placed in a band according to 
that need. Where no other housing need exists, the application will remain as 
pending until any medical priority is determined  
 
The assessing officer supported, where necessary, by a senior officer, will 
normally make a decision whether or not to award a priority based upon the 
information provided. They will use the guidance notes and assessment 
framework in this appendix to help them make a decision.  
 
If the assessing officer is of the view that it would be beneficial to obtain an 
opinion from an independent Medical Advisor, or Occupational Therapist they 
will make a referral. A Medical Advisor will not normally be asked to carry out a 
medical examination and their opinion will be based on the information 
provided by the applicant and any supporting information from a medical 
professional and any information submitted by any organization supporting the 
applicant.  
 
Applicants are not required to provide any supporting medical evidence in 
support of their application before an assessment is made although where this 
is available they should provide it in support of their case.  
 
Where the assessing officer believes that further medical information is 
required before they can make an assessment they may request it from a 
relevant medical professional dealing with the applicant.  
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 62 

It is important to note that the assessing officer is not making a medical 
opinion. The role of the officer is to consider evidence re the impact of an 
applicant’s current housing circumstances on any medical condition or 
disability.  
 
Medical priority will not normally be awarded in the following circumstances: 
a) Where the applicant has a health issue, however severe, that is not 

impacted by the accommodation occupied  
b) Health problems that are not affected by housing or cannot be improved by 

moving 
c) Where a move would only make a marginal improvement to the applicant’s 

condition 
d) Medical impacts caused by housing defects that are likely to be rectified in 

a reasonable time frame. 
e) Where another reasonable course of action is available to the applicant to 

resolve their difficulties.  
f) Time-related medical problems (e.g. pregnancy-related problems or a 

broken leg) 
g) Disrepair problems not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical 

condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority 
separately for living in unfit or unsatisfactory housing depending on the 
assessment made of their circumstances and impact). 

h) Overcrowding not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical 
condition. (Note under the policy an applicant may receive priority 
separately for being overcrowded).   

i) If the situation can be resolved by equipment or minor adaptations which 
can be implemented in a reasonable period of time. 

 
Applicants who require support to live independently with their medical 
condition will be placed in a priority band for their medical need but will be 
suspended from bidding until an appropriate package of support has been 
agreed. If no appropriate support package has been agreed the applicant will 
not be offered accommodation whilst a support plan/package is pursued.  
 
Each individual on the application with a health or welfare problem will be 
assessed. If there is more than 1 member of the household whose health 
and/or welfare is being affected by their housing, their application will be 
awarded the need relating to the severest problem. 
 
Where an applicant has been placed in bands A or B as a result of a medical 
need this may be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the award is still 
relevant.  
 
The review will determine whether the level of priority is still appropriate. The 
review may involve a phone-call to the applicant and/ or support agency, an 
email, or a home visit. 
 
Once the assessment has been completed the applicant will receive a letter or 
email advising them of the outcome, and if a priority band is awarded what that 
band is.  
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 63 

Where an applicant already registered notifies a change of medical 
circumstances that are impacted by their current housing the applicant’s 
priority will be re-assessed using the same process.  
 
This section below quotes examples of when Bands A or B could be awarded. 
These are just examples and an assessment will be made on the facts of the 
case. 
 
Band A: Covers urgent and immediate medical impact problem 
 
This top category band A will be reserved for exceptional cases where an 
applicant’s health is seriously at risk (including a risk to life) due to the 
associated medical and housing difficulties that are inherent in their existing 
accommodation. 
 
Band B: Covers serious medical impact problem 
 
A band B award also reflects urgent medical impact cases that have a clear 
relationship with the applicant’s existing housing circumstances.  
 
The detail for the operational guidance that used to assess medical cases  
 
1. The applicant will be asked to indicate on their on-line application form 

whether they or anyone in their household has an illness or disability that is 
affected by their current accommodation.   

2. If the information returned on the on-line form does not clearly address the 
impact of the applicant’s current housing on their condition, the assessing 
officer will contact the applicant to ask them specifically to describe how the 
current housing is impacting on the condition described (a standard 
letter/form will be used). 

3. The email/letter will explain that where supporting information from a health 
professional is available, the applicant should provide this information to 
support their application, but that we do not, as a matter of course, require 
an applicant to submit a medical report, or obtain letters from their GP 
before an assessment will be progressed. We do not wish to create further 
work or costs for doctors or applicants by insisting that medical reports are 
produced before an application can be considered. 

4. It is expected that the majority of cases can be assessed by the assessing 
officer by using this guidance and where necessary taking advice from a 
senior officer. Only where relevant and appropriate will advice from an 
independent medical advisor or OTT be sought.  

5. Depending on the seriousness of the circumstances claimed the case might 
be referred to an independent medical advisor or OTT to provide advice on 
the possible impact of any medical or disability condition to help address 
the impact of the applicant’s current accommodation on that condition.   

6. In the circumstances where the assessing officer believes there may be an 
urgent and immediate need, due to the severity of the impact of their 
current housing on an applicant’s disability, the case can (with a senior 
officer’s approval) be submitted to Cumbria County Council’s Occupational 
Therapy Team (OTT) for a more detailed assessment.  In order to do this 
the OTT may visit the home of the applicant and consider any supporting 
information and may recommend whether Band A or B priority should be 

Page 141

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 64 

awarded, based upon the severity of the case and the urgency of the need 
for re-housing. 

7. The OT may also make recommendations re the type of housing that the 
applicant may need.   

8. Where priority is awarded applicants will only be considered for the type of 
accommodation assessed as being required. For example, if it is assessed 
that an applicant needs to move to a bungalow because due to their 
condition they need to use a wheelchair, they will only be considered for 
suitable properties that meet this need.  

9. There will be occasions when advice, or clarification, from a GP or hospital 
consultant may need to be sought. For example, where it is claimed that an 
applicant’s housing circumstances is severely affecting their mental health.  

10. Where the information indicates that the applicants condition is not so 
urgent and immediate that they are unable to live in their current home, or 
that there is insufficient evidence that the medical condition would be 
significantly improved by alternative housing no award of priority band A or 
B will be made.  

11. The following list sets out some of the circumstances that may qualify for an 
award of priority banding: 

a) An applicant’s inability to manage stairs, control temperature, etc. 
b) Where an applicant is confined to their existing accommodation due to the 

physical nature of that accommodation 
c) Where an applicant’s accommodation is having a significant or exceptional 

impact or is causing an applicant’s mental or physical health. 
d) An applicant’s restricted ability to fend for him/herself in the accommodation 

which may put them at significant risk due to the physical nature of the 
accommodation 

e) The need for adapted housing and/or extra facilities 
f) The need for sheltered or supported housing due to the impact of their 

current housing on a medical condition. 
g) The need for alternative housing as part of a care plan 
 
When assessing whether to award band A or B or no band, the assessing 
officer will follow the 5-stage process set out below:   
 
1. Is the medical/disability issue serious enough for a priority banding to be 
considered?  
2. If the medical condition is serious enough for a priority banding to be 
considered the assessing officer should then decide if there is a direct link 
between the identified medical problem and the applicant’s current housing 
accommodation/situation, i.e. on the facts obtained (from the applicant and any 
medical information or reports submitted including any advice from an 
independent medical advisor or OTT) is the officer accept that the applicant’s 
current housing accommodation/circumstances is making their medical 
condition substantially worse, or will make it worse.  
3. In practical terms the officer should consider the adverse effect this has on 
the applicant’s ability to manage day-to-day tasks in their current home. The 
applicant’s current housing accommodation/circumstances may be impacting 
on their medical condition or disability but not to the extent that an award of 
band A or band B priority should be granted under the criteria adopted for the 
policy. The examples listed for an award of band A or band B should be used 
to guide the officer when making their decision.   

Page 142

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 65 

4. Before making an award the assessing officer needs to be satisfied that 
there is a realistic expectation that the impact on the identified medical 
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved through the 
provision of alternative accommodation.  
5. If the officer is satisfied that the impact on the identified medical 
condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved they would then 
decide whether to award Band A or B depending on the severity of the impact 
and using the examples below to guide them.   
 
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band 
A should be awarded on medical or disability grounds  
 
These examples are intended to guide the assessing officer on the threshold 
set for a band A or band B priority award, or whether no award should be 
made. They will also serve to help an applicant understand the threshold for a 
priority award to be given.  
 
The following are examples of cases that may qualify for Band A award. It may 
apply to the applicant or a member of their household:  
 
1. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life threatening medical 

condition and cannot be discharged from hospital because they do not have 
any accommodation, or their accommodation is unsuitable for example, 
because they cannot access toilet and/or bathing facilities in the property. 
This will include cases that cannot be discharged from hospital due to their 
accommodation being unsuitable.   

2. Applicants who have a progressive, chronic or life threatening medical 
condition and urgently need to move to accommodation with significant 
disabled adaptations, such as accommodation suitable for a wheelchair 
user.  

3. An immediate life threatening condition which is seriously affected by the 
current housing and where re-housing would make that condition 
significantly easier to manage  

4. A serious illness, where an applicant is receiving palliative care and 
urgently requires rehousing to facilitate the on-going provision of that care 

5. A life limiting condition and their current accommodation is affecting their 
ability to retain independence or enable adequate care 

6. The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it 
is likely to become life threatening, e.g. applicant has severe mental health 
problems that are significantly exacerbated by their accommodation; 

7. A new and life-changing condition that severely impairs their mobility, 
meaning they are unable to carry out day-to-day activities, or have difficulty 
accessing facilities inside and outside of their accommodation and require 
housing into suitable accommodation  

8. Where their current property leaves a person at risk of infection, e.g. where 
an applicant is suffering from late-stage or advanced AIDs 

9. Due to limited mobility a person is unable to access essential parts of the 
property e.g. bathroom/toilet.  

10. A member of the household is elderly or disabled or has a progressive 
illness and is likely to require admission to hospital or residential/nursing 
care in the immediate future and re-housing would enable the person to 
remain at home. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 66 

11. Armed forces personnel who need to move to suitable adapted 
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability 
that he or she has sustained as a result of service. 

12. Veterans who have actively served in the armed forces and are suffering 
from severe post traumatic stress disorder or serious illness directly related 
to service in the forces 

13. People who have a severe mental health or learning disability which 
significantly affects their ability to lead a normal life and which puts them at 
risk of admission to hospital or residential care. 

14. People living in a mobile home, caravan or converted vehicle which, due to 
medical conditions, the vehicle cannot meet their essential needs 

15. Where remaining in the current accommodation poses a significant risk of 
serious and permanent injury and/or permanent severe disability 

16. Where the applicant is prevented from having access to kidney dialysis, 
respiratory, or other similar essential equipment. This will normally apply 
where these circumstances are likely to prevent someone from remaining in 
their home for all or most of the time. Such a condition would be likely to be 
ongoing, rather than a temporary condition 

17. Someone with a medical or disability who’s housing has rendered them 
housebound  

18. Where a move would avoid the need for another service (e.g. Social 
Services) from having to provide a significant level of support. This might 
include for example residential care; overnight care provision, or other 
support with similar resource implications 

19. Where someone suffers with epilepsy or other conditions that cause 
frequent and unpredictable falls and all medical interventions to prevent 
them have been investigated. This will involve an assessment of the layout 
of their current accommodation, for example the number and nature of 
steps, stairs or other hazards that may increase the risk of serious injury 

20. Where it is impossible for the person to use essential facilities within the 
home and no adaptation is possible 

21. The applicant or household member requires significant disabled 
adaptations to meet their needs and this is not possible in their current 
accommodation or would not be cost effective.  

 
More extensive examples to help the assessing officer to decide if band 
B should be awarded on medical or disability grounds  
 
1. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a 

move to ground floor or level access accommodation  
2. Applicants who have significant mobility issues and would benefit from a 

move to accommodation that has level access showering facilities  
3. Applicants who have a significant physical or mental health condition that is 

directly affected by their accommodation and where a move to alternative 
accommodation would help to ease or resolve their condition  

4. Applicants who have a medical need for an additional bedroom for 
example, because they have been assessed as requiring an ‘overnight 
carer’, or they need more space to accommodate a substantial amount of 
medical equipment.  

5. Applicants whose housing is unsuitable for severe medical reasons, or due 
to a disability, but who are not housebound, or whose health, or safety is 

Page 144

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 67 

not at such a risk level to require immediate urgent housing may be 
awarded band B 

6. Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy where 
their long term needs cannot be met without long term settled 
accommodation. 

7. A person whose disability means that re-housing would help them to 
overcome physical barriers created by their current accommodation that 
they struggle with e.g. stairs and steps. 

8. A person with a severe disability requiring some adaptations to their 
property that cannot be provided for in their current accommodation. 

9. Where an applicant can access their home, but struggles to access normal 
day-to-day facilities within it (e.g. bath/shower/toilet) without experiencing 
significant difficulty, pain or other discomfort. This would include cases 
where an adaptation is possible but cannot be undertaken in a reasonable 
period of time. (Note: any priority would be removed if an adaptation is 
completed, or work started) 

10. An applicant is suffering from a long-term mental illness that is being 
exacerbated by their accommodation. There will normally not only be GP 
involvement, but other specific mental health support already provided.  

11. Where an applicant is only not housebound due to significant support that is 
available to enable them to get out of their accommodation  

12. An applicant or member of their household with a terminal illness, or long 
term medical debilitating condition, whose current accommodation is not 
necessarily having a significant impact on their condition but where it is 
agreed by the council that their quality of life would be significantly 
improved by moving to alternative more suitable accommodation, or 
accommodation that is nearer to support that is essential for their well 
being. 

 
 
  

Page 145

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 68 

Appendix 2 – Definition of Terms 
 
Accessibility – Used here the term refers to how ‘user friendly’ the service is to 
all people who may want to use it. 
 
Adapted Property – Property that is suitable for those with a physical disability 
i.e. where a stair lift has been fitted. 
 
Automatic Bidding – Within the ICT system a means of expressing an interest 
in a property for someone, without making the bid themselves.  
 
Banding Scheme – The method by which customers are prioritised for social 
housing (previously ‘points schemes’). 
 
Bidding – The term used to describe people who register an interest in a 
property (no money is involved in making the bid). 
 
Choice Based Lettings (CBL) – The system of letting property that gives 
customers choice in where they live through advertising property. 
 
Housing Register – One list for all of Cumbria of people applying for social 
housing (previously ‘housing waiting lists’). 
 
Applicants – Those people applying to the scheme for housing. 
 
Effective Date – The date used to decide between customers in the same 
Band to establish who has waited longest. 
 
Fully Occupied – Bedrooms in the property that are being fully used in terms of 
the household occupying the property in accordance with the table in Appendix 
6.  When they are not fully used the property could be considered under 
occupied.   
 
Hard to Let – Low demand property where it takes longer to find a tenant. 
 
Housing Options – A term used to describe a service that advises customers of 
all their choices and includes mutual exchanges, low cost home ownership and 
renting in the private sector. 
 
Letting Policy – The means by which it is decided how property will be offered 
to customers. 
 
Local Lettings – Policy made in local areas (to tackle specific, identified 
housing management issues) on how property will be offered that differs in 
some part from the overall scheme policy. 
 
Management Discretion – Property that is offered directly to an identified 
person without being advertised. 
 
Partnership – The name for the District Councils and housing associations that 
have funded, developed and continues to operate the scheme.  
 

Page 146

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 69 

Proxy Bidding – a Local Authority or Registered Provider places bids on the 
customer’s behalf. 
 
Social Housing Providers – The term for a variety of housing organisations that 
provides not for profit housing and included local authorities, housing 
associations. 
 
 
  

Page 147

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 70 

Appendix 3: How any local lettings policy will be applied and reviewed 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local 
ward or area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that 
the housing allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable 
communities.  
 
They will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities (such as 
a particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, or 
may be applied to a parish or a village in a rural area). Each local lettings 
policy will be based on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered 
from a variety of sources and may include, for example, evidence from internal 
departments, partner Housing Associations, local Councillors, and the 
community itself. (Evidence may include information such as tenant profiling, 
the incidence of anti-social behaviour, and stock turnover in a particular block, 
street or area, a neighbourhood plan or the need to provide housing for local 
people in rural villages and parishes, or evidence from the Local Housing 
Authority internal departments i.e. environmental health). 
 
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed 
under this policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
1) Age restrictions. 
2) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the CCP.  
3) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
4) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of 

children and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
5) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for 

example, under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future 
family growth. 

6) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households 
allocated to a scheme. 

7) Enhanced local connection restrictions relating to a specific parish.  
 
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (depending on the 
planning permission or agreement reached these may apply to first lettings 
only or be ongoing) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a 
Section 106 agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new 
development is subject to a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will 
be followed.  
 
In order to ensure a reasonable mix of household sizes and types, and families 
with children of different ages, a local lettings policy will normally be used for 
new developments larger than four properties. The local authority may set 
restrictions on the number of lettings, which can be made to families with 
young children, for example, or the number of families who are not working. 
 
How will a local lettings policy be assessed and agreed? 
 
The process for agreeing local letting policies may differ across the Cumbrian 
region. In some districts the decision is made by the Council and in other 

Page 148

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 71 

districts the decision is for the stock holding CCP partner in consultation with 
the Council.  
 
There must be a clear evidence base for adopting a local lettings policy. The 
following framework will be used to decide whether a local lettings policy is 
appropriate:   
 
1) That there is a clear definition of the objective to be achieved by that 

particular local lettings policy. 
2) That there is a clear evidence base to back up the need for a local lettings 

policy. 
3) That any potential equality impact has been considered.  
4) How long the local lettings policy is intended to operate. 
5) When the local lettings policy should be reviewed. 
  
A written record of each policy adopted or rejected should be kept.  
 
It is the intention that local lettings policies will be fluid with new policies being 
added as are required and existing policies being deleted once the objective 
for that policy has been met. Local lettings polices must be approved by the 
exceptions panel before they are applied.  
 
All local letting polices will be reported to the CCP Board who will discuss any 
polices where there is any dispute over the wish to apply a local letting policy.  
 
The intention is for all current local lettings policies to be listed as a link to the 
on-line version of this policy so the public can see which polices are in 
operation at any point in time. In addition any property advert will state whether 
there are any local lettings restrictions or criteria.  
  

Page 149

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 72 

Appendix 4: Definition of a reasonable offer  
 
A refusal of an offer of the correct size and type will normally be considered 
unreasonable. 
 
Guidance on reasonable and unreasonable refusals: 
 
1) Property size 
 
The property must be the appropriate size for the household's needs at the 
time of making the offer. Where the family composition has changed, so that 
the property offered is too small or large for the applicant's needs, the refusal 
will be recorded as reasonable. 

 
It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that they register any change in 
their circumstances that will affect the number of bedrooms to which they are 
entitled. 

 
Where the applicant refuses a property because it is too small on grounds of 
the need for an additional or larger bedroom(s) due to medical/mobility factors, 
but it meets the lettings standard, this will normally be considered to be an 
unreasonable refusal unless the applicant provides new medical information at 
the offer stage that is accepted by the CCP. 
 
2) Property type 
 
It will not be considered to be a reasonable refusal due to a dislike of the 
property type. Therefore an applicant cannot reasonably refuse an offer 
because for example, it is in a tower block, it does not have a garden or a 
particular heating system, it is on a wrong floor, or does not have a lift. If the 
applicant states medical grounds for refusing the property, these should 
already have been disclosed and considered as part of the assessment of their 
application, unless new information is submitted that is accepted by the CCP.   

 
Where specialist accommodation is offered to a household inappropriately, this 
is considered to be a reasonable refusal. This may be for example: 
 

a) Offers of wheelchair standard housing to households which do not have 
wheelchair users 

b) Offers made to disabled applicants which are unsuitable for their needs, 
for example where they are unable to open a door entry system 
because the doors are too heavy 

c) Offers of sheltered housing where the applicant is not of the appropriate 
age. 

 
3) Property condition 
 
Where a property is refused on grounds of repair/decoration, this will be 
considered an unreasonable refusal unless the voids team decides to withdraw 
the property from letting for further works to be carried out. 
 
 

Page 150

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 73 

 
 
 
4) Area of choice 
 
Where the offer is not within one of the applicant's specified areas, the refusal 
will not be considered to be reasonable. It should also be noted that where an 
applicant is made a direct offer such as: where the applicant has been 
assessed as being statutory homeless and are owed a statutory homeless 
duty, area of choice will not apply. 
 
5) Racial harassment 
 
Where an applicant from a black or ethnic minority household refuses the 
property prior to viewing because the previous tenant was rehoused as a result 
of racial harassment, or there is a known problem of racial harassment in the 
vicinity of the property, the refusal is considered reasonable. 
 
6) Choice of landlord 
 
An applicant receiving a direct offer cannot choose whether they are rehoused 
by the Council or by a Housing Association or a specific Housing Association. 
Therefore, any refusal of Housing Association property because, for example, 
there is no Right to Buy, or Right to Acquire, or the rent is higher than another 
social landlord will not be considered to be reasonable (unless in the example 
of the rent level the assessment is that the offer is unaffordable for the 
applicant in question). 
 
7) Pets 
 
One of the conditions of the tenancy agreement is that a tenant must obtain the 
written consent of the landlord before keeping domestic pets.  

 
Any intention to keep a pet must comply with the Council’s or partner Housing 
Association’s tenancy terms and conditions, which means that permission must 
be sought and agreed prior to signing the tenancy agreement for the property. 
Therefore any refusal on the basis that permission has not been granted to 
keep a pet is not reasonable. 
 
  

Page 151

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 74 

Appendix 5: Contact Details for all Partner Organisations 
 
Accent Housing Association 
Ambassador House 
Dalton Road 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 1HZ 
Tel: 0345 6780555 
 
Allerdale Borough Council                           
Allerdale House 
New Bridge Road 
Workington 
CA14 3YJ 
Tel: 03031 231702 
 
Barrow Housing Department 
Town Hall 
Duke Street 
Barrow-in-Furness 
LA14 2LD 
Tel: 01229 876550  
 
Carlisle City Council 
Civic Centre 
Rickergate 
Carlisle 
CA3 8QG 
Tel: 01228 817200 
 
Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG 
Tel: 01946 598300 
 
Eden District Council 
Mansion House 
Friar Gate 
Penrith 
CA11 7YG 
Tel: 01768 817817 
 
Eden Housing Association 
Blain House 
Bridge Lane 
Penrith 
CA11 8QU 
Tel: 01768 861400 
 
 

Page 152

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 75 

Home Group 
PO Box 115 
Duke Street 
Whitehaven 
CA28 0BT 
Tel: 0345 1414663 
 
Impact Housing Association 
Nook Street 
Workington 
CA14 4EH 
Tel:  0344 8736290 
 
Riverside Housing Association 
English Gate Plaza 
Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RP 
Tel: 0345 111 0000 
 
South Lakeland District Council 
South Lakeland House 
Lowther Street 
Kendal 
LA9 4DQ 
Tel: 01539 733333 
 
South Lakes Housing 
Bridge Mills Business Centre 
Stramongate 
Kendal 
LA9 4BD 
Tel: 0300 303 8540 
 
Castles and Coasts Housing Association 
3 Castle Street 
Carlisle 
CA3 8SY 
Tel: 0800 0851171 
  

Page 153

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 76 

Appendix 6 - Household Type and Property Size – This will need to be 
amended according to the overcrowding rules that the CCP want to adopt 
as discussed in overcrowding section of the section 4 banding table  
 
This table provides guidance on the size of home that different types of 
household can bid for on Cumbria Choice.  This is supplemented by the more 
detailed information which each housing provider places in individual 
advertisements and in guidance published on the Cumbria Choice website.  
 
Household Bedsit 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+bed 

 

Single person 
  

D D   

2 Adults 
(couple 
including 
same sex 
couples) 

  
D  D   

2 Adults (non 
couple) 

  
 * 

D   

Single  1 
child 

  
 

D   

Single  2 
child 

  
  

  

Single  3 
Child 

   
  

 

Single 4 or 
more children 

   
   

Couple 1 
child 

  
 

D   

Couple 2 
child 

  
  

  

Couple 3 
child 

   
  

 

Couple 4 or 
more children 

   
   

 
 
 
NB Households with access to children will not be able to include 

them as part of the household when looking at eligibility for 
property size.   
See section 2.1 Households with access to children/joint custody. 

 
 
  

Page 154

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 77 

 
 
Key 
 
 

   Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type 
 

 Number of bedrooms allowed for this household type, subject to 
the ages of the children.   
Two children under the age of 10 are usually expected to share a 
bedroom.   
Two children of the same sex are usually expected to share a 
bedroom until they are 16.   
Once a child is 16 a separate bedroom is allowed. 

 
D Allowed by discretion only when stated in the advertisement.  

This is most likely to apply in one of the following circumstances: 

 There is low demand for the type of property in the location  

 There is lack of supply of smaller homes in the location  

 A local lettings or s106 policy applies 
 

* Some providers may only allow households with children to bid 

on houses   
 
 
  

Page 155

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 78 

Appendix 7 - Right to Move Qualifying Criteria 
 
To meet the Allocation of Housing (qualification criteria for the Right to Move - 
England) Regulations 2015, a local connection may not be applied to existing 
social tenants seeking to transfer from another local authority district in 
England who: -  

 

 Have reasonable preference under Section 166(3)(e) because of a need to 
move to the Local Authority’s district to avoid hardship, and 

 Need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Need to move to take up an offer of work 
 
QUALIFYING CRITERIA 
 
This applies to existing social housing tenants: - 
 

 Who need to move within a Local Authority area or to another local 
authority area to avoid hardship, and 

 Who need to move because the tenant works in the district, or 

 Who need to move to take up an offer of work? 
 
What the Local Authority should take into account: - 
 
Need to Move: 
 
Tenants must need to move, not simply want to move.  Factors to consider in 
determining `need` are: - 
 

 The distance and/or time taken to travel between home and work. 

 Availability and affordability of transport as against earnings. 

 Nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available nearer 
home. 

 Other personal factors, for instance medical conditions, child care 

 Length of work contract. 

 Would failure to move mean a lost opportunity to improve employment 
circumstances or prospects?   

 
Work: 
 
`Work` only qualifies as `work` if it is not: - 
 
Short term: 
 
- Consider whether the work is regular or intermittent (particularly relevant for 

the self-employed). 
- Consider the period of employment – a contract of less than 12 months 

could be considered short-term. 
 

Marginal: 
 
- Less than 16 hours per week could be considered marginal 
- Consider the level of earnings. 

Page 156

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 79 

 
Voluntary: 
 
- Unpaid, or expenses only. 

 
Ancillary: 
 
- That is, if the person works occasionally in another local authority area, but 

main place of work is a different area, the work is excluded. 
 
Verification and Evidence 
 
The tenant must be able demonstrate that he/she has a genuine job offer and 
that he/she has a genuine intention to take it up. 
 
Appropriate evidence could include: - 

 

 A formal offer letter. 

 A contract of employment. 

 Wage/salary slips covering a certain period, or bank statements (zero hour 
contracts). 

 Tax and benefits information, for example proof of receipt of working tax 
credit. 

 
  

Page 157

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 80 

Appendix 8: Person(s) Who Will Take Specific Decisions this will be 
added to the final policy  
  

Page 158

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 

 81 

Appendix 9: How major changes will be considered by each of the 6 Cumbrian 
Councils 
 
Will be added to the final policy  
  

Page 159

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



 

 82 

Appendix 10: The revised Equality Impact Assessment June 2020 
 
This is attached to the policy as a separate document given its length. A copy can be 
emailed on request. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

 Executive Committee 
8 July, 2020

 Right of Succession Policy Review

 
Report from:  Janice Sharp – Assistant Director - Housing

Report Author: Caroline Wagstaff – Operations Manager

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions
Approval of the Right of Succession Policy – Appendix 1 - will ensure that there 
is greater clarity of the different types of succession that can be granted to 
tenants and where appropriate to a member of the family who may be entitled to 
succeed the tenancy. It will also provide a framework and criteria for when 
‘Discretionary Tenancies’ may be granted.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee: 

(1) Note the content of the report; and
(2) Approve the Right of Succession Policy and Procedure as attached at 

Appendix 1 to the report.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 This policy and procedure will outline Barrow Borough Council’s approach to 

right of succession in line with current legislation.  It will apply to Council tenants 
and, where appropriate, to a member of the tenant’s family who may be entitled 
to succeed a tenancy.

3.2 The Localism Act 2011 made significant changes to the succession rights of 
family members living with council tenants where the tenancy started after 1 
April, 2012.

3.3 The majority of Council tenants are secure tenants.  The rights of existing 
occupiers of council housing as at 1 April 2012 to succeed to a secure tenancy in 
England are governed by sections 88 and 89 of the Housing Act 1985.  

One statutory succession is allowed to a surviving spouse (this includes civil 
partners) or a member of the deceased tenants family.  Where a tenancy was 

Page 161

Agenda Item 16



originally a joint tenancy and one of the joint tenants dies or surrenders their 
interest, this counts as a succession and no further statutory successions will be 
allowed.

The would-be successor must, at the time of death of the original secure tenant, 
occupy the dwelling house as their only or principal home and be either the 
deceased tenant’s spouse (or civil partner) or another member of the deceased 
tenant’s family.

The right of succession applied only to a right to succeed to a tenancy not 
necessarily to a property – where a property is considerably too large for the new 
successor they may be moved to a smaller property.

3.4 This policy and associated procedure relates to the following Council tenancy 
agreements:

 Introductory Tenancy Agreement
 Secure Tenancy Agreement

3.5 Our Policy

3.5.1 When dealing with a potential succession the Council will:

 Ensure that any statutory or contractual  succession rights are exercised in a 
fair and proportionate manner;

 Ensure our housing stock is allocated and managed in a fair proportionate 
manner having regard to our Allocations  Policy ;

 Have regard to the needs of those persons who are covered by this policy 
and who may be vulnerable.

3.5.2 If the Council grants a family member a discretionary tenancy, the tenancy will 
be an Introductory Tenancy.

3.6 Our Procedure

3.6.1 The procedure deals with three situations:

1. The death of a joint tenant;
2. A request to succeed made by a husband, wife, civil partner (or, in some 

circumstances, a person living with the deceased tenant as their husband, 
wife or civil partner).

3. A request to succeed made by a family member of the deceased tenant.

3.6.2 Generally, where there is no-one eligible to succeed under the relevant statutory 
or contractual provisions, the Council will expect anyone left in occupation of the 
deceased tenant’s property to leave.  In exceptional circumstances, the Council 
may, in its absolute discretion, grant a new tenancy of the deceased tenant’s 
property or another more suitable property to a family member who has lived 

Page 162

Agenda Item 16



with the tenant.  The Council will make the decision on whether to grant a new 
tenancy taking into account relevant circumstances including, but not limited to:

 Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy;
 The demand from other housing applicants existing at the time;
 The behaviour of the individual and their household members;
 The size and suitability of the property;
 The length of time they have lived at the property as their only or principal 

home.

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 The Right of Succession Policy Review has not been subject to a consultation 

process due to amendments being in line with statutory legislation.  The policy 
and procedure has been drafted by specialist housing solicitors having regard to 
current legislation.

4.2 The Equality Impact Assessment has been reviewed and updated as part of this 
policy review.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 Members could choose not to recommend approval of the amended policy or 

request  additional or substantive changes. This is not recommended as the 
updates recommended will provide a clearer policy and one which is responding 
to legislative changes .

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The proposed amendments to the policy contributes to the Council’s vision “For 

our Borough to be great place to live work and visit” and will assist the Council in 
meeting the Priority of Place to “Create a vibrant, safe and welcoming place 
where people want to live”.

7.0 Implications 
7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1.1 The policy review and implementation of the policy will be undertaken within 

existing budgets. 

7.2 Legal 
7.2.1 The revised right of succession policy has been reviewed by specialist  housing 

solicitors in line with current legislation including:

 Localism Act 2011
 Housing Act 1985

7.2.2 Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a duty to ensure that any policies it 
adopts do not directly or indirectly discriminate against any particular groups of 
people.  The Council has undertaken an equality impact assessment to ensure 

Page 163

Agenda Item 16



that the policy is fair to all customers and to demonstrate that the Council has 
discharged its public sector equality duty in this respect. 

7.3 Equality and Diversity 
An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out as part of the right of 
Succession Policy Review and the policy amended to reflect this. 

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
The current Policy does not meet 
statutory requirements

 The Council could be 
open for legal challenge 
which would incur costs 
outside existing budgets. 

Approval of the right of 
succession policy and 
procedure.

Contact Officers 
Report Author – Caroline Wagstaff, Operations Manager Tel:  01229 876310

Appendices Attached to this Report
 
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1 Right of Succession Policy and Procedure

Page 164

Agenda Item 16



Page 1 of 11 
 

Barrow Borough Council – Housing Department 

SUCCESSION POLICY & PROCEDURE 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 This policy and procedure will outline the approach of Barrow-in-Furness Borough 
Council (‘the Council’) to succession. It will apply to Council tenants, where 
appropriate to a member of the tenant’s family who may be entitled to succeed and 
to a member of a tenant’s family left in occupation of a Council property upon the 
death of the tenant who is not entitled to succeed. 

 
1.2 This policy and associated procedure relate to the following Council tenancy 

agreements: 
 

 Introductory Tenancy Agreement  

 Secure Tenancy Agreement  
 

2.0 Our Policy 
 

2.1 When dealing with a potential succession the Council will: 
 

i. Endeavour to ensure that any statutory or contractual succession rights are 
exercised in a fair and proportionate manner; 

 
ii. Ensure that our housing stock is allocated and managed in a fair and 

proportionate manner having regard to our Allocations Policy and waiting list; 
 

iii. Have regard to the needs of those persons who are covered by this Policy and 
who may be vulnerable. 

 
2.2 Generally, where there is no-one eligible to succeed under the relevant statutory or 

contractual provisions the Council will expect anyone left in occupation of the 
deceased tenant’s property to leave. In exceptional circumstances, the Council may, 
in its absolute discretion, grant a new tenancy of the deceased tenant’s property or 
another more suitable property to a family member who has lived with the tenant. 
The Council will make the decision on whether to grant a new tenancy of the existing 
property or another Council property taking into account relevant circumstances 
including, but not limited to:  

 

 Its Allocations Policy;  

 The waiting list and demand from other housing applicants  existing at the time; 

 The behaviour of the individual and their household members;  

 The size and suitability of the property; 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 165

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 2 of 11 
 

 The length of time they have lived at the property as their only or principal home.   
 

2.3 If the Council does grant a family member a discretionary tenancy in accordance 
with paragraph 2.2 above, the tenancy will normally be an Introductory Tenancy.   

 
3.0 What does this Procedure deal with? 
 
3.1          This Procedure deals with three situations: 
 

I. the death of a joint tenant; 
II. a request to succeed made by a husband, wife, civil partner (or, in some 

circumstances, a person living with the deceased tenant as their husband, 
wife or civil partner); 

III. a request to succeed made by a family member of the deceased tenant. 
 
3.2          Refer to paragraph 2.2 for any person falling outside of these categories. 
 
4.1 Death of a joint tenant (Introductory & Secure tenancies)  
 
4.1.1 Upon being informed that a joint tenant has died the Housing Officer should 

contact the remaining joint tenant and request that a copy of the death certificate 
for the deceased tenant be provided. If a death certificate cannot be provided 
immediately, other conclusive proof of death should be supplied in the meantime 
and the death certificate provided at the soonest opportunity. This matter should 
be dealt with in a sensitive manner having regard to the current situation. When 
possible contact should be made in person by the Housing Officer at the address of 
the tenant. 

 
4.1.2 Once a copy of the death certificate or other proof of death has been obtained a 

copy should be saved onto the relevant tenancy file. The Housing Officer should 
arrange for the Council’s electronic system to be updated, including the rent 
account (current rent balance to remain the same), and remove the deceased 
tenant’s name. 

 
4.1.3 A letter should then be sent or hand delivered to the remaining joint tenant as per 

Appendix A which confirms that they are the sole tenant of the property and that 
no further succession can take place. 

 
4.1.4 In the event that that the Housing Officer cannot make contact with the remaining 

tenant the matter should be referred to their Line Manager for further appropriate 
action to be taken. 

 
4.2 Request to succeed by husband, wife or civil partner (or, in relation to a secure 

tenancy granted on or after 1 April 2012, a person living with the tenant as their 
husband, wife or civil partner) in relation to both Introductory & Secure tenancies  

 

Page 166

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 3 of 11 
 

4.2.1 Upon the death of a sole tenant the Council may receive a request to succeed from 
the husband, wife or civil partner of the deceased tenant (or, in relation to a 
tenancy granted on or after 1 April 2012, a person living with the tenant as their 
husband, wife or civil partner). Following receipt of such a request the Housing 
Officer should send a Request to Succeed Form (RSF) as per Appendix B either by 
post or hand delivery to the potential successor along with the standard 
acknowledgement letter as per Appendix C. Alternatively, an appointment can be 
arranged for the individual to attend a Council office to complete the form. The RSF 
should be completed and returned to the Council, with relevant documentation in 
support, within 14 days. 

 
4.2.2 Should the potential successor fail to return the RSF within the 14 day period then 

the Housing Officer should attempt to make contact with them by telephone, home 
visit, e-mail etc. Should the potential successor fail to make contact within 21 days 
of the RSF being sent their application should be treated as being refused and a 
decision letter should, as per Appendix G, be sent to the potential successor. 
(Please note the template letter will need amending to fit the circumstances of the 
specific case). 

 
4.2.3 Should the potential successor return the RSF without sufficient information to 

support their application to succeed the Housing Officer should decide, possibly 
with the assistance of their Line Manager, whether or not the RSF should be 
processed or whether it would be sensible to allow the potential successor 
additional time to provide the outstanding information. If it is decided to allow 
additional time to provide the outstanding information the potential successor 
should be informed of this. 

 
4.2.4 Should the potential successor return the RSF and relevant documents the Housing 

Officer should review all documents and complete the relevant sections of the RSF 
confirming whether the application is refused or approved.  

 
4.2.5 Once the Housing Officer has made their decision they should normally have this 

decision approved by their Line Manager. This must be done prior to the potential 
successor being informed of the decision. 

 
4.2.6 Once the Line Manager has approved the Decision a decision letter should be sent 

to potential successor as per Appendix G. (Please note the template letter will need 
amending to fit the circumstances of the specific case). 

 
4.2.7 If it has been decided that the request to succeed has been approved the Housing 

Officer should ensure that the following tasks are completed: 
 

i. The Succession Approval Form as per Appendix H is completed and signed by 
the successor; 

 

Page 167

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 4 of 11 
 

ii. Copies of the Succession Approval Form and the deceased tenant’s death 
certificate and/or other proof of death are retained on the Council’s systems 
and saved to the relevant tenancy/property; 

 
iii. The Council’s records are updated, including the rent account, with the full 

name of the successor in place of the deceased tenant; 
 

NB. If the succession is approved, the tenancy of the deceased tenant will 
automatically (in law) become the tenancy of the successor from the date of the 
tenant’s death. No new tenancy agreement need be signed. However, rent 
arrears accrued up to the date when the tenant died will be written off or only 
sought from the legal estate of the deceased. 

 
4.2.8 If the  request to succeed is rejected, a Notice to Quit (NTQ) should be prepared. 

The NTQ should be addressed to The Personal Representative of the deceased 
tenant as per Appendix D and be hand delivered to the property.  

 
4.2.9 A Certificate of Service as per Appendix E should then be completed by whoever 

served the NTQ and be kept on file. A copy of the NTQ should also be lodged with 
the Public Trustee using Form NL1 as per Appendix F.  Immediately after the expiry 
of the NTQ, the deceased tenant’s Rent Account must be brought to an end. If the 
failed successor remains in occupation of the deceased tenant’s property a Mesne 
Profit account should be created. 

 

4.2.10 The Housing Officer must then refer the matter to their Line Manager for legal 
action to be considered against the failed successor to remove them from the 
property via a Claim for Possession based on trespass.     

 
NB. If the succession has been approved but the property was specially adapted 
for a disabled person and there is no longer a disabled person residing, the 
Council will consider inviting the successor to move to a more suitable property. 
If this is rejected, the Council will consider whether to use Ground 13 Schedule 2 
Housing Act 1985 to move the successor to a different property. 

 
4.3 Request to succeed by family member in relation to the Council’s Introductory 

Tenancy  
 
4.3.1 Following the death of a sole tenant who is an Introductory Tenant a family 

member may be entitled to succeed to the tenancy so long as they satisfy the 
criteria in the current applicable legislation, which as at the time of this Procedure 
being approved is s.131 Housing Act 1996. The position may be changed in future if 
certain provisions of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 are brought into force – no 
date had yet been set by the government as at the time of this Procedure being 
approved.  For introductory tenancies, the exhaustive list of family members is set 
out in the Housing Act 1996. 

Page 168

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 5 of 11 
 

NB. The current criteria referred to above are: (a) the deceased tenant cannot be 
a successor themselves; (b) the family member occupied the deceased tenant’s 
property as their only or principal home at the time of the tenant’s death; and (c) 
the family member resided with the deceased tenant throughout the period of 12 
months ending with the tenant’s death.    
 

4.3.2 A family member who is under the age of 18 may be entitled to succeed the 
tenancy agreement. Succession applications involving a minor can be complex and 
it is advisable that the Housing Officer speak with the Line Manager immediately 
with a view to obtaining legal advice. 

 
4.3.3 If it is clear that the family member has not resided with the deceased tenant for at 

least 12 months prior to the tenant’s death, the request will be rejected and the 
Housing Officer can send the decision letter as per Appendix G (Please note the 
template letter will need amending to fit the circumstances of the specific case). 
Please note that the fact that the tenancy is an introductory tenancy does not 
automatically mean that the succession criteria are not met.  The case of Waltham 
Forest LBC v Thomas 1992 held that the 12 month continuous co-residency 
requirement does not all need to be met in the current property – it can be met by 
including time spent together in the previous property. The Housing Officer should 
then follow paragraphs 4.3.11  to 4.3.13 below.  

 
4.3.4 If the Housing Officer is unsure as to the length of time which the potential 

successor had resided with the deceased tenant, then on being notified of the 
tenant’s death the RSF (Appendix B) should be sent to or hand delivered to the 
potential successor along with a standard acknowledgment letter as per Appendix 
C. The completed RSF and documents in support should be returned to the Council 
within 14 days. 

 
4.3.5 Should the potential successor fail to return the RSF within the 14 day period then 

the Housing Officer should attempt to make contact with them by telephone, home 
visit, e-mail etc. Should the potential successor fail to make contact within 21 days 
of the RSF being sent their application should be treated as being refused and a 
decision letter, as per Appendix G, must be sent to the potential successor. (Please 
note the template letter will need amending to fit the circumstances of the specific 
case). 

 
4.3.6 Should the potential successor return the RSF without sufficient information the 

Housing Officer should decide whether or not the RSF should be processed or 
whether it would be sensible to allow the potential successor additional time to 
provide the outstanding information. If it is decided to allow an additional time the 
potential successor should be informed of this. 

 
4.3.7 Should the potential successor return the RSF and relevant documents the Housing 

Officer should review all documents and complete the relevant sections of the RSF 
confirming whether the application is refused or approved.  

 

Page 169

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 6 of 11 
 

4.3.8 Once the Housing Officer has made their decision they should have this decision 
approved by their Line Manager. This must be done prior to the potential successor 
being informed of the decision. 

 
4.3.9 Once the Line Manager has approved the Decision of the Housing Officer a decision 

letter should be sent to potential successor as per Appendix G. 
 
4.3.10 If it has been decided that the request to succeed has been approved the Housing 

Officer should ensure that the following tasks are completed: 
 

i. The Succession Approval Form as per Appendix H is completed and signed by 
the successor; 

 
ii. Copies of the Succession Approval Form and the deceased tenant’s death 

certificate and/or other proof of death are retained on the Council’s systems 
and saved to the relevant tenancy/property; 

 
iii. The Council’s records are updated, including the rent account, with the full 

name of the successor in place of the deceased tenant. 
 

NB. If the succession is approved, the tenancy of the deceased tenant will 
automatically (in law) become the tenancy of the successor from the date of the 
tenant’s death. No new tenancy agreement need be signed. However, rent 
arrears accrued up to the date when the tenant died will be written off or only 
sought from the legal estate of the deceased. 

 
4.3.11 If the request to succeed is rejected,a Notice to Quit (NTQ) should be prepared. The 

NTQ should be addressed to The Personal Representative of the deceased tenant 
as per Appendix D and be hand delivered to the property.  

 
4.3.12 A Certificate of Service as per Appendix E should then be completed by whoever 

served the NTQ and be kept on file. A copy of the NTQ should also be lodged with 
the Public Trustee using Form NL1 as per Appendix F.  Immediately after the expiry 
of the NTQ, the deceased tenant’s Rent Account must be brought to an end. If the 
failed successor remains in occupation of the deceased tenant’s property a Mesne 
Profit account should be created. 

 
4.3.13 The Housing Officer must then refer the matter to their Line Manager for legal 

action to be considered against the failed successor to remove them from the 
property via a Claim for Possession based on trespass.     

 
4.4 Request to succeed by family member in relation to a Council Secure tenancy 

which commenced PRIOR to 1st April 2012 or which, if commencing after this 
date, includes an express clause permitting a family member to succeed to the 
tenancy       

 

Page 170

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 7 of 11 
 

4.4.1 Following the death of a sole tenant a family member may be entitled to succeed to 
the tenancy so long as they satisfying the criteria in the applicable legislation which 
was in force prior to 1st April 2012 or the criteria within the tenancy agreement. For 
secure tenancies granted prior to 1st April 2012, a person who was neither married 
to nor in a civil partnership with the deceased tenant, but who lived with the 
tenant as if they were a spouse or civil partner (i.e. a long term cohabiting partner) 
is classed as a family member.  The exhaustive list of family members is set out in 
the Housing Act 1985. 

 
NB. The criteria referred to above are: (a) the deceased tenant cannot be a 
successor themselves; (b) the family member occupied the deceased tenant’s 
property as their only or principal home at the time of the tenant’s death; and (c) 
the family member resided with the deceased tenant throughout the period of 12 
months ending with the tenant’s death.    

 
4.4.2 A family member who is under the age of 18 may be entitled to succeed the 

tenancy agreement. Succession applications involving a minor can be complex and 
it is advisable that the Housing Officer speak with the Line Manager immediately 
with a view to obtaining legal advice. 

 
4.4.3 If it is clear that the family member has not resided with the deceased tenant for at 

least 12 months prior to the tenant’s death (whether in the current property or in a 
previous property if the tenancy is less than a year old) the request will be rejected 
and the Housing Officer can send the decision letter as per Appendix G (Please note 
the template letter will need amending to fit the circumstances of the specific 
case). The Housing Officer should then follow paragraphs 4.4.11 to 4.4.13.  

 
4.4.4 If the Housing Officer is unsure as to the length of time the potential successor has 

resided at the property / with the deceased tenant, then on being notified of the 
tenant’s death the RSF (Appendix B) should be sent to or hand delivered to the 
potential successor along with a standard acknowledgment letter as per Appendix 
C. The completed RSF and documents in support should be returned to the Council 
within 14 days. 

 
4.4.5 Should the potential successor fail to return the RSF within the 14 day period then 

the Housing Officer should attempt to make contact with them by telephone, home 
visit, e-mail etc. Should the potential successor fail to make contact within 21 days 
of the RSF being sent their application should be treated as being refused and a 
decision letter, as per Appendix G, must be sent to the potential successor. (Please 
note the template letter will need amending to fit the circumstances of the specific 
case). 

 
4.4.6 Should the potential successor return the RSF without sufficient information the 

Housing Officer should decide whether or not the RSF should be processed or 
whether it would be sensible to allow the potential successor additional time to 
provide the outstanding information. If it is decided to allow an additional time the 
potential successor should be informed of this. 

Page 171

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 8 of 11 
 

4.4.7 Should the potential successor return the RSF and relevant documents the Housing 
Officer should review all documents and complete the relevant sections of the RSF 
confirming whether the application is refused or approved.  

 
4.4.8 Once the Housing Officer has made their decision they should have this decision 

approved by their Line Manager. This must be done prior to the potential successor 
being informed of the decision. 

 
4.4.9 Once the Line Manager has approved the Decision of the Housing Officer a decision 

letter should be sent to potential successor as per Appendix G. 
 
4.4.10 If it has been decided that the request to succeed has been approved the Housing 

Officer should ensure that the following tasks are completed: 
 

i. The Succession Approval Form as per Appendix H is completed and signed by 
the successor; 

 
ii. Copies of the Succession Approval Form and the deceased tenant’s death 

certificate and/or other proof of death are retained on the Council’s systems 
and saved to the relevant tenancy/property; 

 
iii. The Council’s records are updated, including the rent account, with the full 

name of the successor in place of the deceased tenant; 
 

NB. If the succession is approved, the tenancy of the deceased tenant will 
automatically (in law) become the tenancy of the successor from the date of the 
tenant’s death. No new tenancy agreement need be signed.  

 
NB. If the succession has been approved but the property is more extensive than 
is reasonably required, or was specially adapted for a disabled person and there is 
no longer a disabled person residing, the Council will consider inviting the 
successor to move to a more suitable property. If this is rejected, the Council will 
consider whether to use Ground 15A (under-occupation) or Ground 13 (adapted 
property) Schedule 2 Housing Act 1985 to move the successor to a different 
property.  

 
4.4.11 If the request to succeed is rejected, a Notice to Quit (NTQ) should be prepared. 

The NTQ should be addressed to The Personal Representative of the deceased 
tenant as per Appendix D and be hand delivered to the property.  

 
4.4.12 A Certificate of Service as per Appendix E should then be completed by whoever 

served the NTQ and be kept on file. A copy of the NTQ should also be lodged with 
the Public Trustee using Form NL1 as per Appendix F.  Immediately after the expiry 
of the NTQ, the deceased tenant’s Rent Account must be brought to an end. If the 
failed successor remains in occupation of the deceased tenant’s property a Mesne 
Profit account should be created. 

 

Page 172

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 9 of 11 
 

4.4.13 The Housing Officer must then refer the matter to their Line Manager for legal 
action to be considered against the failed successor to remove them from the 
property via a Claim for Possession based on trespass.     

 
4.5 Request to succeed by a family member of a sole Secure tenant whose tenancy 

commenced on or after 1st April 2012 and does not contain any express clause 
allowing a family member to succeed 

 
4.5.1 If a request to succeed is received from a non-eligible family member then they will 

not be permitted to succeed and will not normally be allowed to remain in the 
property. The Housing Officer should confirm this in writing as per the template at 
Appendix I after receiving approval from their Line Manager. The Housing Officer 
should then follow the process as set out at 4.5.2 to 4.5.4 below. 

 
NB. At this time, and only if requested by a family member who is not allowed to 
succeed, the Council may consider offering a discretionary tenancy having regard 
to paragraphs 2.2. and 2.3 above.   

 
4.5.2 In any event, a NTQ should be prepared at the same time that the letter is sent to 

the family member. The NTQ should be addressed to The Personal Representative 
of the deceased tenant as per Appendix D and be hand delivered to the property.  

 
4.5.3 A Certificate of Service as per Appendix E should then be completed by whoever 

served the NTQ and be kept on file. A copy of the NTQ should also be lodged with 
the Public Trustee using Form NL1 as per Appendix F. 

 
4.5.4 Immediately following the expiry of the NTQ the Housing Officer must arrange for 

the deceased tenant’s Rent Account to be ended. If the failed successor is still in 
occupation of the property a Mesne Profit account should be opened.  

 
4.5.5 The Housing Officer must then refer the case to their Line Manager for legal action 

to be considered against the failed successor to remove them from the property via 
a Claim for Possession based on trespass.  

 
4.6 Applications where there is more than one person qualified to succeed 
 
4.6.1 Only one person can succeed to a tenancy under statute.  If two or more people are 

qualified to succeed to the tenancy, they may agree between them as to who shall 
succeed to the tenancy.  If they do not agree, then the Council must choose the 
successor on their behalf and the following order of priority applies under statute 
to begin with (see section 89 Housing Act 1985). 

 
4.6.2  Secure tenancies granted before 1 April 2012.  The deceased tenant’s spouse or 

civil partner must take priority over any other family member. For these purposes, 
a long term cohabiting partner counts as a “family member”. The Act does not 
explain how to resolve polygamous or polyamorous relationships. 

Page 173

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 10 of 11 
 

4.6.3  Secure tenancies granted on or after 1 April 2012.  The deceased tenant’s spouse, 
civil partner or long term cohabiting partner must take priority over any other 
family member.  If more than one person falls into the combined category of 
“spouse, civil partner or long term cohabiting partner”, then the Council must 
choose which one person is to count as the “spouse, civil partner or long term 
cohabiting partner” (see section 86A(6) & 86A(7), Housing Act 1985). 

 
4.6.4 Introductory tenancies.  The deceased tenant’s spouse, civil partner or long term 

cohabiting partner must take priority over any other family member.  The Act does 
not explain how to resolve polygamous or polyamorous relationships. 

 
4.6.5 Where there is more than one person wishing to succeed in the category of “other 

family member” and they are equally eligible, the Council will make the decision 
taking into account relevant circumstances including, but not limited to:  

 
• Its Allocations Policy;  
• The waiting list and demand from other housing applicants  existing at the 

time; 
• The behaviour of the individual and their household members;  
• The size and suitability of the property; 
• The length of time they have lived at the property as their only or principal 

home.  
 

4.6.6 Where there is more than one person in the category of “spouse, civil partner or 
long term cohabiting partner” who wishes to succeed and they are equally eligible 
under the relevant legislation, priority will be allocated as follows: 

 
(A)  A formally solemnised legal relationship will be prioritised over a relationship 

which is not; 
(B)  In the event of two or more individuals having equal legal status, the person 

who held their status for the longest period of time will be prioritised; 
(C)  Where the evidence under factor (B) above is inconclusive, the Council will 

apply the considerations under paragraph 4.6.5. 
 
4.7 Dealing with executors 
 
4.7.1 Most of the Council’s tenants do not make a Will – this is known as dying 

“intestate”.  The provisions in this policy and procedure above assume that the 
tenant has died intestate.  In the minority of cases where the deceased tenant left a 
valid Will, there is no need to register a copy of the NTQ with the Public Trustee.  A 
second copy of the NTQ should instead be delivered to the executor(s) named in 
the Will and a certificate of service filled out. 

 
5.0 Equality and Diversity Statement 
 
5.1 The Council is committed to treating people fairly, without bias or discrimination, 

and always in accordance with the law. We promote equality of opportunity for all 

Page 174

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 11 of 11 
 

our customers and stakeholders, regardless of this race, sex, age, religion or belief,, 
ethnic origin, disability, marital status, or sexual orientation. In addition to any 
statutory responsibilities under the Equality Action 2010 (and any other relevant 
legislation), the Council will always act in accordance with the provision it sets out 
in its own Equality and Diversity Policy. 

 
5.2 This procedure has undergone an Equality Impact Assessment on (date), and has 

been duly amended where necessary. The date of the next EIA review is (date). 
 
6.0 Implementation 
 
6.1       This Policy and Procedure will be effective from the date of approval. 
 
6.2 Relevant Council staff will be made aware of the Policy and Procedure at training 

and appropriate team training. Electronic copies of all relevant documents will be 
available on the Council’s intranet (if the Council has this facility). 

 
7.0     Monitoring and Review 
 
7.1 The next review of this Policy and Procedure is scheduled for April 2025 and then 

every 5 years thereafter. 
 
7.2 The review will be carried out by the Assistant Operations Manager. 
 
7.3 There will be an automatic review of this Policy and Procedure whenever there is a 

change of policy from Government or a change in legislation. 
 
8.0      Relevant Documents/Links 
 

Appendix A    Template Letter to remaining joint tenant 
Appendix B    Request to Succeed Form 
Appendix C    Template Acknowledgment Letter to accompany RSF 
Appendix D  Template Notice to Quit 
Appendix E  Template Certificate of Service  
Appendix F  Template Form NL1 
Appendix G   Template Decision Letter 
Appendix H   Succession Approval Form 
Appendix I Template letter to family member unable to succeed due to type of 

tenancy  
 
 
 
June 2020 

Page 175

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



  

APPENDIX A 
 

 
LETTER TO REMAINING JOINT TENANT  
 

 

Dear [Insert full name of remaining Joint Tenant] 

Re: Succession to [insert full address of property]  

I am writing to you further to our conversations following the passing of [insert name of 

deceased tenant]. I would like to again offer my condolences on behalf of the Council.  

The purpose of this letter is to confirm that as you and [insert name of deceased tenant] 

were Joint Tenants of your property, under the relevant law you have automatically become 

the sole tenant of the property from the date of [insert name of decease tenant]’s passing.  

I have arranged for the Council’s records to be updated to reflect the above.  

You will continue on the same tenancy agreement that you signed as a Joint Tenant save 

that you may no longer be able to pass on your tenancy when you die.  

If you have any questions regarding the above please contact me on [insert telephone 

number]. 

Yours sincerely  

 

……………………………………………… 

[Insert name of Housing Officer] 

Page 176

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 1 of 6 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

 

 

REQUEST TO SUCCEED FORM (RSF) 

Please DO NOT send originals of documents referred to in this form when you return it to us 

as we will be unable to return these to you. However, you should be able to produce original 

documents if we request these.  

The document must be completed by, or on behalf of, the person who wishes to succeed to 

the tenancy.  

The completed form and any supporting documents must be returned to Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council, Housing Department, Town Hall, Duke Street, Barrow-in-Furness, 

Cumbria, LA14 2LD by ………………………………………20…….. 

Section 1 (Details of deceased tenant)  

Full Address of Property  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Full name of tenant  
 
 
 
 

 

Date tenancy commenced  
 
 

 

Date of tenant’s death  
 
 

 

Copy of death certificate 
provided  
 
(please tick/complete relevant 
box) 
 

YES  NO  

  

Has the deceased tenant left a 
Will?  

YES  NO  

If Yes, please provide the 
name and address of the 
Executor(s) 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 177

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 2 of 6 
 

 

Section 2 – Details of person requesting to succeed  

Full name of person 
requesting to succeed 
 

 
 

DOB   

Contact Telephone No.  
 

 

Relationship of person 
requesting to succeed to the 
tenant  
 
(please tick/complete relevant 
box)  
 

Husband  

Wife  

Civil Partner   

Long term cohabiting 
partner  

 

Son / daughter  

Other (insert relationship) 
 

 

Document(s) supplied 
identifying person requesting 
to succeed and demonstrating 
relationship between person 
requesting to succeed and 
tenant  
 
(please tick/complete the 
relevant boxes) 
 

Passport  
 

 

Driving Licence  
 

 

Birth certificate of person 
requesting to succeed 

 

Council Tax document(s) 
showing household  

 

Other (please give details) 
 
 
 
 

 

Date the person requesting to 
succeed moved into the 
property  
 

 

Does the person requesting to 
succeed live in the property as 
their only or principal home? 
 
(please tick/complete relevant 
box) 
 

YES  NO  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Does the person requesting to 
succeed own or have a 
tenancy at any other property? 
 
(please tick/complete relevant 
boxes) 
  

Yes (give details below)  No  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document(s) supplied 
demonstrating person 
requesting to succeed lives in 
the property as their only or 

Council Tax document(s) 
showing household  

 

Bank/Building Society 
statement(s) 

 

Page 178

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 3 of 6 
 

principal home.  
 
(If you are a widowed spouse 
or civil partner, we do not need 
to know how long you have 
lived at the property. If you are 
a family member other than a 
husband, wife or civil partner 
you must provide documents 
demonstrating you have lived 
with the tenant throughout the 
12 months prior to their death.  
If you lived with the tenant as 
a long term partner but were 
not legally married or civil 
partners, you must provide 
documents demonstrating you 
have lived with the tenant 
throughout the 12 months prior 
to their death if the original 
tenancy started on or before 
1st April 2012.)  
 

Driving Licence   

Local Authority Voting 
document(s) showing 
registered to vote at 
property  

 

Local Authority welfare 
benefit document(s) 
 
 

 

Other  
(please specify)  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Please provide the full names 
and DOB of all persons 
currently living in the property  

Full Name  DOB  
 

  

  

  

  

  

Please provide details of any 
vulnerabilities, physical or 
mental disabilities that the 
potential successor or any 
person who is currently living 
in the property has.  
 
If none, please state ‘None’ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This form must be signed by the person who is making the request to succeed.  

By signing this form you confirm that the information and any supporting documents you 

have provided to the Council are true and accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief.  

In addition, by signing this form you confirm that you give the Council authority to contact 

any statutory agency, private company or individual for the purpose of authenticating the 

information that you have provided and investigating your entitlement to succeed.  

 

Signed  ………...……………………………………………………………………………….. 

Print name ……...………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Dated  …...…………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 4 of 6 
 

 

For Office Use Only  

Section 3 - Investigation of information 

Has there been a previous 
succession in relation to this 
tenancy (including a previous 
joint tenancy)? 
 
 

YES 
(If yes give brief details and 
refer request to Manager) 

NO  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Type of tenancy held by the 
deceased tenant.  
 

 

Type of property of deceased 
tenant (e.g. flat, terraced 
house etc.) 
 

 

No. of bedrooms at the 
property and maximum No. of 
persons permitted to reside in 
the property.  
 

 

If the successor is a member 
of the tenant’s family (not 
including spouse / civil partner 
/ long term partner) is the 
property more extensive that is 
reasonably required? (e.g. 
under occupied)  
 

YES  NO  

Details of adaptations in the 
property  
 
(If none, state ‘None’)  
 
 

 

Evidence of relationship 
between deceased tenant and 
person requesting to succeed. 
 
 
 
 
 

ACCEPTED  REJECTED  
(If rejected state reason(s)) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence of person requesting 
to succeed occupying property 
as their only or principal home.  
 

ACCEPTED REJECTED  
(If rejected state reason(s)) 
 

  
 
 

Page 180

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 5 of 6 
 

 
 
 
 

If the person requesting to 
succeed needs to prove 12 
months’ residence, evidence 
of this person residing with the 
tenant throughout the 12 
months prior to their death. 

ACCEPTED  REJECTED  
(If rejected state reason(s)) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 - Recommendation  

What is your 
recommendation? (i.e. 
approve or reject the 
request) 
 
 

 
APPROVE  
 
 

 
APPROVE but 
thereafter invite to 
move to another 
property if property 
more extensive than 
reasonably required 
by family member / 
adaptations not 
needed 
 
 

 
REJECT (please 
record reasons 
below)  
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Name of Housing Officer  …………………….………………………………………………….. 

Signature    ………………………….…………………………………………….. 

Dated     ……………………………….……………………………………….. 

  

Page 181

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 6 of 6 
 

Section 4 - Manager Approval  

  
RECOMMENDATION  
 
APPROVED  

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
REJECTED (If rejected state 
reasons below and what 
Manager’s decision is)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Name of Manager …………………………………………………………………………………  

Signature   ………………………………………………………………………………… 

Dated   ………………………………………………………………………………… 

Page 182

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



APPENDIX C 
 

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT LETTER TO ACCOMPANY RSF 
 
 

 

Dear [insert name of person requesting to succeed] 

REQUEST TO SUCCEED 

I am writing to you in relation to your request to succeed to the tenancy of [insert full name of 

the deceased tenant] following their passing. Please accept my condolences on behalf of the 

Council.  

In order for me to consider your request please complete the attached Request to Succeed 

Form.  

This Form and copies of any documents must be returned to me at the address on the top of 

the Form by [insert 14 days from the date of the letter]. 

Upon receipt of the completed Form your request will be considered.  

In the meantime, the Council may serve on the property a legal notice addressed to the 

Personal Representatives of the tenant. This document is something that the Council will 

generally serve following the death of a tenant, but we will still consider your request to 

succeed so long as it is received within the timescale referred to above.  

Pending any decision in relation to your request to succeed please be advised that you are 

not accepted as the tenant of the property and any monies accepted from or on your behalf 

will either be allocated to the existing rent account if it is still running, or they will be treated 

as Mesne Profits.  

If you have any questions in relation to the above or in relation to the completion of the 

Request to Succeed Form please contact me on [insert telephone number].      

 

Yours sincerely  

 

…………………………………………………………………….. 

[Insert name of Housing Officer] 

Enc.  

Page 183

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



APPENDIX D 
 

 
TEMPLATE NOTICE TO QUIT 

 

 

NOTICE TO QUIT 

To.  The Personal Representatives of [insert tenant’s 

full name] 

Of.            [insert full address of the property including post code] 

 

We.   Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council    

Of.   Town Hall, Duke Street, Barrow-in-Furness, Cumbria, 

   LA14 2LD              

 

Give you NOTICE TO QUIT and deliver up possession  

to us 

 

Of:   [insert address of the property including post code] 

On: [insert the date 4 weeks after the deemed date of service 
of the NTQ ensuring that the period ends on the day on 
which is stipulated in the tenant’s tenancy agreement, 
e.g. a Sunday or a Monday] or, if later, the day on which 
a complete period of your tenancy expires next after 4 
weeks from service upon you of this notice. 

Dated:    

Signed:    

On behalf of the Council   

 

Prescribed information 

1. If the tenant or licensee does not leave the dwelling, the landlord or licensor must get an 

order for possession from the court before the tenant or licensee can lawfully be evicted. 

The landlord or licensor cannot apply for such an order before the notice to quit or notice 

to determine runs out. 

 

2. A tenant or licensee who does not know if he has any right to remain in possession after 

a notice to quit or notice to determine runs out can obtain advice from a solicitor. Help 

with all or part of the cost of legal advice and assistance may be available under the 

Legal Aid Scheme. He should also be able to obtain information from a Citizens Advice 

Bureau, a Housing Aid Centre or a rent officer. 

Page 184

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



APPENDIX E 
 

 
TEMPLATE CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 185

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



 

Page 186

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



APPENDIX F 
 

SUCCESSION PROCEDURE:   TEMPLATE FORM NL1 
 

FORM NL(1) 

      THE PUBLIC TRUSTEE  

APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION OF NOTICE AFFECTING LAND 

PUBLIC TRUSTEE (NOTICES AFFECTING LAND) (TITLE ON DEATH) REGULATIONS 1995 

 

For explanatory notes see overleaf For official use only 

Please type  complete in BLOCK CAPITALS 

 

  

To: The Public Trustee Date of Registration...................................... 

       PO Box 3010   

       London  Registration No.............................................. 

       WC2A 1AX   

I.          The fee of £  40 accompanies this application 

of           

  

 

Signed.......................................................... 

  

                    Date            

  Telephone No    

(enter name and address of person or 

firm making application) apply for 

registration against the name of the 

deceased person referred to below of the 

attached Notice in respect of the land  

Reference........ .............................................. 

  Enter details of land to which Notice relates. 

Enter name of deceased  

   

Forename(s)      

Surname        

   

Date of Notice     

Description of Notice   

NOTICE TO QUIT    

Page 187

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



APPENDIX G 
 

DECISION LETTER 
 

 

 

Dear [insert name of person requesting to succeed] 

REQUEST TO SUCCEED – DECISION LETTER  

I am writing to you in relation to your request to succeed to the tenancy of [insert full name of 

the deceased tenant] following their passing. 

Following consideration of the Request to Succeed Form and associated documents which 

you provided your request to succeed has been [approved][rejected].  

Option 1 (Succession approved) 

[I confirm that you have succeeded to the tenancy of [insert name of deceased tenant]. The 

next step is for our Succession Approval Form to be completed. I will be in touch in order to 

arrange either to visit you at your home or to arrange an office appointment for this to be 

done.]  

Option 2 (Succession approved but successor invited to move to another property) 

[Whilst your request to succeed has been approved and whilst you will succeed to the 

tenancy of [insert name of deceased tenant], the Council requests that you consider moving 

to a different property. This is because the property is bigger than your requirements or has 

special physical disability adaptations which are no longer required.  

I will be in touch to discuss this with you along. Please be advised that if you fail to move to 

the alternative property we may be forced to take legal action against you.  

Option 3 (Succession is rejected)  

[The reason(s) that your request has been rejected is/are [insert reasons here].  

As your request has been rejected you must leave the property within the next [insert time 

frame]. For the avoidance of doubt, the Council does not give you any licence or consent to 

remain in the property and any monies accepted by, or on your behalf, will be treated as 

Mesne Profits.  

Should you fail to vacate the property by the timeframe referred to above we will refer the 

case to our Solicitors for legal action to remove you from the property.] 

If you have any questions regarding the above please contact me on [insert telephone 

number].  

Yours sincerely  

 

…………………………………………. 

[Insert name of Housing Officer]  

Page 188

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 1 of 2 

 

APPENDIX H 

 

APPLICATION FOR SUCCESSION 
 

 

ORIGINAL TENANT’S NAME ADDRESS Postcode 

  
 
 

 

Details of person applying to succeed to the tenancy  

Full Name 
Date of 
Birth 

Relationship to 
Tenant 

Length of time living with the 
Tenant  before the death & the 
premises were their only or main 
home during that time 

   

 
……………………………………………..  
 
Since:                                     (date) 
 

 
 

Please list all of the people who currently live with you 

First Name Last Name 
Male / 
female 

Date of 
Birth 

Relationship to 
you 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Previous addresses if applicable 

Address From To Reason For Leaving 

1.    

2.    

3.    

 

 

 

Page 189

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1



Page 2 of 2 

 

Do you own or rent any other properties?        YES                  NO 

If yes, please provide details:  

 
 
 

 

Proof of residency (attach copy of at least two originals): 

 
  Bank Statement            Council Tax/Utility Bill             Credit Card Statement            Driving Licence 
 
  Housing Benefit letter              Letter from Department of Work & Pensions            Other  

 
 

Proof of relationship to tenant (attach copy of at least two originals): 

 
  Full Birth Certificate                   Marriage or Civil Partnership Certificate 
 
  Other               Death Certificate on file already or provided by applicant 
 
 

Applicant’s signature Print name Date 

 
 
 

   
 
Please send this form to:  
 
Email:   housingestates@barrowbc.gov.uk 
 
Housing Estates Team 
Barrow Borough Council Housing Department 
Town Hall 
Duke Street 
Barrow-in-Furness 
Cumbria      LA14 2LD 

Page 190

Agenda Item 16
Appendix 1

mailto:housingestates@barrowbc.gov.uk

	Agenda
	7 Confirmation of Minutes
	HMF09MAR20
	HMF09MAR20 - Appendix 1 to Mins
	HMF09MAR20 - Appendix 2 to Mins

	9 Terms of Reference
	10 Growing Forward - Our Response to Coronavirus
	11 COVID-19 Discretionary Business Support Grants
	Barrow S49 BR Discretionary Grants Scheme Appendix

	12 COVID 19 Hardship Fund 2020-2021
	COVID-19 Local Welfare Support Working Group TOR APPENDIX

	13 Catering & Cleaning Contract Forum & Dock Museum
	Copy of Catering Contract 2020 - Evaluation Matrix -Anonymous

	14 Planning Performance Agreements
	15 Cumbria Choice Based Lettings Allocations Policy Review
	APPENDIX 1 Cumbria Choice Policy

	16 Right of Succession Policy Review
	APPENDIX 1 Succession Policy & Procedure
	Appendix 1 Succession Policy and Procedure
	Appendix 1AH Succession Policy and Procedure
	Appendix A  Letter to remaining joint tenant
	Appendix B   Request to Succeed Form
	Appendix C  Acknowledgement Letter accompanying RSF
	Appendix D  Template Notice to Quit
	Appendix E  Template Certificate of Service
	Appendix F  Template Form NL1
	Appendix G  Decision Letter
	Appendix H  Application for Succession Approval




